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Down through the years my face has been called a sour puss, a
dead pan, a frozen face, The Great Stone Face, and, believe it
or not, “a tragic mask.” On the other hand that kindly critic, the
late James Agee, described my face as ranking “almost with Lin-
coln’s as an early American archetype, it was haunting, handsome,
almost beautiful.” I can’t imagine what the great rail splitter’s
reaction would have been to this, though I sure was pleased.
People may talk it up or talk it down, but my face has been a
valuable trade-mark for me during my sixty years in show busi-
ness. Sixty years is right, for it was in 1899, when I was not quite
four years old, that I officially joined my parents’ vaudeville act.
And if you think sixty years is a long time in your life you should
be in show business. Last Wednesday is a long time ago to most
actors. The young ones talk of the great vaudeville days at the
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Palace as though these came at the dawn of theatrical history.
When I started, vaudeville was just beginning to replace the
minstrel show as the country’s favorite entertainment. The Palace
was not even built.

If I say I “officially joined” my folks” act in 18gg it is because my
father always insisted that I'd been trying to get into the family
act unofficially—meaning unasked, unwanted, and unbilled—prac-
tically from the day I was born.

Having no baby sitter, my mother parked me in the till of a
wardrobe trunk while she worked on the stage with Pop. Accord-
ing to him, the moment I could crawl I headed for the footlights.
“And when Buster learned to walk,” he always proudly explained
to all who were interested and many who weren’t, “there was no
holding him. He would jump up and down in the wings, make
plenty of noise, and get in everyone’s way. It seemed easier to let
him come out with us on the stage where we could keep an eye
on him.

“At first I told him not to move. He was to lean against the side
wall and stay there. But one day I got the idea of dressing him
up like myself as a stage Irishman with a fright wig, slugger
whiskers, fancy vest, and over-size pants. Soon he was imitating
everything I did, and getting laughs.

“But he got nothing at all at the first Monday show we played
at Bill Dockstader’s Theatre in Wilmington, Delaware. Dock-
stader told me to leave him out of the act. But he had a special
matinee for kiddies on Wednesday and suggested that children,
knowing no better, might be amused by Buster’s antics.”

On Wednesday Bill noticed that their parents also seemed
amused and suggested I go on at all performances. Pop said he
didn’t want to use me in the night show as I had to get my rest
like any small child. Dockstader then offered to pay the act ten
dollars a week extra. My father agreed to try it. I had no trouble
sleeping through the morning and played night and day with the
act from then on.

Even in my early days our turn established a reputation for
being the roughest in vaudeville. This was the result of a series
of interesting experiments Pop made with me. He began these by
carrying me out on the stage and dropping me on the floor. Next
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THE THREE KEATONS

he started wiping up the floor with me. When I gave no sign of
minding this he began throwing me through the scenery, out into
the wings, and dropping me down on the bass drum in the orches-
tra pit.

The people out front were amazed because I did not cry. There
was nothing mysterious about this. I did not cry because I wasn’t
hurt. All little boys like to be roughhoused by their fathers. They
are also natural tumblers and acrobats. Because I was also a born
hambone, I ignored any bumps or bruises I may have got at first
on hearing audiences gasp, laugh, and applaud. There is one more
thing: little kids when they fall haven’t very far to go. I suppose
a psychologist would call it a case of self-hypnosis.

Before I was much bigger than a gumdrop I was being featured
in our act, The Three Keatons, as “The Human Mop.” One of the
first things I noticed was that whenever I smiled or let the audi-
ence suspect how much I was enjoying myself they didn’t seem to
laugh as much as usual.

I guess people just never do expect any human mop, dishrag,
beanbag, or football to be pleased by what is being done to him.
At any rate it was on purpose that I started looking miserable,
humiliated, hounded, and haunted, bedeviled, bewildered, and at
my wit’s end. Some other comedians can get away with laughing
at their own gags. Not me. The public just will not stand for it.
And that is all right with me. All of my life I have been happiest
when the folks watching me said to each other, “Look at the poor
dope, wilya?r”

Because of the way I looked on the stage and screen the public
naturally assumed that I felt hopeless and unloved in my personal
life. Nothing could be farther from the fact. As long back as I can
remember I have considered myself a fabulously lucky man. From
the beginning I was surrounded by interesting people who loved
fun and knew how to create it. I've had few dull moments and
not too many sad and defeated ones.

In saying this I am by no means overlooking the rough and
rocky years I've lived through. But I was not brought up thinking
life would be easy. I always expected to work hard for my money
and to get nothing I did not earn. And the bad years, it seems

13
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to me, were so few that only a dyed-in-the-wool grouch who en-
joys feeling sorry for himself would complain of them.

My parents were my first bit of great luck. I cannot recall one
argument that they had about money or anything else during the
years I was growing up. Yet both were rugged individualists. I
was their partner, however, as well as their child. And from the
time I was ten both they and the other actors on the bill treated
me not as a little boy, but as an adult and a full-fledged performer.
Isn’t that what most children want: to be accepted, to be allowed
to share in their parents’ concerns and problems? It is difficult,
of course, for a man of my age to say with certainty what he felt
and thought and wanted as a little kid. But it seems to me that
I enjoyed both the freedom and privileges of childhood, certainly
most of them, and also the thrill of being treated as full grown
years before other boys and girls.

Neither Mom nor Pop was demonstrative, but not many children
expected that of their parents in those days. You were supposed
to please them. When I disobeyed orders I got a good clout over
the backside. Nobody expected me to like it, or cared whether I
did or not. The clout told me in the one way a normal and mis-
chievous boy understands to behave myself. When I failed to get
the point I got another clout. |

After I was seven, Pop would punish me for misbehaving while
we were working on the stage. He knew I was too proud of being
able to take it to yell or cry. I don’t think my father had an ounce
of cruelty in him. He just didn’t think it was good for a boy as full
of beans as I was to get away with too much. And nothing that
I have observed since gives me reason to think he was wrong.

For my last off-stage licking, by the way, I can thank Elsie
Janis, then a child performer herself. At this time Elsie was thir-
teen, a half-dozen years older than I. Our act and hers were play-
ing at a Midwestern summer-resort theatre that week. One day
she suggested stealing some corn from a farm close by.

Neither of us knew how to cook corn, and we made so much
smoke when we tried that the farmer caught us and reported the
crime to my father and Elsie’s mother, Mrs. Bierbower. Pop sure

whacked me good that day, but I never found out whether or not
Elsie’s mother punished her.

14
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Even at thirteen, Elsie’s talent made it obvious that she would
quickly reach the top of our profession which she did just four
years later when she was starred in the Broadway hit, The Vander-
bilt Cup. Incidentally I have seen stage mothers who were furious,
hysterical, given to lioness-like rages and ear-bending tantrums
but never another like Mrs. Bierbower for do-or-die energy in
putting a daughter over. Even then, when Elsie Janis sang on the
stage, Mrs. Bierbower, watching from the wings with a hypno-
tized look on her face, sang every note with her as though
transported.

My own mother, Myra Cutler Keaton, was four feet eleven
inches tall, weighed ninety pounds, and was born into show busi-
ness, being the daughter of F. L. Cutler, one of the owners of
the Cutler-Bryant 10-cent Show, a traveling tent outfit. Before my
mother was eleven she could play the bull fiddle, the piano, and
the cornet. Later on, she became the first woman stage performer
in the United States to play a saxophone. But Mom could take
show business or leave it alone. Due to traveling with her father’s
carnival-on-wheels as a girl, then later as Pop’s partner in their
vaudeville act, she never learned to cook until she was almost
thirty years old. Then she did all right by us in the kitchen. But
all of her life Mom preferred playing auction pinochle to any
other occupation, sport, amusement, employment, or, as we say in
show business, divertisement.

My father, Joe Keaton, was five foot eleven, a natural comic
and a fine eccentric and soft-shoe dancer. He was the most gifted
man at taking a fall I ever saw in action. He was also one of the
country’s best rough-and-tumble fighters. Unlike my mother, he
was not born to show business. He had to fight, wisecrack, and
hoof his way into it. But once there, he counted himself a man
who had made it all of the way to the Promised Land.

Yet, as much as he loved being an actor, tasting the applause,
and listening to the laughter he created, it was not the main thing
in life for him. Above all else, Pop was a convivial soul, and he
sure was in the right business for it. Traveling from city to city
almost every week meant constant and pleasant surprise en-
counters with his pals, actors we'd worked with on bills in Seattle,
Boston, Louisville, New Orleans. Every week was old home week
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for my Pop. Every town we played was, for him, like being back
in his home town of Terre Haute, Indiana.

Pop knew Will Rogers in Oklahoma. Harry Houdini was his
first business partner. He was the pal and admirer of Fred Stone,
George M. Cohan and his jovial father, Jerry, Billy B. Van, Jack
Norworth, Al Jolson, McIntyre and Heath, Gus Edwards, the
Avon Comedy Four, Doyle and Dixon, and just about everyone
else who was around and up and doing in the old two-a-day days.
In each town we played he would have reunions with some of
these talented men. There would be long nightly sessions of drink-
ing beer, eating free lunch, and swapping hilarious reminiscences.
And if by some horrible accident everybody on the bill was a
stranger Pop belonged to the Elks and a dozen other fraternal
organizations whose members everywhere welcomed him at their
clubhouses with open arms and free-flowing beer spigots.

Pop was named Joseph after his father, grandfather, and great-
grandfather. Like each of them he was the first son of a first son.
But the three earlier Joe Keatons were honest, hard-working Mid-
western farmers and millers. Pop’s personality was so unusual even
as a boy that before he was twelve my grandfather gave up all
hope of starting a flour-mill dynasty. By that time Pop had run
away from school to become a bootblack and poolroom habitué
in the downtown section of Terre Haute. My father got so many
black eyes fighting with bigger boy bootblacks for the best street
corners that he soon was nicknamed “Dick Deadeyes.”

When he got too big to shine shoes for a living Pop returned
to the family mill-but not to work. He spent most of his time en-
tertaining the hired help and the farmers who were waiting for
their corn to be ground. His repertory included songs, witty say-
ings, making funny faces and doing flip-flaps, as back somer-
saults were then called.

Grandpa Keaton was amused, but not enough. Pop was just over
voting age in 1889 when Oklahoma Bill, a promoter with a long
beard and a longer imagination, came to Terre Haute and told of
- the great fortunes homesteaders could make in that new terri-
tory. His listeners ought to get some money together, he said. If
they followed him he would show them how to conquer the ele-
ments, outwit any shifty characters who tried to rob them, and
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help them cope with various other problems the hardiest of
pioneers had to face.

My father was intrigued, and Grandpa Keaton didn’t have to
be coaxed very much before he agreed to back the plan. He gave
Pop one hundred dollars in cash and handed over his trusty Win-
chester rifle.

“If Oklahoma Bill is what I think he is,” he told Pop, “you’ll need
that gun more than I do around here in Terre Haute.”

Despite Grandpa Keaton’s skepticism, Pop did obtain possession
of a quarter-section of virgin land and managed to hold onto it
long enough to sell it for $1,000.

“I used this money to get to California,” he said, “with the in-
tention of joining some show. But no one appreciated my talent.
There was talk in the air about a gold strike, but like a lot of
other people I got there too late. Time passed, and so did my
money. When it was almost all gone I headed back to Oklahoma
where the Cherokee Strip was being opened up.”

Pop made the last lap of this trip straddling the top of a wood-
burning locomotive, clinging for safety to the smokestack. The
train stopped every time the locomotive ran out of wood. Pop and
the other passengers had to get off and gather up more fuel before
they could proceed. When he finally approached his destination
he had only Grandpa’s trusty Winchester and eight dollars in cash.
Knowing from his previous experience as a pioneer what slippery
customers and greedy varmints he was likely to encounter he
spent seven of the eight dollars on bullets for his rifle, using the
remaining dollar for bacon and beans. Though they were charging
a dollar a quart for water on the Cherokee Strip and everything
else was expensive, Pop managed to survive and hold onto some
of the land the generous Government had allotted him. Then it
was that his destiny, disguised as the Cutler-Bryant 1o0-cent
Medicine Show, caught up with him. Pop who was twenty-six,
took one look at Mom, then sixteen, and applied for a job.

Her father, Frank Cutler, was a typical traveling showman who
worked the small towns in the Midwest. I don't think he ever saw
Chicago, to say nothing of New York. He came originally from
Council Bluffs, Iowa. Grandpa Cutler liked to write verses, and
later on, one-act plays. The verses concerned everything from
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politics to the Sullivan-Corbett fight at New Orleans. When he
could afford it, Grandpa Cutler had his verses printed and
wrapped them around the Kickapoo Elixir which for some years
had been the show’s only source of revenue. He and his partner,
Mr. Bryant, started charging ten-cents admission on discovering
that even the small-town hicks of the Middle West didn’t believe
that entertainment was any good when you got it free.

Pop once wrote a letter to his home-town paper in Terre Haute
describing his entry into show business together with his and my
mother’s romance.

“I could talk show shop,” the letter explains, “even if I couldn’t
do much on the stage except for my few flip-flaps. However, I
was hired at $3 a week, plus board and transportation. Nobody
mentioned it, but I soon found out I was supposed to be a general
utility man, which meant I was expected to do everything else,
including driving in stakes with a mallet, distributing the hand-
bills, posting up two-sheets and four-sheets, and to come in with
fists flying at the cry of ‘Hey, Rubel’ the carnival man’s call for
help when the local yokels become resentful at being bilked and
try to take it out on the troupe. Being a sort of forgetful chap at
the time, and in love besides, I often used my mallet to drive
away the indignant customers.

“While developing into a good rough-and-tumble fighter, I was
also learning to augment my few flip-flaps with a blackface mono-
logue, songs, and real good eccentric dancing. I called it eccentric
because neither the audience nor Myra, who was accompanying
me on the piano, ever knew which way my feet were going next.
Neither did I, because I never made up my mind about that until
the last possible moment.

“Now Mr. Cutler never denied I was earning my $3 plus board,
lodging, and transportation. But he didn’t like me paying atten-
tions to his daughter. He may have been holding out for a son-
in-law with an earning capacity of at least $5 a week.

“At any rate, he kept firing me every time he saw us holding
hands. Myra and I exchanged more tearful good-bys than a dozen
Romeo and Juliet teams. But I had an ace in the hole: my minute
wages. Search as he would, Mr. Cutler never could find anyone
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love-smitten or stupid enough to work as hard as I did for such
small wages. So he also kept re-hiring me.

“One day, when the Cutler-Bryant 10-cent Show was playing
Lincoln, Nebraska, Myra and I slipped off to the home of a Justice
of the Peace to get married.

“He knew his lines perfectly. But a crisis developed after he
had united us in holy matrimony. He told me, “That will be $2,
sir. After I looked in all my pockets I could produce only $1.go.
Myra, being only seventeen and the impractical type, had noth-
ing to contribute except a bewildered smile.

“While I was squirming and sweating, the Justice of the Peace
said with a grin, ‘Okay, Joe, I'll split the $1.go with you.” On the
ninety-five cents I gave him he bought a big wedding breakfast,
ham and eggs, rolls and coffee, for the three of us.”

After the wedding my parents went to work for a medicine show
at seventeen dollars a week. Again Pop had to drive in stakes,
put up the tent, pass handbills and post up two-sheets and four-
sheets. They put on three acts—his song, dance, and flip-flap spe-
cialty, Mom’s saxophone solos, then both of them together, Mom
at the piano and Pop doing more songs, dances, and flip-flaps.
Many a time, Pop said, he had to take a club along to collect their
seventeen dollars.

After a few months of this, Pop and Harry Houdini, who was
also just making his start in show business, became partners in
their own medicine show. Pop did his dances and flip-flaps, Mom
played her saxophone solos, and Houdini did a few card tricks and
astonished the customers by getting out of the local sheriff’s hand-
cuffs with the greatest of ease. In her memoirs, Mrs. Houdini years
later told how indignant Pop became when the magician laughed
uproariously at his antics, spoiling the joke, while they were on
the stage together. Houdini was also the “doctor” who sold
Kickapoo Elixir for a dollar a bottle, or six for five dollars. It was
good, to hear Dr. Houdini tell it, for everything from the barber’s
itch to galloping consumption.

To prove it, he had a Kickapoo squaw on one side of him, a
Kickapoo brave on the other. They grunted approvingly and
nodded whenever he asked them to confirm his statement that the
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secret prescription for this marvelous medicine had been passed
down to them by their ancestors.

About two months before I was born my mother was in an acci-
dent. Pop was driving her to their boardinghouse in a small Iowa
town but got out of the buggy to buy something at the general
store. Startled by a flash of lightning, the horse bolted. He raced
around the corner at such speed that the carriage went over on
two wheels, throwing my mother out on the ground. When Pop
reached her side, she looked up and smiled.

“Did they catch the horse, Joe?” she asked.

My birth, in Pickway, Kansas, on October 4, 1895, was compara-
tively uneventful, though Pickway itself soon afterward was blown
away during a cyclone.

In addition to the humiliation of having my birthplace blown
right off the map, I had to share Mom’s milk with the papoose
of the Kickapoo squaw who had none of her own.

When I was six months old, I fell downstairs and burst into tears.
Houdini, who was nearby, picked me up, and said, “My, what a
Buster!”

Pop there and then decided I should be called that. As far as
I have been able to learn I was the first man given that nick-
name. Even Buster Brown, the character in R. F. Outcault’s
comic strip, was born a few years after I came into the world.
Everybody, including each of my three wives, always called me
Buster.

The one time having that nickname worried me was when I was
~about eleven. “It is all right for me to be called Buster now,” I
complained to my mother, “but what will it sound like when I'm
an old man and have grandchildren?”

“You have a point,” she said, but suggested I wait till I had my
first grandchild before troubling myself too much about it. (Mom
was right. I now have six grandchildren who call me Grandpa
Buster—and I like it fine.)

If neither Mom nor my father ever worried about my getting
hurt on the stage it may have been because of a rather full day
I put in while we were in some little Kansas town. I was not yet
three, so it was just about the time they were quitting the
medicine-show business for vaudeville.
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On this particular morning I wandered out into the back yard
of the boardinghouse where we were staying. The hired girl was
wringing out the clothes. The wringer fascinated me, and I stuck
my index finger in it, crushing it, so that the doctor summoned
cut off the finger at the first joint. After he bound it up, I cried
myself to sleep. When I woke up I once more went adventuring
in the back yard. This time I saw a peach I wanted. But it was
too high for me to reach. Being a resourceful little chap, I man-
aged to find a brick to throw at it. I missed the peach, but the
brick fell on my head, splitting it open. The doctor was summoned
again, this time to sew three stitches in my scalp.

Again I was put to bed. This time I was awakened by the noise
of a Kansas twister. Getting up I went to the open window to
investigate the swishing noise. I didn’t fall out of the window, I
was sucked out by the circling winds of the cyclone and whirled
away down the road. I had rolled and revolved about a block from
the farmhouse when a man saw me, rushed out, scooped me up,
and carried me to the safety of the nearest storm cellar.

A pretty strenuous day, as anyone will admit. But superb con-
ditioning for my career as “The Human Mop.” In my sixteen years
in vaudeville I missed but one performance because of an injury
sustained during our wild and rowdy roughhouse act.

Once, it was true, Pop threw me into scenery that had a brick
wall right behind it. None of us had noticed the wall until then.
I got a big lump on my head from that, but the lump went down
quickly enough for me to appear at the evening performance.

I was about eight the day I missed the show I mentioned. This
happened at Poli’s Theatre in New Haven, a date every act looked
forward to playing because of the superb plank steaks they served
in the hotel across the street from the theatre.

We had just invented the half-strangling routine which hun-
dreds of comics have been using ever since. In this I went behind
a door and stuck out my head. A hand was around my throat and
apparently choking me. Pop rushed over to fight my unseen assail-
ant, kicked at him above my head. But when he pulled me from
behind the door the audience discovered that it had been my own
hand which had been gripping my throat. I'd created the illusion
merely by bending my arm back from the elbow.
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At this matinee Pop misjudged the distance when he kicked,
and caught me in the head, knocking me cold. I fell backward,
headfirst. There was a loud thump, but Pop was so accustomed
to me making loud noises with my fist that he didn’t realize at
first what had happened. When the truth dawned on him he
picked me up and carried me out of the theatre and across the
street to our rooms in the hotel.

I was unconscious for eighteen hours, causing The Three
Keatons to miss that night’s performance. The doctors never
stopped working on me until the next morning when they man-
aged to revive me.

After examining me they told me I was a lucky boy because the
base of my brain was uninjured and my skull was intact. If I
rested quietly in bed for a couple of days, they said, I would be
perfectly all right.

After they left I sent downstairs for some food, and at 1:30 in
the afternoon I started to dress. Mom, on seeing me, said, “Where
do you think youre going?”

“It’s time for the matinee, isn’t it?”

“You think you should . . .” she started to say.

“Sure, I feel all right.” |

She sighed. “Well, for the love of Mike, take it easy. At least
for the first couple of shows.”

“Sure, Mom, sure.”

When Pop saw me walk into our dressmg room he could hardly
believe his eyes. As I sat down and started putting on my make-up
I said, “I just won’t take any tough falls today, Pop. I'll just take
them easy.” And then I thought I might as well tease him a little.
“T'll be all right if you just make sure you dont kick me in the
head again today.”

There were no aftereffects. But I did take it easy. What got my
goat was that when I finally did get knocked off for a few days
it was due to an accident outside the theatre.

One night while playing a date at the Majestic, in Chicago,
I was delayed and had to rush to the theatre. As I raced down
the stage-door alley in the dark I stepped on a board with a rusty
nail in it. The nail went through my shoe and deep into my foot.
I was able to pull off the board but not the nail. The Majestic’s
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prop man had to use a pair of pliers to get it out. I doused the
wound with iodine and bandaged it. But next day the foot was
still sore, and I limped through both shows.

Next day we took a train for Milwaukee, our next stop. On the
train I ran a high fever. The doctor in Milwaukee, whom we con-
sulted, said I was on the verge of lockjaw. He slit open the wound
and put a drain in it; he warned me to keep off my foot for the
next few days.

He must have guessed that I had no intention of doing that,
for he told me, “If you don’t, I won’t be responsible. There is still
a great danger of you getting lockjaw.”

That caused me to drop the idea of getting up as soon as he
left. The theatre got a replacement for us. It was the first and last
time The Three Keatons laid off for a whole week because of
illness.

Like all real troupers it was a matter of pride with us to work
whenever it was possible at all.

If Pop or I had a sprained ankle we worked despite advice of
doctors “to keep off of it for the next few days.” All we did was
tie it up crisscross with webbed bandage as tight as we could.
That hurt a little, but far worse was taking falls with a stiff neck.
That was agony.

Some of the stage floors we worked on were tough on our act
because they were full of splinters. One time Pop fell off the
table we used in our act. A thick splinter four inches long and
about a half-inch wide was driven into his head. It pinned his
fright wig to his head so tightly he couldn’t get the wig off. I
finally managed to pull it out for him. As usual when he had such
accidents we washed out the wound carefully with soap and
water, squeezed some blood out of it, and applied iodine.

The one time Pop missed a couple of performances was when
he got ptomaine poisoning in Boston. “I never did like New
England cooking,” he groaned, “but I never thought I'd be
poisoned up there in the land of the bean and the cod.”

Mom was the champion trouper of us Keatons. Except for the
time out for having her babies she never missed a show.

Mom also never complained about anything. Pop ran the act’s
necessary business, and she was supposed to take care of the
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money. Like every other woman in vaudeville she carried the act’s
cash in a grouch bag. This was a chamois purse which hung under
her dress from a string round her neck.

Because Mom only weighed ninety pounds this presented her
with a little difficulty back in 1go1 when our act traveled to the
Coast for the first time. At each city west of Kansas City we were
paid off in gold.

Mom did all right with the grouch bag during the first three
stops we made after that. These were Denver, Salt Lake City,
and Vancouver. But soon after we started down the West Coast
the grouch bag was so full of ten-dollar and twenty-dollar gold
pieces that Mom had to buy a money belt. The reason was that
our act was then getting $225 a week with our expenses very small.
The best American-plan hotels, where we stopped, charged only
$1.25 per day per person for room and board, which came to
$26.25 a week for the three of us. All of our other living expenses,
including tips, Pop’s beer, and other modest luxuries ran no more
than fifty dollars a week, and traveling expenses averaged thirty
dollars a week. So Mom was stashing away almost $120 a week.
By the time we started back East she was carrying about $1,600
on her gold-lined person. I understand that this much money in
ten-dollar and twenty-dollar gold pieces weighs almost seven
pounds. Mom could be described as truly loaded when she got
back where Uncle Sam’s folding money was recognized as valid
currency.

Thinking over that exciting childhood of mine, I must admit that
one thing I missed while growing up was an ordinary school
education. I was so successful as a child performer that it occurred
to no one to ask me if there was something else I'd like to do
when I grew up.

If someone had asked me I would have said, “Civil engineer.”
I imagine I would have been a good one. But even fifty years ago
you could not qualify for a degree with a one-day school education.

That’s all I ever had: one day in school. This, when I was six
years old and we were playing the Bon Ton Theatre in Jersey
City. The night before we opened another actor on the bill asked
my father if he didn’t think it was time I started going to school.
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“Of course it is,” said Pop, but pointed out that I'd have to at-
tend a school in a different city almost every week.

The other actor, a man who obviously had truant officer’s blood
in his veins, said that school principals would co-operate in every
way they could to help me get an education.

“What about matinees?” asked Pop. “As you know we’re on some
afternoons before three o’clock, and that’s when school gets out.”
His friend also had the answer to that one. He said my teachers
would let me leave before school was dismissed.

“All you'll have to do is send a note explaining the situation,”
he said. “This would give Buster a full morning in school and also
a half hour to an hour of the afternoon session.”

Next morning Pop roused me at the ungodly hour of 8 A.Mm,, to
hustle me to the public grammar school closest to the Bon Ton.
The principal could not have been more gracious. By nine-fifteen
I was at a desk with other little boys my age and fascinated by
everything I saw and heard.

Unfortunately, I knew some jokes I'd heard in the Avon
Comedy Four’s school act and decided to bring joy into the class-
room by telling them. The teacher called the roll:

“Smith?”

“Herel”

“Johnson?”

“Herel”

“Keaton?”

“I couldn’t come today.”

That sent the class into an uproar and even won an apprecia-
tive smile from the teacher. Enchanted that going to school meant
only putting on an extra show each day, I could hardly wait for
the next opportunity to spin my fellow scholars out into the aisles.
During our geography lesson our teacher asked: “What is an
island?”

Up shot my hand. When the teacher gave me the nod, I said,
“An island, ma’am, is a wart on the ocean.”

Though that brought only a wry smile from her, my classmates
rocked the room with their guffaws and shrieks of delight. Next
came grammar. One of the questions was: “Give me a question
with the word delight in it?”
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Once again my hand was up first. My answer was: “The vind
blew in the vindow and blew out de light.”

The next thing I knew the teacher was marching me, by the
scruff of my neck, down to the principal’s office. On hearing the
evidence against me, he sent me home with this note: “Do not
send this boy to our school any more.”

After that Mom attended to the job of teaching me the three
‘Rs’. Instead of formal schooling I did get the best catch-as-catch-
can education from my profession anyone could have wanted. As
I've mentioned before, I was a natural mimic and could imitate
everything from sword-swallowing to playing a musical saw. I also
got instruction in soft-shoe dancing from George Primrose, the
famous old minstrel man, and Bill (Bojangles) Robinson taught
me soft-shoe and tap dancing, Herb Williams gave me piano
lessons between shows, and Houdini showed me a few of his
sleight-of-hand tricks. That greatest of all stage magicians never
told me his real secrets; how he managed to escape from “escape-
proof” prison cells, from bank safes tied with strong ropes, or from
strait jackets. He could do this last trick while hanging upside
down from Brooklyn Bridge, or even while under water.

Oddly enough, I cannot remember Pop teaching me anything.
I just watched what he did, then did the same thing. I could take
crazy falls without hurting myself simply because I had learned
the trick so early in life that body control became pure instinct
with me. If I never broke a bone on the stage it is because I
always avoided taking the impact of a fall on the back of my head,
the base of my spine, on my elbows or my knees. That’s how
bones are broken. You also bruise only if you do not know as I do
which muscles to tighten, which ones to relax.

Once Pop made an arrangement with Papa Dollar, the head
of a famous German acrobatic troupe, to teach me some tumbling
tricks. That course of instruction was even more brief than my
schooling in Jersey City.

My father had never been told that European performers en-
courage their youngsters to learn routines rapidly by smacking
them good each time they fail to do a trick perfectly. Papa Dollar
slapped me once with his huge hand, and Papa Keaton had to be
restrained from showering him with hooks and right uppercuts.
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“No one hits Keaton’s children but Keaton,” he kept yelling,.

Yet Pop, always the impulsive type, did not hesitate on one oc-
casion to throw me at a young man out in the audience who in-
sulted Mom.

This happened when we were booked into Poli’s Theatre at
New Haven the week after four hundred Yale students were en-
raged because Gaby Deslys, the French charmer who was adver-
tised as the headliner, had not appeared. They tore up the seats
and threatened to lynch the manager. They were suspended by
the university. But most of them came to catch the show the fol-
lowing week, possibly to prove that Ivy League undergraduates
could behave as well as so many well-bred truck drivers.

After our first roughneck routine my mother, as usual, played a
saxophone solo. This day the Yale students applauded her modest
effort vigorously enough to rock the theatre. After she took about
six bows Pop stepped to the footlights and told them with a wink,
“Don’t spoil her, boys. She’s hard enough to handle now.”

Whereupon one of the Old Eli cutups, sitting in the first row,
yelled, “I agree with you, friend. She stinks!” My infuriated father
promptly picked me up and threw me at the young man with
unerring accuracy, hitting him in the stomach and breaking three
of his ribs. My slap shoes socked the Yale man next to him in the
face, breaking two of his front teeth. I was uninjured, which sur-
prised neither Pop nor me. It never occurred to either of us that I
could get hurt no matter where he threw me.

Once Pop accidentally wrecked another act by tossing me into
the backdrop curtain. This was the turn of Madame Herrmann,
the widow of Herrmann the Great, one of the most popular magi-
cians. She was working some of his simpler tricks. At the finish of
her act she had dozens of white doves flying to her from every
corner of the stage.

She was to close the show right after our turn. I suspect that
Madame Herrmann had never seen our act. If she had, she hardly
would have waited until we were actually on to start stuffing her
little feathered friends into boxes all over the back stage. Madame
Herrmann’s stage costume, by the way, was a quaint colonial dress
with a hoop skirt.

In those days, all vaudeville theatres had a house drop (or cur-
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tain) which was used by acts like ours who carried no drop of
their own. On this were local ads and invariably a painting of a
waterfall, a lake, or a river. Pop used this toward the end of our
act. He would saunter to the footlights and, pretending it was the
brass footrail of a saloon, would put his foot on the curved metal
guard over the footlights. I would do the same thing. As we stood
there, each resting an elbow on a knee, he would ask: “What will
you have, scotch?”

I would shake my head.

“Rye?”

“No.”

“Gin?”

“Nol”

“What do you want then?”

“Water!”

Grabbing me by the back of the neck he would turn me around
and walk me toward the curtain, meanwhile grumbling, “So it is
water you want?” Then he would hurl me into the painted water
scene. As I hit the curtain, it would give quite a bit. While sliding
to the floor, the drop’s wooden strip sometimes would flap up, and
I would be trapped in it. The stagehands then would pull up the
curtain a few inches to help me free myself.

That Monday matinee at the Bon Ton everything went off as
usual until I was sliding down the curtain. Near the bottom I felt
a bump as I hit some object of substantial proportions that I
couldn’t see.

The stagehand pulled up the drop dumping me on the stage.
This revealed the highly respectable Widow Herrmann in the
most exposed position of her stage career. She had been bending
over to stuff the last of her doves in a box near the curtain when
knocked flat. The startled birds promptly flew out of their boxes
going in every direction. Sitting on the stage, as ribald laughter
erupted in the audience, I looked around and saw that the lady
magician’s hoop skirt had been thrown over her head, displaying
her bottom which, even by the standards of that well-padded era,

was enormous.
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- Pop made me the featured performer of our act when I was five.
There were dozens of other popular family acts in vaudeville at
the turn of the century, but none of the children in them was fea-
tured as early as that. Many of those kids were very talented, and
their parents were as eager as mine to give them the same head-
start in show business that I was getting.

The reason managers approved of my being featured was be-
cause I was unique, being at that time the only little hell-raising
Huck Finn type boy in vaudeville. The parents of the others pre-
sented their boys as cute and charming Little Lord Fauntleroys.
The girls were Dolly Dimples types with long, golden curls.

Reformers in New York, Massachusetts, and Illinois, among
other states, were tireless in their efforts to stop us all from going to
hell via the stage. I guess they meant well, but like so many other
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sincere do-gooders they were a pain in the neck, particularly to
those they were attempting to rescue. I doubt that any kid actor
had more attempts made to save him than did our Little Buster.
The reason, of course, was our slam-bang act. Even people who
most enjoyed our work marveled that I was able to get up after
my bashing, crashing, smashing sessions with Pop. The Three
Keatons were always better received in the big cities than in the
smaller ones, and by an annoying coincidence it was in these cities
that the most persistent efforts were made to save me from the
stage. The New York Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Chil-
dren started its campaign the day I made my debut at five at Tony
Pastor’s Theatre. The New York law then barred child actors un-
der seven years old. The benevolent Tony Pastor got around that
problem by blithely signing an affidavit swearing I was already
seven. Incidentally, at our next appearance at Pastor’s, a skinny
East Side youth named Izzy Baline was paid five dollars a week
to sing ballads from the gallery during our act. He was, of course,
the same Izzy Baline who later changed his name to Irving Berlin.

Undiscouraged by Pastor’s perjured affidavit the Gerry Society,
as the S.P.C.C. was then called, accused my father of mistreating
me on the stage. They made such an issue of it that Mayor R. A.
Van Wyck, a Tammany man, ordered me brought to his office and
stripped so he could see for himself if I had any bruises or black
and blue marks.

“Why he is as free of hurt as one of my own boys,” said his
honor, dismissing the charges.

That summer the S.P.C.C. once more tried to stop me from work-
ing when we were booked into Steeplechase Park, Coney Island.
The Society’s Superintendent Wilson asserted that Coney Island
was no place for a child of my tender years, because it was full
of pickpockets, streetwalkers, and other riffraff.

Though this was true, the Mayor resented these aspersions on a
section that voted Democratic every Election Day and considered
all Republicans demented.

“I have been to Coney Island frequently of a Sunday on my
bicycle,” he declared. “I have seen 50,000, even 60,000 people
there and have never noticed any disorder. Those people are en-
titled to amusement as well as the rich. The permit is granted.”
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“I have never seen any disorder there either,” happily chimed
in Mom. Mayor Van Wyck turned and gave her an owlish stare.

“Madam,” he said, “take my advice: when you've won a case
don’t say another word.”

The undiscouraged child-savers continued their battle. When
Seth Low, a reform mayor, succeeded Van Wyck, they brought
me before him to be stripped and examined, also before one New
York governor. They had the age limit raised. But our lawyer beat
them in court by pointing out that the law barred children only
from performing on a high or low wire, a trapeze, bicycle, and
the like. There was not one word that made it illegal for my father
to display me on the stage as a human mop or to kick me in the
face.

What most burned up Pop was that there were then thousands
of homeless and hungry abandoned children of my age wandering
around the streets of New York, selling newspapers, shining shoes,
playing the fiddle on the Hudson River ferryboats, and thousands
of other small children working with their parents in the tenement
sweatshops on the Lower East Side. Pop couldn’t understand why
the S.P.C.C. people didnt devote all of their time, energy, and
money to helping them.

Some theatre managers advertised me as a midget to avoid
trouble with the do-gooders and got my parents to dress me as
one. But Pop wanted to make sure that all show people, at least,
realized I was his little boy. He put ads in the theatrical trade
papers that said I was not a midget and added modestly, “but a
revelation in eccentric juvenile talent, properly directed to pro-
duce the lasting comedy effects. The most unique character in
vaudeville. A miniature comedian, who presents irresistible com-
edy, with gigantic effects, making the ladies hold their sides too.”

As you can see, no adjective—not even gigantic for a miniature
comedian—was too much for my Pop to roll off his old Blickens-
derfer, the antique typewriter he hauled all over the country with
him.

Meanwhile, as I grew older, our act became progressively
rougher. For one thing, we never bothered to do the same routines
twice in a row. We found it much more fun to surprise one another
by pulling any crazy, wild stunt that came into our heads.
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The act started with Pop coming out alone and announcing that
he would recite. Sometimes he said he would sing a beautiful
song. He had hardly started on “Maud Muller” or “Where Is My
Wandering Boy Tonight?” when I'd come out and fastidiously se-
lect one of the thirteen or fourteen old brooms that were on the
end of the battered kitchen table we used in our act.

Ignoring him, I would carefully sweep off the table, then ap-
pear to see something that wasn’t there. Picking up this imaginary
object with my cupped hand, I examined it and then put it down
on another part of the table. This distressed Pop. Stopping his
singing or reciting, he moved the invisible thing back to the place
where I'd picked it up. I'd move it to where I wanted it, he’d move
it back. That went on with our rage mounting until we were fight-
ing wildly, blasting, kicking, punching, and throwing one another
across the table and all over the stage.

But our most popular fighting routine was one in which I
whaled away at him with a broom while he retaliated by skidding
his hand off my forehead. We started with tiny taps exchanged in
fun. These were followed by harder blows, then slams to which
we gave our all. In the middle of this fight the orchestra leader,
reacting as though all this had never happened before, got to his
feet, tapped his baton, and had the orchestra start playing “The
Anvil Chorus,” to which we kept time by hitting one another.

In another routine we used the house set. Every vaudeville
theatre also had one of these which represented usually a room in
a farmhouse. Mom came out in front of this and played the saxo-
phone. She continued this, ignoring the chaos which erupted be-
hind and all around her. As she played on, Pop hung a mirror on
the corner of the house set, lathered his face, and started to shave
himself with a straight, old-fashioned razor. I tied a long, thick
rubber rope on a hook above the mirror. This was attached to a
basketball which I carried to the opposite cormer of the stage.
With each step I took, the audience screamed, expecting the rub-
ber rope to break and snap against his head.

When the rubber rope was stretched as tautly as possible, I let
it go. As Pop was shaving his throat with his old-fashioned open
razor, the basketball would sock him on the head and push his

34



| BECOME A SOCIAL ISSUE

lathered face into the mirror. With the audience shrieking, Mom
placidly continued playing her saxophone.

In 1910 when Annette Kellerman, the Australian aquatic star,
created a sensation with her one-piece suit, we got Mom to put on
one under a breakaway dress. She wore a big picture hat with the
outfit. For a finish Pop pulled a string that stripped off the dress,
leaving Mom playing the saxophone in a tight-fitting bathing suit
and that large, dressy hat.

Before long there were four Keatons. Then there were five. My
brother, Harry Stanley Keaton, better known as Jingles, was born
when I was nine, my sister Louise two years later.

For a time Pop had wistful dreams of competing with “Eddie
Foy and the Seven Little Foys.” A great moment in that act was
when Eddie, Sr., stepped to the footlights and confided to the au-
dience: “It took me a long time to put this act together.”

For a start Pop tried to bill us as “The Four Keatons,” but we
were too well known an act, it turned out, to change our billing.
Pop had to satisfy himself with the billing he gave us on hotel
registers. Using up an entire page, he checked us in this way:

Joe and Myra K

E
Buster A
hcod T
Jingles 0
Louise N

He had, of course, lost no time in getting both my little brother
and sister into the act. When Jingles was only a week old Pop
was wheeling him on stage in a baby buggy. As soon as the young
man could stand up unassisted Pop figured out a way of using
him for a laugh finish to our act.

He put Jingles into the same Irish workingman’s outfit we
were wearing, then for our new finish stripped him down to his
Kellerman. Being a true Keaton, Jingles reveled in the applause.
He even liked it when Pop held him by the leg upside down, and
Pop and I used the leg as though it were a baseball bat on which
to choose up sides for a scrub ball game.

When Jingles was thirteen months old Pop, with the connivance
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of the press agent of the Keith Theatre, in Portland, Maine, pulled
off a fake kidnaping stunt that he hoped would get us nation-wide
publicity.

The plot was simple. He left Jingles on the street in his baby
carriage while he went into a grocery store. Then “the kidnaper,”
a prop man who traveled with another act on the bill and was
allowed to say a couple of lines as part of his pay, drove up in a
hired carriage, snatched the child from its little buggy, and hur-
ried to the Boston and Maine Railway Station. The prop man was
given candy to keep Jingles quiet. His instructions were to leave
the baby on a bench in the station and then disappear.

The schemers made one mistake: not casing the scene of their
crime. If they had they would have gone somewhere else with
their shenanigans. For on the chosen day the street before the
grocery was being ripped up by twenty Italian laborers, who were
eating their lunch, sitting on the curb, when the snatch took place.
- They saw the prop man-kidnaper jump from the carriage, grab

Jingles, jump back, and drive off. Family men all, they were out-
raged and pursued him down to the B. and M. Station. By that
time the prop man was scared witless. He hastily put down Jin-
gles, and then streaked for the men’s room. From this he presuma-
bly escaped the wrath of the Italian ditchdiggers by climbing out
of the window. I say presumably, because the unfortunate man
was never seen again. Apparently, he was completely intimidated,
for he did not even come back to the theatre to get his pay.

Mom quit the act shortly before Louise was born. For a while
Pop toyed with the idea of continuing in vaudeville anyway as
The Three Keatons, using Jingles as the third member of the trio.
But someone convinced him that managers would resent having a
baby palmed off on them during Mom’s absence from the act.
When I suggested that he and I could work together, he said,
“But it wouldn’t be The Three Keatons, would it?”

In the end he decided that we'd become the “special added
attraction” that most touring stock companies hired to appear be-
tween acts or after the regular show. When Mom got strong
enough to join us we’d go back into vaudeville for the rest of the
season.

After much dickering, Pop made a deal with the Fenberg Stock
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Company which traveled through New England offering such
sturdy melodramas as Beware of Menl, Grit, the Newsboy, and
In a Woman’s Power.

There was one disturbing thing about working with the Fen-
berg outfit. Mr. Fenberg insisted on putting us on between the
last acts of whatever play he was doing that evening. This wasn’t
too bad when the show was Grit, the Newsboy, but when it was
one of the tear-jerking operas it was asking an awful lot of an au-
dience to cry compassionately one moment, laugh at our rough-
house capers for a few minutes, then go back to its crying during
the last weepy act of the play.

Sometime during the seventeen or eighteen weeks we played
with that troupe Pop got the notion that I should be given a whack
at dramatic work in addition to my job as a human projectile. He
felt the experience would help me become an all-around per-
former. With little difficulty Mr. Fenberg was talked into the idea
of adding a couple of plays to his company’s repertory that had
good parts for me. His choices, of all things, were Little Lord
Fauntleroy and East Lynne. I was to play the title role of Fauntle-
roy and “Little William” in East Lynne.

When we got the script for Little Lord Fauntleroy we discov-
ered the part had seventy-five sides, which made it the longest
role, except Hamlet, in the English-speaking theatre.

After learning all of those lines, doing “Little William” seemed
just a bit. There was a difficulty here also though, because of Mr.
Fenberg’s spotting us between the two last acts of the show. This
because “Little William” dies at the end of the fourth act of East
Lynne. That meant I had to put on my slap shoes and my comic
Irishman’s costume before getting into bed to die. The moment
the curtain hit the floor I leaped up, wiped off the white powder
suitable to a dying boy, hurriedly put on my fright wig and whisk-
ers and raced on stage with Pop.

Everything worked out well enough until a highly emotional
actress was hired to play my mother in East Lynne. Determined
to outshine Sarah Bernhardt she played the scene where I die
with everything she had, including her elbows.

The script called for her to fall on my bed just as I passed away.
But swept away with emotion she landed square on my stomach

37



MY WONDERFUL WORLD OF SLAPSTICK

with both elbows. That brought dead “Little William” back to life
violently. Howling with pain, his feet went up, exposing the fact
that he was wearing slap shoes and baggy pants as he passed on.

‘The audience, crying until then, became hysterical with laugh-
ter. They laughed at the grotesque incident all through our act,
and through the play’s final act in which the poor Bernhardt had
her own death scene. They were still laughing, uncontro].lably,
when the final curtain came down.

As soon as he could manage it Pop had Louise in the act with
the rest of us. He put her in the breakaway dress and the Kel-
lerman. I guess she had just learned to talk when he gave her a
line in the show. We were playing that week on the same bill
with Robert Hilliard, the Broadway matinee idol, who had a
sketch in which a deputy sheriff repeatedly muttered, “Law’s
Law!” as though that were the answer to everything.

Pop thought it would be cute if Louise repeated this line in our
act. But at one matinee Jingles beat her to it and said, “Law’s
Law!” before she could get her mouth open.

Thereupon Louise, a girl of spirit, hauled off and hit Jingles in
the face, causing him to burst into tears. As Pop wiped off
Jingles’s face with a corner of his shirt, he told the audience in a
stage whisper, “This family doesn’t wait to get to the dressing room
to settle their quarrels.” And the folks out front roared.

With Mom doing double duty, taking care of little Jingles and
Sis, I helped when I could by taking the children out for an hour
or two on sunny mornings. I did that one day when we were play-
ing at Keith’s Boston. Jingles was then five, Louise three, and
neither could work in the act because of the local laws. But we
brought them to the theatre.

This day I took them to the Common where I sat them on a
bench and bought them bags of peanuts so they could feed the
pigeons. There were a great many things nearby to fascinate a
fourteen-year-old boy, including the show windows of a candy
store and a firehouse where you could see the horses in their stalls,
waiting to dash out when the gong rang.

Suddenly I noticed a crowd of people standing around a police
wagon. As the wagon started I saw Jingles’s head and little red
cap inside. I ran after it all the way to the police station.

38



| BECOME A SOCIAL ISSUE

As I was claiming Jingles, a policeman walked in, holding
Louise by the hand. “Here’s another lost kid,” he told the desk
sergeant.

“That’s my sister, Louise,” I explained.

“Ob, it is, is it?” asked the desk sergeant. “First you lose your
brother, then you lose your sister. Now, are there any more little
ones that you have left scattered around the city to be brought
in by my already overworked men?”

“No, sir,” I said. Then I glanced at my watch and whistled. “I'm
in trouble,” I told the desk sergeant. “I have a matinee to do at
Keith’s theatre, and I'll never get there in time.”

That police sergeant was a goodhearted man. He had his po-
lice wagon rush us to the theatre just in time for the show. A few
years later so many states had passed laws against stage appear-
ances by minors that Pop entirely gave up the idea of using Louise
and Jingles in the act. We put them into good schools near
Muskegon, Michigan, where for some years we’d had our summer
home. Both protested furiously, but my parents were firm, and
Pop saw whatever hope he had of outdoing Eddie Foy’s family
act die right there.

The best summers of my life were spent in the cottage Pop had
built on Lake Muskegon in 19o8. This was in Bluffton, a summer
colony on a bluff just across Lake Muskegon from the town and
located on a mile-wide strip of sandy land between that lake and
Lake Michigan. Ours was a small place without modern plumbing,
or even medieval plumbing. But it was just right for us, had three
bedrooms, and in the kitchen the gasoline stove on which Mom
learned to cook.

Having seen values skyrocket in the Oklahoma territory, Pop
was convinced that real estate was the one safe investment. This
despite a previous purchase of five water-front lots in Galveston,
Texas. These five lots were condemned soon afterward when the
city fathers decided to build a sea wall across them. The city paid
Pop only a fraction of what the property cost, but when he com-
plained he was told that it was a valuable lesson to him and
should teach him to make more intelligent investments in the
future.
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Bluffton was perfect for us for another reason: there were about
eighteen or twenty vaudeville actors living there with their fami-
lies. That meant Mom could play all the pinochle her heart craved
and Pop would not run out of fellow performers to swap yarns
with. There was a bar in Pasco’s Tavern and a club to which all
the actors belonged. As for me and the younger children, we just
got into bathing suits each morning on getting up and never took
them off until we went to bed.

The Bluffton Club members had a bamboo fishing pole set in a
prop on the clubhouse porch which overlooked the lake. On its
line was a floating cork which obligingly bobbed the moment a
newcomer stepped out there to admire the view across the lake.

When the visitor took the pole off its cradle, he would give it a
jerk, starting what proved to be the fish-fighting battle of his life.
Meanwhile, his cries and those of the people on the porch with
him had attracted the attention of the people in the nearby houses.
They would run up with gaffs and small and large fish nets.

“Jerk him to the left]” they would cry encouragingly; also, “Let
out your linel” and “My God! Don't let this b1g fellow get away.
You'll never forgive yourself!”

- When the visitor neared hysteria or exhaustion the fish would
dive five feet down, then reverse itself and come back up, as no
fish had ever done.

That was usually the first hint the buoyant fisherman got that
something might be amiss. At the proper moment someone in the
room behind him would say, “For the love of Mike will you let
go of that pole so I can tie off this thing!”

After the guest put back the pole in the cradle, the gimmick
would be explained to him. The line from the bobbing cork went
through a pulley weighted down by a big rock, from there under
the clubhouse and up through a small hole in the main room of
the club.

We fooled a lot of funny men with that gimmick, including
Bernard Granville, Harry Fox, and Frank Tinney, whom many
theatrical people considered the greatest natural comedian of his
day.

I tried occasionally to contribute a thrill for visitors to Bluffton.
If I saw anyone I didn’t know sitting on the clubhouse porch while
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I was riding by on my bicycle I would race down the dock there
and go off, bicycle and all, into the water. If strangers rowed past
our house they sometimes saw something that made their eyes
pop. Below the house there was a hill of soft sand which slanted
down for twenty or thirty feet to the edge of the water. Looking
up from their boat, the strangers would see pots and dishpans
being thrown off the porch, then the two children, Jingles and
Louise. Before they got over the shock, I myself would come flying
out. By going to the back of the house I'd get a running start that
enabled me to leap high in the air and come down headfirst, land-
ing on all fours. The innocent observers had no way of knowing, of
course, that the sand on that hill was too soft to hurt either the
kids or myself when we landed.

By that time, anyway, they were rowing madly to the nearest
house, eager to locate a telephone and notify the police that
some madman had just thrown kitchen utensils and two children
off his porch, and then had leaped to destruction himself.

Like so many other American boys I was “mechanically in-
clined.” I spent a lot of my time tinkering, grinding the valves,
taking apart and putting together again the motors of our car and
the 25-foot cruiser boat Pop bought and modestly named Battle-
ship.

One of the cottages near ours was owned by Ed Gray, a big,
fat and very lazy monologuist. The general opinion was that he
was still a bachelor because he was too lazy to get married.

He complained of having to make any unnecessary move, and
when the weather was hot he considered all moves unnecessary.
It distressed him even to fan himself.

I liked Ed Gray and worked on several devices to save him the
agony of having to stir. One of the worst trials of his life, he said,
was having to get up in the middle of the night to close the
window when it rained. He was most grateful when I rigged up
a contrivance that enabled him to close or open the bedroom
window without leaving his bed.

Ed had only one clock in the house and no watch. But he com-
plained that he had to change the position of the clock on the
mantel in the hall each time he went into another room. He
couldn’t thank me enough when I rigged up a turntable for the
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clock with strings attached. By pulling one of the strings he could
turn its face to whichever room in the house he was in.

“Now there is just one more thing, Buster,” he said one day,
“that somebody could do for me that would make my life a
complete delight. But I'm afraid not even you can help me solve
this problem.”

On being pressed, Ed Gray said the problem concerned his
outhouse which sat on the top of a hill commanding a view of
both beautiful lakes.

Picnickers who came to the vicinity either for an afternoon in
the country or to pick the wild grapes and berries which grew in
the sandy soil in profusion were forever using his outhouse.

“And at the most inconvenient times,” he' said. “Warnings on
signs reading ‘Private’ or ‘Personal Outhouse,” “‘Watch Out for
Gnats!’ and ‘Beware! Giant Bulldog at Largel’ have not stopped
these—shall I say—squatters.”

To stop this abuse of his facilities I bought some spring hinges
and cut his outhouse’s four walls into separate panels. I also cut
the roof of this refuge into two, and nailed each half to opposite
sides of the outhouse. I put a long pipe under the outhouse and
attached a bolt. From the bolt I ran a line to Ed’s kitchen window,
hanging on it some red flannel underwear and old shirts to make
it look like a clothesline.

With all of that done Ed merely had to sit by a window and wait.
If any trespasser—stranger or friend—had the audacity to use his
outhouse, Ed jerked the clothesline causing all four sides of the
outhouse and the roof of it to fall outward. The helpless intruder
was then revealed in the same position as Whistler's Mother but
sitting on a less dignified perch.

This was a good many years before Chic Sale wrote The Special-
ist, but when that curious little book became a best seller, Chic
came to Bluffton just to see Ed Gray’s outhouse and graciously put
his stamp of approval on it. He said it was a masterpiece of its
kind, and he regretted that modern plumbing would one day
make it obsolete.

Whenever a standard act like ours had a few free weeks during
the winter it moved to New York, generally to one of the theat-
rical boardinghouses that lined West 38th Street in those days.
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These were within walking distance of both the Broadway offices
of America’s greatest showmen and of the theatres housing the
new shows which the vaudevillians were eager to see.

There were a lot of good boardinghouses on that street, but our
favorite was the Ehric House which was run by a German family.
The food was good, the atmosphere was friendly, the rooms were
large and comfortable, with lots of storage space in case you
wanted to leave a couple of trunks behind while you went on the
road. There were good boardinghouses for actors, of course, in
the other big cities. Two I remember with particular fondness are
Zeiser’s in Philadelphia and Mother Howard’s in Baltimore.

It was in Ehric’s on a freezing night that a long series of
disasters, including fires, train wrecks, and other accidents began
to imperil the lives and property of us bewildered and innocent
Keatons. With the temperature one below zero and the streets out-
side covered with ice and snow a fire started in the cellar. At two
o’clock that morning smoke started billowing up through the floors
of the house. We had a large room on the second floor rear, but
the smoke was so thick by the time we were awakened that we
didn’t even have time to dress. “Where’s your father?” asked
Mom. I knew he was at the saloon at the corner of Eighth
Avenue and 38th Street, but I just shrugged, knowing what she’d
say if I told her. There was no time to dress, so I grabbed Jingles
and Mom grabbed Sis. We managed to make our way safely to
the street with the other boarders. The neighbors took in all of us,
wrapped us in blankets, and gave us coffee. As soon as Mom and
the kids were taken care of, I tore down to the corner saloon to
tell Pop about the fire. He had seen the engines but didn’t know
the Ehric House was their destination.

Shouting to the bartender to wrap me in warm clothing, he
rushed out. As it turned out we had lost nothing. Thanks to the
firemen the flames never reached above the ground floor. The
dining room furniture was destroyed, and Mrs. Ehric’s silverware,
stored in the top drawer of the bureau, had melted into one vast
lump of metal.

Not long after this fire broke out in the cellar of a Chicago
theatre while we were working on stage. This was not too long
after the heartbreaking Iroquois Theatre fire there which cost
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Yundreds of lives. The audience remembered that holocaust only
too well. From the moment smoke started curling up from the
floor, they seemed on the verge of panic. But at the last moment
the theatre manager was able to convince them that the fire was
under control and could not spread.

That summer we were in two more boardinghouse fires. One
was at the Canobie Lake Hotel, near Salem, New Hampshire. The
theatre was close to the hotel, and when Pop heard the fire engines
he raced straight to the hotel and up two flights of stairs. He man-
aged to gather up the clothes and get them into wardrobe
trunks which he threw down the stairs. Our losses were small com-
pared to those of the other actors living at the hotel.

“I have a strange feeling that this can happen again any time,”
said Pop when he rejoined his admiring family, “but next time I'll
be prepared for it.”

Later he explained to Mom and me how he planned to cope
with smoke, fire, and flame. A scarf (he pointed out) was always
- on the bureau in the rooms wherever we stayed. He would pick
up the four ends of this and everything on the bureau top and
dump it all on the bed. Next he would throw everything in the
bureau drawers on the bed. Finally, he would go into the bath-
room, gather up everything there in a large Turkish towel and
get that stuff on the bed.

All he then would have to do was tie up all of this and throw it
out of the window. “After that,” he concluded triumphantly, “I will
throw out our trunks and other luggage.”

At our next fire it worked splendidly—except for a couple of
details. This fire occurred later that summer at the Lake Hotel, just
outside of Toledo, Ohio. One detail was an ink bottle which turned
out to have him bewitched. He picked it up from the mantel and,
handling it as though it were a gem, put it down on a table, picked
it up, put it down on the bureau. The third time he picked it up
he threw it out of the window and broke the spell. The second
detail was his forgetting that the wardrobe containing our clothes
~was detachable. When Pop fought his way to the wardrobe he
made a wild swipe, hoping to grab all of the clothes with that one
swing. He managed to disengage every hanger but one. Unable
to see what he was doing, he yanked away. The one hanger re-
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mained caught on the hook with the result that he dragged down
the whole wardrobe on top of himself.

Then he had to fight his way out of that and all of the clothes
as well. With the smoke thickening and choking him more by
the minute, Pop managed to throw the clothes out of the window,
dashed downstairs, and joined us on the lawn. But when he did
he said, “Damn it, I forgot my typewriter.”

Though the smoke was thicker than before Pop dashed back
into the burning hotel and picked up the typewriter. But he
couldnt walk straight because of the dense smoke, he couldnt
bend down or even do a Russian Kazatsky. He came out dragging
his precious typewriter with one hand and with his nose an inch
from the floor. As he got out of the building this time the second
floor collapsed with a terrible crash. Pop would have been killed
if he had delayed a moment longer.

Two weeks after leaving Muskegon that fall it happened again,
while we were playing Sioux City, Iowa. Our room this time was
on the third floor.

When that fire broke out, Mom was taking a bath and Pop was
down at the post office getting our mail. The first he knew about a
blaze was when he saw the red fire engines racing past him on
their way to the scene.

“I bet it’s the damned hotel,” he yelled to nobody in particular.

It was. Everybody did the usual. I grabbed Sis, and Mom
climbed out of the bathtub and got Jingles. The firemen had just
put up their ladders to the roof of the store on the hotel’s ground
floor, but Pop clambered up one of these ahead of them while
they yelled their brains out at him. He got to the room in time,
gathered up our stuff and threw it out of the window and saved
everything. That was the last of the fires.

But beginning with that same season we started getting involved
with train wrecks. Our first one occurred while we were traveling
on a Lehigh Valley train from Albany, New York, to Scranton,
Pennsylvania. We were sitting in reversible seats except for Jingles
who was lying asleep on a seat. Mom, Louise, and I were on the
other seat. Pop, as usual, was in the smoking car gabbing happily
away about the five Keatons.

Suddenly, there was a jolt and an ear-splitting crash. The train
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had plowed right into a freight train, derailed two cars, and
climbed on top of the freight train’s caboose. Jingles was jarred
right over to the other seat, flying across the aisle just as the seat
backs reversed. He rolled under the moving seat backs without
even being touched. He did not even wake up, thus winning the
undisputed title as the sleeping champion of all the Keatons.

The following spring, while on our way to Norfolk, Virginia, we
were rolling through the Blue Ridge Mountains. For three days
it had been raining heavily. We were at a point on a side of a
mountain with a 200-foot drop on one side and craggy mountains
towering on the other side.

Once again there was a jolt as the engineer braked the train.
But this time there was a different noise. He had stopped less
than a dozen feet from a landslide. On inspection, this proved to
be twenty-five feet high and-a city block long.

After some consultation with the other trainmen the engineer
decided to back up. Just then there was a landslide in the rear
which didn’t miss the end car by more than thirty feet. But we
all got our hand luggage and climbed over the muddy rubble,
tree roots, and rocks that covered the tracks. By the time we
reached the other side a relief train was being rushed to our rescue.

Not long after that, while on the New York to Pittsburgh express,
our sleeping car was dropped off at Harrisburg where we were
playing a week. The porter woke us at nine.

All of us were about half-dressed when another train crashed
into ours. Jingles and I were sent tumbling into the lower berth,
and the typewriter along with Mom’s saxophone and music case
all crashed around us and to the floor. Nobody was hurt except
Pop, who was just fixing his tie and was in perfect position with
the chin lifted to mash his face against the mirror.

We were so mixed up with the luggage that we required the
help of the porter and two other trainmen to extricate ourselves.

We had hardly gathered our wits when a claim agent rushed
in. “Hurt?” he asked. Pop said slowly, “Well, not too bad.”

Without waiting for further details the claim agent eagerly
offered to pay $250 in exchange for a release. When Pop accepted
- and signed the release the claim agent seemed delighted to pay
over the money.
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After that night’s show this man came to our dressing room.

“You people ought to be arrested for taking $250 of my com-
pany’s money, he spluttered.

“What are you talking about?” demanded Pop.

“I thought you were hurt in that railway accident today. But
not after seeing you and that son of yours throw each other all over
the stage. You ought to be arrested, I tell you!” and he left.

“Next time you get that urge to force money on people,” Pop
yelled after him, “wait till you catch their act.”

All of these near catastrophies and accidents occurred, as I say,
within two years, and we were in no other fire or train wreck
during the other sixteen years The Three Keatons were in vaude-
ville.

When Louise was only thirteen months old she proved that she
was indestructible as the rest of us. We had just moved into our
second floor room at the Ehric House in New York when she
walked out of a french window, cutting her mouth practically from
ear to ear, gashing her tongue, and throwing both her jawbones
out of their sockets. Mom carried her to the street where she com-
mandeered a horse and buggy and rushed her to the hospital.
The doctors massaged her jawbones back into their sockets and
sewed up her tongue which had been all but cut in two. Louise
came through that dreadful accident without a lisp, any other
speech impediment, or even a scar.
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During my vaudeville years I never enjoyed anything more than
doing burlesques of the other acts on the bill. The first I ever tried
was one of Houdini getting out of a strait jacket. I was then about
six. I just put on my own jacket backward, held the sleeves to-
gether, hiding my hands, then wriggled, writhed, and grimaced
as the audience had seen him do a few minutes before.

No one, by the way, ever worked harder than I did to figure
out Houdini’s tricks. I watched him like a hawk every chance I
got. I studied his act from all parts of the theatre, from both wings
of the stage, from the orchestra and both sides of the balcony and
gallery. I even climbed high up in the flies so I could look straight
down on him as he worked.

I found out nothing, and the man who once was my father’s
partner and had given me my nickname told me nothing. He de-
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lighted in baffling me along with everyone else. I recall taking a
walk with him one day to a small-town post office. We found a big
lock on the telephone there. As always, whether he was off or
on the stage, I was watching him every second. But he made a
single pass at that lock and had it off. I still cant explain how he
did it.

Until William Lindsay Gresham’s recent book, Houdini, the
Man Who Walked Through Walls was published, no one ever ex-
plained his never-duplicated escapes from strait jackets, strong
boxes, bank vaults, and “escape-proof” prison cells while hand-
cuffed and tied up from head to foot. But a great many rumors
were circulated about Houdini’s extraordinary gifts. His brother,
a physician, was said to have taught him to dislocate his shoulders
at will, enabling him to get out of any strait jacket. He was
supposed to conceal in his mouth a key that unlocked any hand-
cuffs put on him.

I know just one thing about Houdini: he was not a contortionist.
His unique trickery was no simple matter of having flexible
muscles and bones. But that is all I know about it.

The burlesques of ours that audiences seemed to enjoy most
were those we did of the dramatic sketches and one-act plays the
Barrymores and other Broadway stars used in their vaudeville
appearances. An example is the one we did of The Yellow Jacket,
a one-act version of a popular Broadway melodrama.

The scene was a curio shop in Chinatown. It opened with a
young white couple walking in. When the shop’s proprietor looked
at the white woman it was a case of lust at first sight. He had one
of his coolies stab her husband to get her into his power. As the
poor chap’s body was dragged out of sight another coolie banged
a big Chinese gong to announce that death had come to the house.
As he did, he loudly wailed a prayer in Chinese. The curtain went
down, then rose on the same curio shop twenty years later. The
white woman, now middle-aged, has long since become resigned
to remaining the shopkeeper’s concubine until the end of her days.
But when a young couple walks in she recognizes the wife as her
daughter whom she hasn’t seen since the girl was an infant. But
~ her Chinese master is also staring at the pretty young customer,
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and the concubine knows what’s on his mind. She kills him, then
rings the Chinese gong as the curtain comes down.

For our burlesque of this act I attached a washtub under our
table, planning to use it during a rough-and-tumble routine Pop
and I had been doing for some time. While he was singing I lined
up our thirteen or fourteen short-handled alley brooms along the
side of the table, with the handles jutting out over the edge. Get-
ting up on the table, I began whirling the basketball around my
head, letting out a bit of the rope at a time. The circling basketball
kept coming closer and closer to Pop, who continued to sing, until
I took off his hat with the basketball. Then he took it on the run,
chased by the basketball. Still on the table I cornered him near
- the backdrop and coiled the rubber string around his neck. It kept
coiling, and at the end the basketball smashed him in the face, and
he fell, battered and helpless, into the backdrop. For the finale I
jumped on the brooms, so they fell on him in a shower.

When we were on the bill with The Yellow Jacket, I followed
this up by jumping to the stage and banging on the washtub hard
with one of the brooms, meanwhile jabbering away in my best
imitation Chinese. This simple little stunt got such a laugh that
we got ourselves booked on the same bill with the sketch as
often as possible.

None of the other actors enjoyed this sort of spoofing more than
those in the turn burlesqued. They recognized it for the flattery
it was. For you cannot burlesque a bum act, only a good one, and
almost all performers realize this.

Being freewheeling clowns we were delighted to have the other
acts watch us work. But once Pop did complain about it. This was
during a week that Alla Nazimova, the great Russian dramatic
actress, was headlining the bill. On Monday we tried to catch her
act from the wings but were ordered away. “Madame Nazimova,”
we were told, “is unable to perform while people are milling about
in the wings.”

We went out front and saw her from there. Nazimova, who
later became a popular silent movie star, was a woman with great
burning eyes and possessed great emotional power. You had to
respect her first-rate talent and concentration on her work.

We were not really offended. We knew that unlike ourselves the
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people in the dramatic acts depended a great deal on everything
being quiet backstage while they were on. Some of them even
carried slippers in their trunks for the stagehands to wear while
their act was on.

But a day or two after we were chased from the wings by
Nazimova's order Pop caught her, of all people, watching our
roughhouse act from there.

“Please clear the wings,” he called to a stagehand. “How can
we do our work while the wings are cluttered up with other acts
studying our technique and the secrets of our success?”

Pop was sorry the moment he said it. Nazimova’s huge brown
eyes filled with tears, and she turned away. Being a foreigner,
she didnt understand that Pop was only kidding.

He felt terrible about it. And that night he got out his old
Blickensderfer typewriter and issued this invitation:

PROFESSIONAL MATINEE
For Madame Nazimova,
Supreme Stage Queen of All the Russians,
This Thursday Afternoon
Please Attend Promptly
As Both Wings May be Crowded
(signed) The Three Keatons

He had a Morris chair put in the wings for Nazimova. She came
for our “professional matinee,” used the Morris chair, and laughed
at our low comedy antics until tears again filled her soulful brown
eyes.

Most of the top women stars of vaudeville, like the men, as I
said, could laugh at themselves. The tempestuous Nora Bayes was
one of these good-humored sports. Everybody loved her for her
cheerfulness and boundless generosity. But she had a raging tem-
per as well. For several years she and Jack Norworth, whom she
married and teamed up with, had the greatest man-and-woman
act in the business. But once Nora became so incensed on hearing
he was taking more than a fatherly interest in a certain young
chorus girl that she changed their billing to:

NORA BAYES
Assisted and Admired by Jack Norworth
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Marie Dressler, of course, had a magnificent sense of humor
along with the fighting heart of a crusader. Long after she be-
came a great stage and screen star she continued to resent the
small pay she’d got as a young Broadway chorus girl. It was just
like Marie to undertake a one-woman campaign to do something
about the chorus girls who were still underpaid. In 1918 she in-
sisted that Equity, the just-formed stage actors’ union, protect the
chorines as well as more important performers, and kept fighting
until she won.

Putting on airs was what old-timers most ridiculed. And they
would rib the hell out of a woman as well as a man. Fritzi Scheff,
the dainty Viennese singer, learned that the hard way. We were
at the Grand Theatre, Pittsburgh, the week Fritzi, following a
great Broadway triumph in one of Victor Herbert’s operettas, was
headlining there. She had made Herbert’s “Kiss Me Again,” her
theme song, and she sang it at all performances.

Fritzi traveled in the style of a Russian Grand Duchess. Nothing
like her vaudeville tour had been seen since Sarah Bernhardt’s
last farewell visit to the United States. If Fritzi didn’t pretend to
sleep each night in a coffin as Bernhardt did, she did everything
else. This little lady carried thirty-six pieces of luggage with her
and an entourage consisting of a pianist, a chauffeur, a footman,
and two French maids. One maid served her at the theatre, the
other at her hotel suite. A week before Fritzi arrived in each city,
an interior decorator redecorated and refurnished her dressing
room and hotel suite. Her dressing room’s décor featured mag-
nificent mirrors with gold-leaf frames and drapes suitable to one
of the fabulous boudoirs at Versailles.

She traveled in a private railway car. Attached to this was a
flat car on which her Pierce-Arrow limousine rode. She used the
Pierce-Arrow only for travel between her hotel and the theatre.
Or when it was only a short jump to the next city where she was
booked to play. She made the longer jumps by train. This wasn’t
stupid considering what travel over our rough roads was like then.

The air in Mlle. Scheff’s dressing room was kept freshly per-
fumed with a delicate scent. And over the door of her dressing
room a stagehand fastened an illuminated sign, reading “Fritz.”
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She also had a red velvet carpet laid from the door of her dressing
room to the stage.

I promptly got into the spirit of things by nailing a cigar box
over our dressing room. I cut the letters—B-U-S-T-E-R—out of it,
and for illumination stuck a small lighted candle in the box so the
light would shine through.

Bernard (Bunny) Granville, the comedian who did the best
“drunk” act ever seen in vaudeville, was dressing with Pop and me
that week.

“Why should I let Fritzi put me in the shade?” he demanded.
“I might not have red carpet, but I have something that is a lot
more useful at times.” As he talked Bunny got out a roll of toilet
paper and rolled it from our dressing-room door to the stage.
Within minutes the house manager was in our dressing room.

“Fellers!” he said. “What are you trying to do to me? If she
finds out about any of this she’ll throw a fit. I think shell walk
out. Then where will I be?”

To avoid his having a heart attack, we took down the cigar-box
sign and picked up the toilet paper. But as we waited to go on
next day we heard that one of the stagehands had fixed Fritzi’s
wagon.

All of us were told, “Just stand in the wings and catch Fritzi's
first show today and watch how she behaves.”

Fritzi made her usual entrance waving a little fan. Leaning
against the grand piano she sang her opening number, with the
little fan resting against her hip. As she sang the first few notes
she seemed to be twisting and squirming. The smile with which
she bewitched audiences was half grimace. And whatever was
troubling her got worse as she continued. Again and again she
~ twisted away from the audience to scratch her tightly-corseted
side with the fan here, there, and everywhere.

All of us immensely enjoyed this weird performance. We might
have enjoyed it even more if we had known what was making
majestic little Fritzi Scheff twist, turn, squirm, wriggle, and
scratch. That moming a stagehand had sneaked into her dress-
ing room and sprinkled itching powder lightly everywhere in that
elegant room that the great woman could possibly sit down.

Occasionally a little backstage joke got out of control. This hap-
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pened to a young English monologuist who was making his
American debut at Proctor’s Twenty-third Street Theatre, in New
York. He was sharing a dressing room with Pop, me, and a popu-
lar turn-of-the-century minstrel man named Press Eldridge.

Before the Monday matinee, Press told the Englishman, “You
know, there are a great many of your British expressions that
Americans just do not understand. Why dont you go over your
material with me right now so we can see if you should change
anything you may be using?”

The monologuist was most grateful. Press, Pop, and I listened
gravely, making no comment until he described his main bit. In
this, dressed in a bride’s wedding outfit, he sang “Waiting at the
Churchl” the song later rendered so effectively by Gracie Fields.

When the Englishman sang the tag line, “When I found he left
me in the lurch, Lord! how it did upset me!” Press held up his
hand. “I'm glad you went over this with me, my good fellow.
American audiences just do not like the word ‘Lord.” I don’t know
why exactly, but you must use another word there.”

“But what would you suggest?” asked the Englishman.

“Christl”

The surprised Englishman looked at Pop for confirmation which
Pop gave him with a sage nod. None of us dreamed for a moment
that the Englishman would take Eldridge’s advice as even the
word “damn” was taboo then in theatres all over America.

We watched the young Englishman from the wings. And when
he came out with the line “Christ! how it did upset me!” there
was one of those blood-chilling dead silences in the theatre. Next
thing anyone knew the lights went out, the unfortunate English-
man was smuggled off the stage, and the orchestra was playing
the next act’s introductory number. Meanwhile, Press Eldridge
had streaked for the street. When we went back to the dressing
room, the poor Englishman was still in his bride’s costume, trying
to explain to the irate and red-faced house manager how he had
happened to utter the shocking word. “One of the men I dressed
with told me to say it instead of ‘Lord.”” he said. The house man-
ager demanded, “Which man was it?”

The Englishman shook his head, and replied in a broken voice,

“I can’t remember.”
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Neither could we. Nor could Press Eldridge when he returned
to the dressing room. I never saw nor heard of that unlucky English
actor again.

Pop believed that whatever harm Press and we had done him
was more than repaid when The Three Keatons invaded the ’alls
of the man’s native land in the summer of 1911.

“I always thought I would enjoy the quaint charm of London,”
Pop often said, “right up until the very moment I went over
there.”

Though our stay in London was brief, Pop ever afterward
would spend whole hours relating the misfortunes that befell us
there. His Anglophobia became so complete that he didn’t even
like to mention that one of his very best pals, Walter C. Kelly,
had talked him into going there. Pop seemed to feel it was a terri-
ble charge to make against anyone, no less vaudeville’s famous
“Virginia Judge.” Pop preferred people to think that Alfred Butt,
the distinguished manager of the Palace in London had enticed
us there. But it was Kelly who suggested to Butt that he make us
an offer.

On our return home Pop described in a long letter to Variety,
the theatrical weekly, the humiliations and exasperations Ameri-
can artists could anticipate in London. His letter is longer, I think,
than the Bill of Rights, the Declaration of Independence, and
Lincoln’s Gettysburg Address combined.

Our misfortunes started, Pop revealed in this document, when
he made the distressing mistake of buying four steamship tickets
for his family instead of three. It was only after he had paid half
fare for Jingles and Louise that he learned that they could have
traveled free.

Unable to get his money back, Pop said he rushed home and
announced that the trip was off, but changed his mind when both
Mom and I burst into tears. Nevertheless he made one last
desperate attempt to get out of the adventure.

“I started a fuss when we got on board,” his letter continued,
“anything to be thrown off. I even auctioned off Louise. Jumping
on a box, I yelled, ‘Before the ship sails I am authorized to sell
this two-year-old orphan child.” The bids opened well, and I sold
the baby to a bright-looking little boy. But when I demanded cash
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his father told the youngster I was only fooling. Instead of us being
put off the ship, one of the officers told me that if I tried to auction
off any more of my children they would put me in irons.”

Kelly’s idea that The Three Keatons would be highly successful
in London was logical enough, being based on his own popularity
there, in the provinces, and such far-flung British outposts as
Johannesburg and Hong Kong. For his humor was as typically
American as baseball or George M. Cohan’s slang. Yet Britishers
everywhere laughed at such classic jokes of his as the one about
Mandy, the Negro laundress who came to his imaginary court for
a divorce. It went like this:

“Does he beat you, Mandy?”

“N 0.”

“Does he support you?”

“Yes, sir, he brings home his $1.75 wages every Saturday night.”

“Well, then, Mandy, why do you want to divorce him?”

“I guess, your honor, I just lost my taste for him.”

Kelly, a kindhearted man, met our boat train in London. He
had already obtained accommodations in a boardinghouse for us.

Pop had no English money so Kelly gave him a handful of coins
for tips and wrote down the address of our boardinghouse. “You
get your luggage,” he said, “and I'll take Myra and the kids to
your rooms. They look tired.”

“How do I get my baggage when nobody gave me any claim
checks,” said Pop. Kelly explained that claim checks weren’t used
in London. Pop need only go and point out his trunks and the
table we used in our act which Pop had insisted on bringing along.
Kelly didn’t explain that there were no redcaps at Victoria Station.
So after seeing us off, Pop had to cope with a mob of Whitechapel
Willies, Lambeth Louies, and other men who looked as though
they had been sleeping on the Embankment.

Though unable to understand these chappies’ Cockney, Pop
selected a half dozen of them. They found a one-horse cab for
him, helped him into it, then piled all of our luggage and the
table on both sides and on top of him, accepted the tips he gave
them.

On the way there, Pop looked back through the rear window
and saw the men who had helped him trotting after the cab. Be-
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lieving himself pursued he asked the cabbie to whip up the horse.
Unfortunately, the driver obeyed with such alacrity that the top-
heavy cab took the next corner on two wheels, toppling over on
its side.

As Pop unscrambled himself from the debris, he said to the
driver nervously, “Let’s get going. Those men are still chasing us.”

“Good show!” said the driver. “They’ll be able to help us right
the rig here.”

“I don’t think that’s why they are chasing us. Maybe I did some-
thing wrong. Maybe I said something that offended them.”

“Not likely, sir,” said the cabbie. “If you don’t mind me saying
so, I think you must have tipped them most liberally.” When Pop
pleaded ignorance of British currency, the man said, “When we
arrive at your boardinghouse, sir, I will instruct you concerning
what constitutes a fair tip.”

The six men caught up with them and cheerfully helped right
the cab and get the horse back on his hoofs. They rearranged the
luggage and the table around and on top of Pop. The cab started
off again, with them trotting after it. At the boardinghouse they
helped unload the cab and carry the luggage and table up to our
lodgings on the third floor. After obtaining the tipping instructions
from the driver, Pop distributed some more largesse and took all
hands to the nearest pub for a round of drinks.

We were delighted with the family-type boardinghouse the
Virginia Judge had found for us. We all went to bed early and in
the morning were served with a regular London boardinghouse
breakfast, consisting of porridge, bloaters, boiled eggs, muffins,
and tea.

Kelly was living at the Queen’s Hotel on Leicester Square just
around the corner from us. That evening he took Pop to a theatri-
cal club in London. Coming up the stairs at one o’clock in the
morning, Pop observed sailors coming out of various rooms, but-
toning up their coats.

He hurried to our rooms, woke us up, and insisted we move
without waiting for morning. He whispered, to Mom “We are in a
house of ill fame” and within an hour we were installed in the
Queen’s Hotel where Kelly was staying.

At the time the Palace Theatre in London was the world’s most
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elegant vaudeville house and the only one with a royal box. It
occupied a whole block, full dress was obligatory in the stalls,
tuxedos in the balcony. On Pop’s first visit he found that The Three
Keatons weren't even billed on the posters that announced the
following week’s attractions.

Pop’s next unpleasant surprise came when we went to the
theatre to rehearse our act’s music with the orchestra. He had
brought special orchestral arrangements with him. Fred Heff, the
New York music publisher who supplied these, had told him to
give these to Fink, the Palace’s orchestra leader, and to be very
deferential about it.

The thoughtful music publisher had even rehearsed Pop in the
polite speech he made. This went: “Is this Mr. Fink? Allow me on
behalf of Mr. Fred Heff, the American music publisher of New
York City, to offer you this set of orchestrations with his compli-
ments.”

“What has this to do with the act?” demanded the unfeeling
Mr. Fink. “Let’s get on with it, man.”

The rehearsal’s first number went off smoothly. But when Mom
got out her saxophone the whole orchestra pit started grumbling.
“What the blooming helll” exclaimed one flute player. “Is she go-
ing to play that?”

The trombonist next to him moaned, “Never heard one that was
in tune.”

I got on guard in case Pop grabbed me and threw me at the
carping musicians, but he restrained himself.

There were matinees only on Wednesday and Saturday at the
Palace, which meant we opened on Monday night. Arriving at the
theatre, Pop was depressed to find the long line of waiting peo-
ple, seated on camp chairs, being entertained on the street by
buskers, including a juggler, a troupe of three acrobats, who car-
ried their own rug to work on, and a singer with a guitar accom-
panist.

“Why should they go inside where they have to pay?” grumbled
Pop. From the first performance we were handicapped because
the stage floor was warped and full of splinters. Pop couldn’t use
me as a human mop, but he had his usual fun throwing me into
the scenery and out through the wings.
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We did get a few titters from the gallery, but the stalls, the
boxes, and balcony greeted us with absolute silence. Even Pop’s
best lines fell flat. When I swatted him violently he said, “He has
a mind.” Later when he threw me into the back curtain, he told
the audience, “Children should be taught to respect their parents.”
Even when Pop, in desperation, said after a bit of hurly-burly, “It
loses a bit in the translation, doesn’t it?” he was greeted by the
same blood-chilling silence.

When we came off, Kelly and Blanche Ring, who were also on
the bill, both advised Pop to tone down on the rough routines.

“You actually scared the audience,” Kelly said. “They think you
are hurting Buster. The act is too brutal for them.” '

Next day Alfred Butt told him the same thing, to tone down
the “brutality.” As Pop was leaving, Butt said, “Isn't that an
adopted boy you use in your act?”

“Who, Buster?” exclaimed Pop. “Of course not. He’s my son.”

“Judging by the way you threw him around,” said Butt, “I
thought he must be adopted and that you didn’t give one damn
about him.”

Pop went straight from Butt’s office and booked passage home
for us on the following Wednesday.

Meanwhile, we continued to ease up on our roughhouse rou-
tines at each performance, and by Wednesday and Thursday we
were going good. By Friday and Saturday we were doing great.

Toward the end of the week Alfred Butt congratulated Pop on
the reception we were now getting and said, “Now you will have
no trouble at all in getting forty weeks of straight booking in the
provinces, and when you are finished that tour, you can play here
in London for me again.”

But Pop had made up his mind to leave.

Pop never would admit the British had a sense of humor. His
experiences in the pubs there had poisoned his mind against the
entire United Kingdom. He even refused to laugh at what an
Englishman had said about the American monologuist, Marshall
P. Wilder, who was a dwarf whose face was not unlike a monkey’s.

The week we arrived, Peter the Great, the smartest chimpanzee
I ever saw on a stage, was headlining the bill at the Palace. He
seemed almost human as he took off his hat, coat, and gloves, ate
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at a table with a knife and fork and napkin, roller-skated, rode a
bicycle, then took off the rest of his clothes and went to bed.

Wilder came into the Palace the following week. Londoners
then had the habit of dropping in at vaudeville houses just to see
again a favorite act, and one particular Palace patron that week
seemed not to have known that Peter the Great had concluded his
engagement. In any event, one Englishman, arriving in the middle
of Wilder’s act, took a quick look and groaned, “My God! Now
they have him talking.”

That story quickly went around the world and for a time
threatened Wilder’s career in vaudeville. Wherever he walked on
a stage somebody out front was sure to say quite audibly, “My
God! Now they have him talking.”

But it was the eating and drinking situation that most distressed
Pop. No one had tipped him off that there were barmaids in the
pubs. He spent half of one night in London wandering around
from place to place in hope of discovering a man behind a bar.
Pop liked telling slightly off-color stories almost as much as he
liked beer. But he was incapable of telling one of these before a
woman. On top of the deprivation of being unable to indulge in
his favorite indoor sport Pop could not drink the warm beer they
served in the pubs. He ordered ale but gave that up on finding it
the same temperature. Though at the time he drank nothing
stronger than beer he ordered a Manhattan cocktail in sheer
desperation.

Cocktails were then unknown in London, and the barmaid, de-
termined not to be kidded, said, “Oh yes, and do tell us about
your skyscrapers?”

He also could not endure the uninteresting English food. “They
do not even season it,” he kept groaning. His whole attitude was
that of a man who was discovering himself surrounded by Bronze
Age savages. But Mom and I liked it fine, urged him to stay on.
Mom pointed out that if we once established ourselves as an at-
traction we could always return if we did not care to accept the
salary or working conditions American managers tried to impose
on us. It would be our ace in the hole. But Pop would not listen.

“I'm homesick,” said my Pop who had had no home for over
twenty years.
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Pop did not mention in his long letter to Variety one of the reasons
for taking the family to England in the first place. A short while
before, thanks to the indefatigable Gerry Society, we had been
barred for two years from playing the New York theatres. The
irony of this was that the do-gooders got us in the end, because
we'd played a benefit show for a charity. The manager of the
Grand Opera House in Manhattan had asked Pop to put on the
act with all five Keatons appearing.

Pop agreed on condition that the manager guaranteed that we
would have no trouble with the Gerry Society. The manager gave
the guarantee, but we were served with a summons just the same.
Still counting on the manager’s word, Pop did not even bother to
bring a lawyer with him when he appeared in court and explained
about the manager promising to assume responsibility.
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However, the manager double-crossed him by taking the stand
and denying he had made any such promise to Pop. We were
fined $250 and The Three Keatons were banned from the New
York stage. The ban remained in force for two years and was a
cruel setback for our act because it kept us off the stage of
Hammerstein’s Victoria along with New York’s other vaudewlle
houses.

By that time Hammerstein’s Victoria had long been recognized
as America’s greatest vaudeville theatre. That grand old showcase,
located at 42nd Street and Broadway where the Rialto Theatre
now stands, was in its day everything—and perhaps a little more
—than the Palace became later. As any old-timer will tell you,
Hammerstein’s Victoria was vaudeville at its all-time best. I sup-
pose the greatest compliment we Keatons were ever paid was
-being booked there four to six times each season. Most acts were
happy when they got one date a year there. Favored acts usually
got two.

The original Oscar Hammerstein built the Victoria, but it was
run by his son Willie, a master showman and the father of Oscar
I1, the creator, with Richard Rodgers, of “Oklahomal”, “South
Pacific,” and a few other theatrical tidbits.

Willie Hammerstein would try anything—and did. Willie rev-
eled in such capers as booking Paul Swan, the classical dancer,
and advertising him as “the world’s most beautiful man” and giv-
ing a big publicity build-up to something he called “a wrestling
cheese.” This stood seven feet high, was two feet broad, and no
human wrestling champion could make it stay on the floor. The
indomitable cheese, of course, was so heavily weighted at the
bottom that it righted itself automatically.

Willie also filled his big playhouse with other freak attractions.
When Ethel Conrad and Lillian Graham were arrested for shoot-
ing W. E. D. Stokes, a millionaire hotel owner and prominent
social figure, Willie bailed them out and put them on as “The
Shooting Stars.” He also booked Nan Patterson, the Floradora
girl, who was acquitted of murdering her lover, Caesar Young.
He could even fatten the box office with the Cherry Sisters, who
were so bad that a screen had to be put up in front of them to
intercept the vegetables and rotten eggs audiences bombarded
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them with. And Willie Hammerstein, knowing showman that he
was, increased the fun of his customers by having his ushers pass
out artificial fruit and vegetables to those who had not brought any
with them.

Vaudeville is variety entertainment, and Willie tried to give
his customers everything in the world that could possibly amuse,
charm, bewilder, baffle, amaze, or enchant them. And I do mean
everything from “Sober Sue, the Girl Who Never Laughed” to
“Don, the Talking Dog,” fire-eaters, jugglers, clowns, men who
could add and subtract backward, horses that could count, melo-
dramas, comedies, high divers, ice skating and bicycle-riding
basketball teams.

Besides the prestige of appearing so often in American vaude-
ville’s most esteemed showcase, Hammerstein’s was the most fun
to play. This was because it attracted the most show-wise crowd
in the country, for other performers attended in droves. And there
is no applause so sweet to hear as that which comes from other
actors. They really know whether you are any good or not,
whether the entertainment you are selling is the real thing or
phony.

Nobody who saw one matinee we played at Hammerstein’s
ever forgot it. Pop stayed that day at Dowling’s bar just down
the street several minutes too long. On looking at his watch, he
slapped his head and ran for the stage door. In his hurry he for-
got to put on the felt pad he had been wearing under his trousers
ever since I had got strong enough to hurt him when we did our
anvil-chorus work on each other with the brooms. His own right
arm, by the way, had swelled to twice normal size because of the
years he'd been throwing his growing boy around the stage.

That afternoon, as usual, we were working before an audience
that had seen our act so often they knew the routines as well as
we did. The first time I whacked Pop good that afternoon the
broomstick made a different sound than the usual muffled one.
Pop turned green with pain and jumped about three feet in the
air.

“Christ,” he groaned, “I left the pad off!”

I have mentioned, I think, that as far as my father was con-

cerned there was no such thing as a stage whisper. But the whole
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house roared and rocked as they heard him say the word that
was still forbidden and would have shocked a less worldly crowd.

“Are you going through with it?” he asked.

“Sure,” I said, as he winced, “it’s part of the play.”

I socked him again. “Going through with it?” he asked once
more.

“Yes,” I said. This time he gave me an appealing look, and re-
marked, “But remember I'm your father.”

And Pop did go through with it, although I showed him no
mercy. At the end of the act Joe Keaton, black and blue, made
one of his best ad libs. Stepping to the footlights, he told the
audience, in one of his confidential stage whispers, “This is the
last time I let George M. Cohan write anything for me.”

Pop was always there with the right line. Once when an audi-
ence was slow to laugh Pop told them in a sad tone, “You're not
taking this production seriously enough. It is every bit as impor-
tant as Ben-Hur ever thought of being.”

These ad libs were best appreciated, of course, at Hammer-
stein’s. I often think of how ecstatically that sophisticated Broad-
way crowd would have greeted the wildest fight Pop and I ever
put on in public. This took place at the Grand Theatre in
Pittsburgh, the same theatre where Fritzi Scheff was introduced
to itching powder. The fight was over my smoking. I was seven-
teen, but like most of the fathers of that era Pop believed that
smoking stunted a youth’s growth and should not be indulged in
until one was twenty-one.

Pop and Mom both smoked themselves. Pop always rolled his
own cigarettes out of Bull Durham tobacco. He kept the little
white bag Bull Durham came in and the packet of brown ciga-
rette papers attached to it in the right hand pocket of his jacket.

On that particular day, Pop and I were wearing blue serge
suits which we had hung next to each other in the dressing-room
closet. While we were making up he went to get some tobacco
from his pocket and by mistake fumbled for it in the pocket of
my jacket. In my make-up mirror I saw him come up with the
bulldog pipe I had bought myself a few days before. He studied
the pipe for a moment, put it back into my pocket without saying
anything to me. He said nothing to me about the pipe as he got
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his tobacco and cigarette papers from his own suit, rolled one for
himself and smoked it while he finished putting on his make-up.

When the call came for us to get on stage, I let Pop leave first,
then I told Bernard Granville, “I'm in for it tonight, Bunny.”

I was in for it but so was my old man. Our routine now had
me hitting him as often and as hard as he hit me. I did not
neglect my duties that day particularly after he threw me around
so hard that he knocked down the house set.

This broke the batten. Pop also broke two kitchen chairs on
me. I retaliated by breaking three brooms on him. I also knocked
him over the footlights with the aid of my whirling basketball.
We also dropped the kitchen table on one another.

There was a typical high-class audience at the Grand that after-
noon, and they enjoyed it with the uninhibited abandon of or-
phans turned loose in an ice-cream plant.

After we staggered back to the dressing room, Pop got my bull-
dog pipe and smoking tobacco from my suit and slapped them
on the table. It was his way of acknowledging that I had won
his permission to smoke in his presence or behind his back.

That afternoon it took two doctors and two masseurs to get us
back into good enough shape to work the evening performance.

I have often wondered what Pop would have done if he had
learned that same year that I had taken my first drink of whiskey.
That had happened during our summer vacation at Muskegon.
Even as a babe-in-arms I had been given sips of beer. Most
people in those days thought of beer as a health drink, something
between a tonic and medicine. They even endowed it with an
integrity all its own, spoke of the “honest glass of beer.” But
whiskey was different. Whiskey, as the ministers and newspaper
editorials told us, was pure evil, apparently being distilled in hell
itself.

That first drink of mine was taken with a Bluffton pal, Lex
Neal, who was nineteen, two years older than I, who later be-
came a song writer, and a gag man for me. He had just been
given the brushoff by the town beauty, an indignity that angered
me more than it did Lex himself. But I no longer remember her
name. All I now recall about her is that she was the daughter of
the Commissioner of the Muskegon County Water Works.
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“I'll prove I am your true friend,” I told him, “by not letting you
get soused alone. I'll get drunk too.”

It seemed a perfect day for it. In addition to Lex’s love tragedy,
our baseball team had just lost another game.

Neither Lex nor myself had the nerve to ask for a bottle of
whiskey at the one place in Bluffton you could, Pasco’s Tavern.
We asked Mr. Feeney, who ran a tourist camp, to buy it for us
which he did. The errand entailed a little difficulty as his camp—
really a few shacks and tents for campers and picnickers—was
situated on a bluff about ninety feet high. You could only get to
and from Feeney’s camp by climbing a rickety wooden ladder.
When the obliging Mr. Feeney came back with the whiskey that
afternoon, Lex and I drank the bottle between us while exchang-
ing philosophical reflections on the perfidious nature of women.
We also promised each other never to marry no matter how beau-
tiful the girls were who attempted to trap us. When darkness fell
I was blotto. But Lex, having had some slight previous whiskey-
drinking experience, was in somewhat better shape.

He did his best to help me down Feeney’s rickety ladder. But
it was a moonless night, and before I took more than a step or
two I fell to the bottom—without being hurt though, as the sand
there was very soft and covered by thick clumps of grass. But my
fall awoke Lex to the fact that I was in no shape to go home.
Instead he took me to his own house where his mother, a frail old
Southern woman who smoked a corncob pipe, put me to bed and
nursed me through my terrible hang-over the next morning. After
that experience I never took another drink of whiskey until I be-
came a soldier in World War I years later.

For about ten years my life followed that same pattern of dream-
like Booth Tarkington summers, with the winter months spent
clowning our way around the country. I always liked performing.
But it was hard work, and there were occasions when it was not
exactly fun. There was, for example, the Monday matinee we had
to stretch out our seventeen-minute act for more than an hour and
a half while waiting for the act scheduled to follow us to assemble
its equipment backstage.

That equipment was something to put together, for the act was
a daredevil turn called “Dr. Clark’s Globe of Death.” This was an
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immense sphere made of crisscross strips of steel placed inches
apart from one another. A motorcyclist got inside this, started
riding slowly around the lower part of it, increasing his speed
as he made the roaring motorcycle travel higher and higher around
the sides. The climax of the act came when he started doing loop
the loops, riding upside down, inside the big globe.

We were already on stage that Monday afternoon when the
house manager signaled to us to keep going as long as possible.
Dr. Clark’s massive equipment, it appeared, had not even arrived
at the theatre. When it did it would take quite a long time to set
up and bolt together.

Pop stepped to the footlights. “The next act is a great act,” he
said, “but it takes a long time to assemble, so if any of you want
to go home and wash those dishes you left in the sink, we'll
understand.”

Nobody left.

After we finished all our routines, Pop said, “Buster, recite
something.”

I recited The Boy Stood on the Burning Deck.

“Recite something else,” Pop said.

I did. When he asked for a third bit of elocution I told him,

‘'ve run out of recitations. I do know a parody, but it doesn’t
belong to me. It belongs to Hoey and Lee, and we have to get
their permission before I can sing it.”

“Theyll not sue you or kill you either if you send them
royalties,” said Joe. “I give you permission. I'll take the
responsibility.”

All very cute, and I sang the song. But how long can you keep
on being cute on the stage? After a while the house manager sig-
naled us that the sections of the Globe of Death had at last
arrived. We could hear the stage crew starting to assemble it back-
stage. But that would take a good deal of time. When we couldn’t
think of one more thing to do, Pop yelled, “Pull up the curtain.”

Back there they were still trying to put the Globe of Death
together. Pop and I went to work with a ready will, helping the
crew but really hampering them by getting our pants and other
bits of clothing riveted to the big globe. Despite our assistance,
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they finally put together the thing, which was propped up on all
sides by steel girders.

By that time we had been on the stage for an hour and thirty-
five minutes. It was the one time that I wished I was Al Jolson
who could hold any audience spellbound for hours whenever he
felt like it.

An even tougher assignment came one night when we had to
compete with a freshly killed corpse. This also happened at the
Grand Theatre in Pittsburgh where Pop and I had staged our
biggest fight and watched [laffaire itching powder. This time
Ethel Levey, recently divorced from George M. Cohan, was the
headliner. She went on just before us. In the middle of her second
song a maniac in a box stood up, drew a revolver and pointed it
at her. When she ran screaming off the stage the man turned the
gun on himself and blew his brains out. He had not even known
Ethel Levey.

Though still half hysterical, Miss Levey was coaxed into com-
ing back to finish her act. Then The Three Keatons went on and
did their hilarious act.

P.S. The corpse won.

Oddly enough, the clowning of other acts gave us other very
tense moments on the stage. None of this was ill-intentioned. It
was natural for them to do everything they could think of to throw
into a panic any act like ours which prided itself on being impossi-
ble to upset.

Most of these capers were inspired by a change we'd made in
one routine. Now, when Pop recited his “beautiful poem,” I
would come out behind him and make a terrible racket by bang-
ing a broomstick on the floor. I continued slamming the broom
on the floor. The audience realized what I was doing when the
stick went through a hole. This upended me, and when I hit the
floor I made another terrible noise. Exasperated, Pop would kick
me out of his way and grab the business end of the broom. On
pulling this up with my unwanted assistance, he would throw it
away and then calmly continue his recitation just where he'd left
off. That was supposed to be the end of the routine.

But the Katzenjammer spirit of the other acts on the bill in-
spired them to contribute new plot turns and complications.
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When we were playing Keith’s Colonial Theatre in New York, a
couple of those fellows sneaked down to the basement under
the stage and tied a rope exactly 175 feet long to the end of the
broomstick when it came through the hole. When Pop and I, sing-
ing “The Volga Boat Song” complete with gestures, eventually
got all the rope up a dirty, tiny American flag was tied to it. The
quick-witted orchestra immediately swung into “The Star
Spangled Banner.” But we were relieved when we finished that
week at the Colonial. However word had got around, and new
crazy tricks awaited us in the other theatres.

The next week an act put a ladder under the hole. When the
broom stick went down they were on the ladder and quickly cov-
ered the stick with fresh mustard. At the next theatre we played,
two guys on the bill hung onto the broomstick while Pop tugged
away like mad. They let go suddenly, and Pop went about three
feet in the air as it came up.

Once when the broom came up it had our two weeks’ closing
notice on it. At still another show they took the trouble to put a
huge slingshot below the hole. When they let this go the broom
shot away into the flies. It traveled so fast that Pop didnt even
see it rocket past him. He saw it come down though a few minutes
later. We were arguing, as part of the act, with our angry faces
very close together when the broom whizzed down between our
noses at terrific speed. It came down, of course, stick first, like an
arrow. Neither of us would have needed to fake a fall if it had
hit.

When we were playing Keith’s Alhambra, also on Upper Broad-
way, the other acts went down to the Battery and got an eel sev-
eral feet long from the Aquarium. This they brought up to the
theatre on the subway in a five-gallon can filled with water. When
this came up on the end of the rope, Joe Keaton turned green
under his make-up, believing it was a snake. The eel wriggled
away across the stage with the broom still tied to it.

The comical trick played on us by another act, The Three
Leightons, that same season in Ottawa, Canada, easily might have
had tragic results.

It was 1915, the second year of World War I, and all Canada
was in mourning for its crack regiment, The Princess Pats, which
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recently had been all but exterminated at Ypres. So the Leighton
Brothers, who did a song, dance, and comedy turn, got us very
nervous when they kept threatening to tie a German flag to our
broom. Naturally we pretended to take this as a joke, but each
time Pop pulled up the broom I tried to peer down the hole to
see if a flag was on it.

One day I did see a flag fluttering on the end of the broom.
As it came up, I slashed away at the string. In my haste, I missed
the string and hit the broom which broke in two. But this didn’t
stop the flag coming up. And good night! It turned out to be the
Union Jack that I had slammed away at. Pop and I raced for the
wings, he going one way, I the other. The moment we were out
of sight we stopped to listen, half expecting to hear the people
roaring and hissing. But all we heard was laughter. Pop and I
looked at one another across the empty stage where we thought
we had just dishonored the British flag. Then we stuck out our
heads. The people were still laughing, so we courageously rushed
out to take our bow.

My guess is that the audience realized when they saw our hor-
rified faces that we were just as surprised as they were when the
flag came up, and that I had swung at it before recognizing it.

We had a speedy revenge on The Three Leightons. The next
morning I went down to Ottawa’s river-front district and, with
the assistance of several small boys, collected eighteen cats.
These we brought to the theatre’s prop room and put in a trunk
that the Leightons used in their act.

Not wishing to be too rough on the cats I drilled airholes in
the sides of the trunk. In their act one of the Leightons told
another, playing a Negro bellhop, “Boy, open my trunk and get
out my parade suit!”

That afternoon when the trunk was opened the cats, snarling
with rage and terror, leaped out and streaked in every direction.
They ran into the wings, climbed up into the scenery, and dis-
appeared into the flies. Others jumped into the boxes and ran
up the orchestra aisles. Pandemonium, needless to say, was the
rule for quite a while at that performance.

Now all of this clowning and teasing and horsing around, I
repeat, was done utterly without malice. It seems to me that ac-

76



BACK HOME AGAIN IN GOD’'S COUNTRY

tors, generally speaking, were then far less sensitive to being
kidded than today’s stars are.

Of course, it was impossible then to make a fortune overnight
in show business. Your apprenticeship was arduous and took years
to complete. Publicity was in its infancy. Nobody could put you
over with the public on your looks, your figure, or your sensational
love affairs. There were no TV ratings to arouse the jealousy of
other stars.

Performance was the important thing, almost the only thing
that counted. The manager who wanted to know if you were any
good dropped in at a theatre where you were working and de-
cided for himself. He didnt depend on the calculations of mathe-
matical wizards who had convinced him that they could tell what
millions of persons thought of a star after getting opinions from
a handful of men and housewives. Instead, he measured your
effectiveness by the reception you got from the men and women
who paid to see you. As for publicity we felt as George M. Cohan
did when he told a reporter, “I don’t care what you write about
me, kid, as long as you spell my name right.”

In vaudeville, of course, we had no publicity problem except
when some adventurous spirit like Joe Keaton foolishly tried to
snatch some free space. Most of the time local newspapers, who
ran the vaudeville theatre’s advertising each week, published a
few biographical notes about the acts appearing on the next bill,
and also flattering reviews. But these appeared in the entertain-
ment section and occupied little space. Those early years of the
century were a time of widespread racial and religious prejudice
in America, but the last place to look for either then as now was
show business. This reminds me of a little incident which may
have humiliated Bill (Bojangles) Robinson at the time, but
which he recalled with amusement later on.

I was about seven years old when we first worked on a bill
with Bojangles. By Tuesday of that week Robinson was broke
and had borrowed money from all of the grownups on the bill.

His face lighted up on hearing that, small though I was, I al-
ways had money in my pocket. On Wednesday he borrowed two
dollars from me. He promised to pay it back but neglected to
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mention I'd have to wait until Saturday when he got his week’s
pay.

Nobody else had ever borrowed money from me, and I was
very impressed by the transaction. But at every performance after
that I asked Robinson, “Mr. Bill, where is my two dollars?”

This depressed him more and more, but he managed to take it
until Friday. Then, unable to stand any more dunning, he ap-
proached Pop and said, “Mr. Joe, I don’t know whether you will
approve of this, but I borrowed two dollars from Buster. He has
been asking me for it every minute since. Mr. Joe, could you let
me have two dollars until tomorrow night so I can pay Buster and
not have him asking me for his money any more?” Pop gave Bill
the two dollars, and he gave it to me and paid back my father next
day.

About thirty years later when Bill was playing with Shirley
Temple at Twentieth Century-Fox he encountered me on the
lot. He was walking with Darryl Zanuck, then the studio’s pro-
duction chief. We stopped to chat. Suddenly Bill turned to Zanuck
and said, “Mr. Zanuck, don’t ever borrow any money from that
man!”

You will notice that I quote Bill Robinson addressing my father
as “Mr. Joe,” something no Negro performer need say these days.

Although the theatrical profession was the first to break through
the color line, throughout my boyhood and youth you never saw
whites and Negroes on a stage at the same time. There were very
few Negro women performers in vaudeville or on Broadway. The
first I recall seeing was Ada Walker, the wife of George Walker,
the partner of Bert Williams, when she appeared with Williams
and Walker in an all-Negro revue and incidentally sang “Shine,”
which is still a perennial favorite.

When Negroes were allowed in white saloons at all they were
restricted to the end of the bar farthest from the door. Pop ig-
nored this the night he walked into the Adams Hotel bar in Bos-
ton, which was conveniently situated, being directly behind
Keith’s Theatre. Bert Williams, who was again on the bill with
us, was standing, as required, far down at the other end.

“Bert,” said Pop, “come up here and have a drink with me.”
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Bert looked nervously from one white face at the bar to another,
and replied, “Think I better stay down here, Mr. Joe.”

“All right,” said Pop, picking up his glass, “then I'll have to
come down there to you.”

I am not making the point that Pop had no race prejudice.
He didn’t know what race prejudice was. Nobody had told him
that there was such a thing. Like most people in those days if he
resented bitterly something a man did and that man was a Jew
he called him a “damned sheeny.” If the offensive one was Italian,
Pop denounced him as a “dirty dago.” If he was Irish he called
him a “rotten, dumb mick.” But this was more a matter of identify-
ing the rascal than denouncing him because of his race. One of
Pop’s rare barroom battles illustrates the point, I think. At the
time at least three of Pop’s best enemies were Jews. Two of them,
E. F. Albee and Martin Beck, were vaudeville tycoons with whom
he had quarreled for years. The third one was Bert Levy, the
vaudeville cartoonist, whom Pop had never forgiven because Levy
had taken a telegram for him once and failed to pass it on
promptly, causing us to lose a booking.

What Pop could not endure was seeing another human being
mistreated or unfairly dealt with. If you were being victimized
your race didn’t count. He was automatically on your side.

I think I have mentioned that my father was one of the
country’s best rough-and-tumble fighters. I doubt though that I
have emphasized what extraordinary weapons he could turn his
feet and legs into. His feet were as fast as his hands, and the
flexibility of his legs gave him a big edge over any other stand-up
fighter. He demonstrated their amazing flexibility one day when
he was helping Mr. Pasco serve a fresh fish dinner. One crabby
guest brought his plate back to the counter and complained that
it wasn’t fresh.

Pop was on the other side of the counter. When all verbal argu-
ments failed, Pop swung his leg over the counter, snagged the
back of the man’s neck with his foot, pulled his head forward
until it was only two inches from his own, and said, “It’s fresh
perch, and you'll eat it.”

And the man did.

As a result of throwing me around the stage for so many years
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Pop’s right arm became twice the size of his left. He demonstrated
its punching power to the whole family one morning in Los
Angeles. This was at the time when vaccination became compul-
sory. A great many people, including my parents, were rebelling
against it. Some children died after being inoculated, and the
number of these deaths was not underestimated, I imagine, for
they were talked about all over the country.

We were in a Los Angeles hotel when the medical profession
attempted to vaccinate us. Someone knocked on our hotel-room
door, Pop answered and found three men there—a county health
officer, the hotel physician, and a house detective. When they an-
nounced their purpose, he belted the county health officer in the
nose so hard that he knocked down both him and the other men
behind him. They went down like ninepins; Pop slammed the
door. We packed within the hour, moved to another hotel, and
were never bothered again about being vaccinated.

For some reason Pop was at his best when fighting more than
one man at a time. I have a suspicion he considered it both more
fun and fairer to the opposition. He certainly was helped by his
talent for fighting with his feet one Saturday night when he en-
tered Considine’s Metropole, then the most popular gathering
place for sporting men in New York.

Pop went there alone. Mom was playing pinochle at the Ehric
House, and I was kibitzing the game. As Pop ordered a beer three
college boys came swaggering in. They exploded into jeering
laughter on seeing a small man with a beard at the bar.

“Come here, little Jew,” one of them said, “help us celebrate,
have a drink on us.”

Then they began teasing and tormenting him, climaxing their
sport by pulling his derby down over his eyes.

“Let him alone,” said my father.

“I suppose you're a Jew too,” said one college boy.

“I told you to let him alone,” yelled my father when the other
two youngsters jostled the stranger. The third boy said to my
father: :

“I asked you something. Are you a Jew?”

“I certainly am,” announced Pop, astonishing the bartender,
who had known him for years as an Irishman. |
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The collegiates began to close in on him. One threw a punch.
Pop ducked the blow, took out two of the three boys with his feet,
and with a right uppercut belted the third one clean through Con-
sidine’s window.

The bartender and the little Jewish gentleman both stared at
the shattered glass, then at the two unconscious young athletes on
the floor.

“Well, what will you have, Mr. Keaton?” said the bartender.

Joe rubbed the knuckles of his right hand as he reflected, then
he said, “I think I'll have a beer.” He said he was going to ask the
little Jewish fellow to have a drink but decided he’d done enough
for him already.

. Meanwhile, as he sipped his beer, one of Considine’s waiters
slipped out of the Metropole and summoned the fat cop on the
beat.

On the way to the police station with Pop, the policeman asked,
“Why didn’t you run?” |

Joe’s face broke into a happy smile, “Is it too late?”

“Yes,” said the cop sadly, “’tis too late now. The desk sergeant
knows about it.”

The first Mom and I knew about it was when George Howard,
of the Howard Brothers, a great banjo-strumming team, came
bursting in on the pinochle game. His timing was bad—Mom had
just bid 350 in spades, which pays double.

“Myra,” George exclaimed, “Joe’s locked up in the West 47th
Street station house. He knocked three guys cold in Considine’s.
They’re holding him in $250 bail.”

Little Mom, who had to sit on a couple of pillows to be on the
same level with the other players, just glared at the other two
players.

“I bid three fiftyl” she said belligerently.

George seemed to think Mom had not heard him. “Myra, I
said Joe is locked up and . . .”

Mom waved to him to be quiet. When no one outbid her, she
laid down her spade flush and other meld, played out the hand,
and won easily. Only when she had collected her winnings did
she turn to George, and ask:

“How much bail money did you say Joe needs?”
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“Two fifty. Two hundred and fifty dollars, that is.”

Mom dug down, got the money out of her grouch bag, handed
it to George Howard, waved him away, and said, “All right, deal
the cards.,”

Like most vaudeville performers Pop disliked Martin Beck,
who ran the Orpheum Circuit, which was the big-time circuit in
Chicago and all points west. As a member of the White Rats, the
vaudevillians’ first union, which Beck fought bitterly, Pop and he
had had words as early as 1go1. The antagonism between the two
increased a half dozen years later when Klaw and Erlanger in
partnership with the Shuberts started an “advanced vaudeyville”
circuit, to compete with both the Keith Circuit and Beck’s Or-
pheum string of theatres. We were among the many acts signed
by the new group despite black-listing threats from the United
Booking Office, the agents controlled by Keith, his partner Albee,
and Beck.

Unfortunately the new venture lasted only three months. Un-
able to ban all of the deserters, many well-known acts, including
ours, were forgiven—for the time being. With the outbreak of war
in Europe in 1914 all foreign acts who could reach the United
States rushed here. They were promptly put to work, replacing
as many of the “disloyal” American acts as possible.

To teach those once rebellious acts that they were using who
was boss, the vaudeville magnates’ UBO agency harassed them
in every way they could think of. They laid out routes so these
acts could not make the trip from one city to another overnight.
This forced the performers to lay off a whole week between book-
ings which cut down their income considerably. There would
be endless arguments about material used. The worst insult to a
well-known act like ours was making it open a show. This meant
going on before the audience was warmed up and while some of
the people out front were still being seated.

This is what Martin Beck did to The Three Keatons in 1916
when we played the New York Palace which by then had re-
placed Hammerstein’s Victoria as vaudeville’s most important
showcase. -

Pop could not stop talking about this outrage. He called Beck
every name in the book. Then, one matinee, when we were on,
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Pop looked out into the wings and saw his enemy, arms folded,
glaring at him.

“Okay, Keaton,” said Martin Beck, “make me laugh!”

Pop’s face turned purple. The next thing I knew he was streak-
ing toward Beck who turned and ran out the stage door. But Pop
wasn't satisfied with chasing the two-a-day tycoon out of his own
theatre. He followed the panting Mr. Beck—who was about five
feet eight and chunky—up Forty-seventh Street and down Sixth
Avenue, only stopping when he lost his man in the crowds.

Meanwhile, left alone on the stage, I didn’t know what to do.
I sang a song, recited, jigged until Pop came back and we were
able to go into our regular routine. At the finish we got our usual
applause. But that was the last week The Three Keatons ever
played big time vaudeville in New York—or anywhere else.
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The next day Martin Beck gave orders that the running time of
our act must be cut from seventeen minutes to twelve. Nobody,
of course, knew better than he did how difficult it is for a knock-
about, harum-scarum act like ours to eliminate five minutes over-
night from its running time.

We did not try.

Instead, Pop brought a dollar alarm clock out on the Palace
stage as we began our turn. While winding it up and setting the
alarm he explained to the audience that, to our regret, the man-
agement would not allow us to do our full act. Nevertheless we
would do everything we could in the short time we were per-
mitted to remain on the stage. He put the clock down in front
of the footlights. The instant the alarm rang we stopped what we
were doing. It did not matter whether we were fighting, chasing
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one another, or dancing. We just stopped dead in the middle of
it, Pop picked up the clock, and we walked off.

It was a wonderful way to express our resentment. The audi-
ences were with us one hundred per cent. The trouble was that
audiences did not book the acts. We ended the season playing
two weeks in the Loew Theatres. That was the small time even
though Loew paid us $750 a week, the same salary we got from
Keith.

The small time meant three shows a day instead of two. For a
standard act like ours which had never played anything but the
big time it also meant great loss of prestige. The entire profession
assumed you were on your way down—and maybe out—if you
accepted smalltime booking.

Right then and there it would have meant everything if we
had established ourselves in England and could have gone back
there to work.

Rather than play the small time, other big-time acts preferred
not to work at all. We were not that stubborn or foolish. We had
seen some of them sit and wait for years until something they
considered worthy of them came along. For most this chance
never came, and after a while they were forgotten.

We agreed among ourselves not to let that happen to us. When
the next season came and we could get no big-time bookings we
signed a contract to play the Pantages Circuit on the West Coast.
But we soon found out that playing our roughhouse, neck-breaking
act three times a day was too punishing and bruising.

We begged Alexander Pantages to let us do only two shows.
Pantages was a tough old Greek who had started his money-making
career as a saloon porter in the Klondike gold rush. His experi-
ences in the Frozen North had not made him benevolent. “You
signed to do three shows a day,” he told us, “and that’s what you'll
do.”

Adding to the difficulties of playing three shows a day was the
fact that Pop had recently switched from drinking beer to hard
liquor. Being forced to play the small time gave him an additional
excuse for boozing it up.

In an act like ours precise timing, of course, was all-important.
Being a half second off in throwing a kick or ducking a punch
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meant broken bones sooner or later. Pop never did become one
of those falling-down drunks. But he didn’t need to be to endanger
the health of both of us.

“Oh, I am all right,” he would say when I mentioned this. “And
don’t forget, I'm your father, so don’t lecture me.” I tried roughing
him up during the act, punishing him a little, but that didn’t work
either. He laughed at me when I threatened to go it alone unless
he got off the sauce.

It was in San Francisco that he got tipsy once too often. We
were scheduled to open at the Pantages Theatre in Los Angeles
on the following Monday. But during the week in San Francisco
I told Mom, “I'm going to break up the act.”

Mom made no objection. She herself had tried to talk Pop out
of drinking before shows. Anyway, the act had never meant to
her what it did to us.

But neither of us could figure out an easy way to tell Pop the
bad news. He would break down and cry like a baby, plead for
another chance. I was not prepared to watch my father go to
pieces. I was not sure I could go through with it. Not that I
wasn’t damn mad at him.

So Mom and I just did not tell him.

While he was out at some saloon on the night we were sched-
uled to move on to Los Angeles, we packed our things and took
a train East. We didn’t even leave him a note.

I went to New York to see if I could get work there on my own.
As a single act. That’s what vaudeville people called it. Mom went
to Detroit to visit some friends for a while.

When Pop got back to our hotel and found us gone, he was not
worried. Always the optimist, he assumed that we had gone on to
Los Angles without him. It was only when he walked into the
Pantages Theatre in L.A. that he learned I had cancelled the rest
of our tour.

No one could tell him where we were. Not knowing what else
to do he went to Muskegon, hoping to find us there. And that’s
where he spent the rest of that winter. Our place was a summer
cottage and had no furnace or plumbing. But aside from the
physical discomfort it wasn’t a bad place for Pop. Some of his old
vaudeville pals had retired and were living there the year round.
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The kids were still in private school nearby which meant he had
half of his family close by.

There was enough money in the bank account. Pop wasn’t going
to die in. Muskegon of either hunger or loneliness. Knowing him,
I was sure he wouldn't die of remorse either.

Meanwhile I had gone into the movies in New York. After
staying a month in Detroit, Mom took pity on Pop and rejoined
him in Muskegon. It would have been something to have seen his
face when Mom explained to him what I was doing. Pop had
always sneered at the movies. He considered them a passing fad,
no more important than the peekaboo waist, let us say, and far
less interesting.

Not too long before, William Randolph Hearst, already dab-
bling in the business of picturemaking, suggested to Pop that we
make a two-reeler comedy for him.

“What are you sayingP” thundered Pop. “You want to show The
Three Keatons on a bed sheet for ten cents?”

Later on, Hearst offered us a contract to make a whole series
of two-reel comedies based on “Bringing up Father,” the comic
strip which his newspapers ran. Pop, Hearst said, could play
Jiggs, the main character. Pop again refused.

Like most middle-aged vaudeville actors he would have laughed
if anyone had predicted that “the flickers,” as they were still
called, would soon replace vaudeville as the country’s favorite
form of entertainment.

On finally hearing the terrible news about me from Mom he
groaned, “Our Buster in the movies? I can hardly believe it.”

Though no more considerate of Pop’s feelings than most other
long-suffering wives, Mom delayed telling him that I'd passed up
a spot in a big Broadway show to take the picture job.

“I didn’t want to make the poor fellow froth at the mouth,” she
explained later on.

On reaching New York in February 1917, I had gone straight to
the office of Max Hart, New York’s most influential theatrical
agent. I told him I had broken up the family act and wanted to
work on my own for a while.

“I'll get you all the work you want,” Hart told me. He immedi-
ately put on his hat and took me to the Shubert Brothers’ office

90



ONE WAY TO GET INTO THE MOVIES

which was just down the street. They were casting the new edition
of their annual revue, The Passing Show, which was then one of
the best showcases for actors on Broadway.

Mr. Hart, an agent of few words, took me straight into the
private office of J. J. Shubert. As always J.J. was doing the cast-
ing with the assistance of a flabby, lisping gentleman everybody
called “Mother” Simmons.

“This is Buster Keaton,” Max Hart told them. “Put him in your
show.”

J. J. Shubert looked me over, and asked, “Can you sing?”

“Sure I can sing,” I said, even though it was a pretty foolish
question. If Mr. Shubert hired me it would be for my comedy.
And he did hire me without asking me to sing, or a second
question. -

The Passing Show usually played in New York for six months,
then went on the road for the remainder of the year. My salary
was set at $250 a week for New York and $300 on tour. A few
days later I got a script of the revue.

But just a day or two before rehearsals were to start, I ran into
Lou Anger, a Dutch comedian, who had worked on vaudeville
bills with us many times. Anger was with Roscoe (Fatty) Ar-
buckle, the screen comedian. As he introduced us, he explained
that Arbuckle had just broken away from Mack Sennett to make
two-reel comedies of his own. Joe Schenck was producing them,
and Anger had quit vaudeville to be Joe's studio manager.

I had seen some of Arbuckle’s work in Sennett comedies and
greatly admired him. He said he’d caught our act many times and
always liked it.

“Have you ever been in a movie, Buster?” he asked.

When I told him I hadn’t, Roscoe said, “Why don’t you come
over to the Colony Studios tomorrow morning? I'm starting a new
picture there. You could try doing a bit in it. You might enjoy
working in pictures.”

“I'd like to try it,” I told him.

The Colony Studios were housed in a big loft building on East
48th Street. When I got there the whole place was humming with
activity. Besides the Arbuckle company, Norma Talmadge’s own
company, her sister Constance’s and a couple of others were mak-
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ing romantic dramas in other parts of the studio. This seemed
wonderful to me. It was like being in a great entertainment
factory where different shows were being manufactured at the
same time.

The two-reeler Roscoe was starting that day was The Butcher
Boy. The scene was a country store, and my role was that of an
innocent stranger who comes wandering in just as he and Al St.
John start to heave bags of flour at one another. Like Arbuckle,
St. John had been one of Sennett’s Keystone Cops.

Roscoe had brown paper bags filled with flour, tied up and ready
for use. He lost no time in putting me to work. “As you come in
the store,” he explained, “I will be throwing some of these bags
at St. John. He will duck, and you will get one right in the face.”
It seemed like nothing at all after the punishment I'd been taking
from Pop all of these years.

“Now,” Arbuckle said, “it is awfully hard not to flinch when you
are expecting to get hit with something like that. So as you come
in the door, look back. When I say Turn!’ you turn, and it will
be there.”

It was.

Arbuckle, who weighed 280 pounds, had established himself as
a master custard-pie thrower while with Mack Sennett. I found
out that day that he also could put his whole heart and every
ounce of his weight into throwing a flour bag with devastating
accuracy. There was enough force in that thing to upend me com-
pletely. It put my feet where my head had been, and with no co-
operation from me whatever. Enough flour went up my nostrils
and into my mouth to make one of mother’s old-fashioned cakes.
Because I was new to the business, I was politely picked up and
dusted off. But it was fifteen minutes before I could breathe
freely again.

The plot called for me to buy a quarter’s worth of molasses. I
had brought along a tin pail for the molasses. But after it was la-
dled out I discovered that I had dropped the quarter into the mo-
lasses. Roscoe, Al St. John, and myself all took turns at trying to
get the quarter. The three of us were smeared with molasses from
head to foot before we were finished. That same day I was also
called upon to be bitten by a dog. Between one thing and an-
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other, I would say that my long career as a human mop proved
most useful from the start of my work as a movie actor. And
everything about the new business I found exciting and fascinat-
ing.

Incidentally, I've been told that my first scene in The Butcher
Boy is still the only movie-comedy scene ever made with a new-
comer that was photographed only once. In other words my film
debut was made without a single retake.

Roscoe—none of us who knew him personally ever called him
Fatty—took the camera apart for me so I would understand how
it worked and what it could do. He showed me how film was
developed, cut, and then spliced together. But the greatest thing
to me about picturemaking was the way it automatically did away
with the physical limitations of the theatre. On the stage, even
one as immense as the New York Hippodrome stage, one could
show only so much.

The camera had no such limitations. The whole world was its
stage. If you wanted cities, deserts, the Atlantic Ocean, Persia,
or the Rocky Mountains for your scenery and background, you
merely took your camera to them.

In the theatre you had to create an illusion of being on a ship,
a railroad train, or an airplane. The camera allowed you to show
your audience the real thing: real trains, horses and wagons,
snowstorms, floods. Nothing you could stand on, feel, or see was
beyond the range of the camera.

The same was true of the movie makers’ use of light. They had
not yet learned how to use mechanical light as effectively as they
did a little later. Even so, they were making the sun work for them
on their open stages on the roofs and in their studios which had
large skylights. The sun gave them their back-lighting and cross-
lights, and they increased this with reflectors. In the theatre only
artificial lights could be used. These produced only effects, could
only create and increase an illusion or highlight a particular spot
on the stage. And this, everybody in pictures agreed, was merely
the beginning| ;

From the first day on I hadn’t a doubt that I was going to love
working in the movies. I did not even ask what I'd be paid to
work in Arbuckle’s slapstick comedies.
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I didn’t much care.

Men who know a good deal about financial matters have often
told me I am stupid in my handling of money. I would not say
they are wrong. But even though I've spent my whole life in the
most insecure of professions, money somehow has never seemed
important to me.

I am not unaware that one can be extremely uncomfortable
without money enough for good food, shelter, and decent cloth-
ing. But from my babyhood on The Three Keatons always had
enough—and a little more—for whatever they wanted. We even
managed to stash away quite a bit in the bank against the pro-
verbial rainy day. j

It seems to me that if you are a good craftsman your principal
concern should be to keep working. If you manage to do that your
employers will have to pay you sooner or later exactly what you
are worth. How can they avoid it?

I say all of this, but I must admit being quite surprised to find
just forty dollars in my pay envelope at the end of my first week
as a movie actor. When I asked Lou Anger about it, he said that
was all his budget permitted him to pay me. Six weeks later I was
increased to $75 and not long after that to $125 a week.

Max Hart, like any other theatrical agent, was not a man to
underestimate the importance of a big pay check. But when I told
him I wanted to withdraw from my $250 a week job in The
Passing Show to act in the movies for forty dollars he said I was
doing a very wise thing,

“Learn everything you can about that business, Buster,” he said,
“the hell with the money. Movies are the coming thing, believe
me.”

On the same day that I entered the business in which I was to
enjoy my greatest success, I also met the girl who became my first
wife. She had tried bit parts in pictures but without much suc-
cess. At the moment she was working with the Arbuckle unit as
combination secretary and script girl. I was attracted to her at
once. She seemed a meek, mild girl who had much warmth and
great feminine sweetness. Shortly after our first date I met her
mother and the rest of her family. I thought they were all wonder-
ful. They were gay and vital and full of good humor. Incidentally,
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having grown up backstage, I have never been timid or shy with
women. I do not claim I understand them, but neither, I am told,
did Socrates, Schopenhauer, or Einstein.

Roscoe and I made only five or six two-reelers in New York.
Then the whole unit moved to Hollywood in October 1917. My
future wife went along with us. As soon as I got there I sent for
my parents. Jingles and Louise, who were still at school in Muske-
gon, joined us during their summer vacation.

The longer I worked with Roscoe the more I liked him. I
respected without reservation his work both as an actor and a
comedy director. He took falls no other man of his weight ever
attempted, had a wonderful mind for action gags, which he could
devise on the spot. Roscoe loved all the world, and the whole
world loved him in those days. His popularity as a performer was
increasing so rapidly that soon he ranked second only to Charlie
Chaplin.

Arbuckle was that rarity, a truly jolly fat man. He had no
meanness, malice, or jealousy in him. Everything seemed to amuse
and delight him. He was free with his advice and too free in
spending and lending money.

I could not have found a better-natured man to teach me the
movie business, or a more knowledgeable one. We never had an
argument. I can only remember one thing he ever said that I
disagreed with.

“You must never forget,” he told me that day, “that the average
mentality of our movie audience is twelve years.”

I thought that over for a long time, for three whole months in
fact. Then I said to Roscoe, “I think you'd better forget the idea
that the movie audience has a twelve-year-old mind. Anyone who
believes that won't be in pictures for very long, in my opinion.”

I pointed out how rapidly pictures were improving technically.
The studios were also offering better stories all of the time, using
superior equipment, getting more intelligent directors. Griffith’s
Birth of a Nation was fascinating people who had never before
thought of the movies as anything but an interesting toy. They'd
shown Griffith’s masterpiece at a two dollar top, which was as
much as was charged then for some Broadway plays. “Every time
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anyone makes another good picture,” I said, “people with adult
minds will come to see it.”

On thinking it over, Arbuckle said I was right. But the low
estimate of the audience’s mind, I notice, survives to this day in
Hollywood. I sometimes wonder if TV, free or not, could have
overtaken and overwhelmed the movie industry so quickly if its
studio bosses had rejected that myth.

After moving to Hollywood, Pop continued to be snobbish about
pictures. But I did get him to work with us in a couple of Ar-
buckle’s. Pop’s pratfalls astonished Roscoe and everybody else.
The trick of Pop’s that truly left the competition speechless was
one in which he put one foot on the table, then the other. He'd
take the fall, after seeming to be sitting on air for a moment or two.

One day Roscoe was directing a scene in which Pop was sup-
posed to kick me. After the first take, Roscoe said, “The camera
is getting this from the wrong side. Would you mind kicking Bus-
ter with your left foot?” Pop growled, “I've been kicking Buster’s
behind now for almost twenty years. I don’t need you to tell me
how to do it.”

Roscoe laughed and called lunch. When we went back he had
the camera moved to the other side of the set so Pop could kick
me in his traditional manner.

In June 1918 I was drafted into Uncle Sam’s World War I
Army as a thirty-dollar-a-month private and assigned to the infan-
try. My salary by that time had been raised to $250 a week, and
Joe Schenck generously sent my parents twenty-five dollars a week
during all of the time I was in the Army.

My future wife went back to New York. My folks returned
to Muskegon where Pop quickly got a job in a munitions plant
that was making artillery shells. Ignoring the fact that I was in
the infantry Pop wrote in white chalk on every shell he worked
on,

“Give ’em hell, Buster.”

Our outfit was the Fortieth Division, which was nicknamed the
Sunshine Division. I was sent to Camp Kearney, near San Diego,
where I had one of the briefest spells of boot training in American
military history. After a few days in quarantine I was given shots
in double doses. We were to be shipped to France, everyone said,
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as soon as transportaion could be provided. They weren't kidding.
I had only ten days of drilling on the Awkward Squad, or just
long enough for me to learn to obey the commands of “Salutel”
“Halt!” and “Forward March!” This with arms benumbed by those
high-powered injections.

I was then put in with my regular squad. I might have done
fine there if some impulsive officer had not given a command I
had never heard of. It was: “To the rear, march!” I went forward
as everyone else turned and went backward. Immediately 1 got
hit on the chin and knocked down by somebody’s gun butt.
I wasn’t unconscious, but I might as well have been—because I
couldn’t get up. While I lay there in a dazed condition, my
brothers-in-arms, my dear buddies, either had to jump over me
or step to one side to avoid kicking me.

Unable to understand what was causing all that jumping and
stepping aside several officers came running up along the side of
our company. Only after bending down and looking through the
legs of the men were they able to see my small crumpled figure.

“Company, halt!” the most alert of the officers shouted. They
then ran in, dragged me to my feet, and asked, “Are you hurt?”

Hurt! I was far ahead of them. I imagined I had been wounded
and downed in battle with the German Army. “Did we win?” I
asked.

I spoke in all seriousness. But nobody knew that, and everyone
laughed, which is the sort of thing that often gets a man an un-
deserved reputation for being a wit.

I was not amused at all to find slapstick flowing over into my
new life in the Army. I took being a soldier quite seriously,
studied the Morse code regularly, also map reading and semaphore
signaling. On mastering these subjects I discovered that I was the
best-informed private in my outfit. While in the Service, in fact,
I never met an enlisted man, including some who had joined up
during the Spanish-American War, who had more than glanced
occasionally at an Army training manual.

We were shipped East and quartered at Camp Upton, Long
Island. There we were kept up for three days and three nights
while being equipped for overseas duty. We also received addi-
tional medical shots.
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It was not always possible to take that war seriously. In the first
place I could not understand why we, the French, and the English
were fighting the Germans and the Austrians. Being in vaudeville
all of my life had made me international-minded. I had met too
many kindly German performers—singers and acrobats and musi-
cians—to believe they could be as evil as they were being por-
trayed in our newspapers. Having known Germans, Japanese
jugglers, Chinese magicians, Italian tenors, Swiss yodelers and
bell-ringers, Irish, Jewish, and Dutch comedians, British dancers,
and whirling dervishes from India, I believed people from every-
where in the world were about the same. Not as individuals, of
course, but taken as a group.

I also resented my uniform which made me look and feel
ridiculous. Apparently, the Quartermaster General had never
anticipated that anyone five feet five inches tall would be allowed
to join the United States Army. My pants were too long, my coat
looked like a sack, and wrapping Army puttees around my legs
was a trick I never mastered. The size eight shoes handed me were
far too big for my size six and one-half feet. The shoes also were
hobnailed and made of leather as tough as a rhinoceros’s hide.
Old-timers in our outfit had long given up hope of ever getting
uniforms that fit them. They had theirs altered at civilian tailor
shops. They also bought sturdy workmen’s shoes, which they
managed to disguise well enough to pass inspection.

All of this may explain the few times when I forgot my deter-
mination to be a good little soldier. The first of these lapses oc-
curred the day I phoned my girl, and she came to Camp Upton
to see me.

She arrived at our Hostess House in her family’s oversize
Packard at about one that afternoon. The Packard was driven
by a liveried chauffeur and had a Victoria top. She looked
gorgeous. So did the Packard. The combination gave me ideas. We
noncommissioned nothings were restricted to the camp, but our
officers were not. However, because it was hot at Camp Upton,
those exalted beings were not wearing their jackets, and their
khaki shirts and black knitted ties looked exactly like ours.

If I rolled out of camp with my girl in that eye-popping car
I might easily get by the sentries, it seemed to me. I would not,
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after all, be wearing my private’s overseas cap or my oversize
jacket. Unless one of the sentries looked over the side of the car
he would never see my baggy pants and clodhopper hobnailed
boots. -

I planned to salute the sentries as casually as our officers did.
When saluting, the private, particularly if he was a rookie, stiffened
up and snapped his left hand to his forehead, holding it there until
the officer returned the salute, then snapped it back to his side.
The officers (and also veteran professional soldiers) did not snap
the hand until they had it almost to their left eyebrow. They did
not snap it in taking their hand away, just let it fall to their side.

If I had been able to imitate Houdini, jabbering Chinese, and
Pop on the stage, I figured I ought to be able to get away with
imitating an officer saluting a sentry.

I asked my girl whether Camp Upton was near any place where
we could have some fun. When she said it wasn’t far from Long
Beach I got into the car, and we started off.

We got out all right. The inner sentry and outer sentry both
saluted me smartly as we rolled through the gates. In return I gave
them my languid and indulgent officer’s salute.

In those days Long Beach was still a fashionable seashore
resort. It had a fine eating and dancing place, “Castles in the Air.”
This was one of the many enterprises started by the late Vernon
Castle and his wife, Irene, at the height of their fabulous vogue
as a dancing team.

I cannot deny that I felt rather foolish walking into that impos-
ing dine-and-dance palace in my baggy pants and clodhopper
boots. But we had a grand time. It was a relief to be eating
educated food instead of Army chow, and to drink coffee that
tasted like coffee. We had a wonderful eight or ten hours to-
gether that day. My girl paid the check as I didnt have enough
money on me. Then we drove back to Camp Upton where both
the inner sentry and outer sentry saluted me smartly.

A day or two later we left on a transport for France. I must say
I have traveled in more comfortable style. We slept in hammocks
that were hung three abreast in four tiers, one above the other.
The cooties we were to know so intimately later on were already

on board.
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We got off at an English port—which one is still a World War
I secret as far as I am concerned. From there we were walked to
something which the British called a rest camp, their greatest case
of mistaken identity since Dr. Jekyll turned into Mr. Hyde.

After two days there we were moved to another rest camp. At
both camps the English fed us the same stuff three times a day.
The trouble was we didn't like it the first time. The meal consisted
of a bit of yellow cheese about the size of two dominoes, one hard-
tack biscuit, and a cup of tea without sugar, milk, or lemon. After
a day at the second camp, we boarded a transport that carried us
across the English Channel to that beloved France which is always
so jolly a place except when a war is going on.

The Channel boat was so crowded that we crossed standing up.
There was room on the boat to sit down, but it was being used
by other soldiers who were standing up. On debarking we were
marched eight miles to another camp. There was one thing I
never could figure out about the French terrain in that war.
Wherever we marched in France we seemed to be going uphill.
This was true whether we were leaving camp or coming back to
camp. Walking in oversized hobnailed boots may have a stronger
effect on the human brain than psychologists realize.

In the French rest camp we slept in circular tents, our feet in
the center and our heads close to the drafts from the great out-
doors. We were told not to open our packs except to get out our
blankets. This, it was believed, would enable us to get to a shelter
more quickly in case of an air raid. This was the beginning of an
experience I have never forgotten.

During my seven months in France as a soldier I slept every
night but one on the ground or on the floor of mills, barns, and
stables. There is always a draft close to the floor of such farm
buildings, and I soon developed a cold which imperiled my
hearing.

In that war we saw little but rain and mud. But this is not the
reason I recall so clearly the first day that the sun shone. I found
some blackberries along a road that afternoon, and climbed up on
a low stone wall to pick them. While bending over I became
aware that someone was behind me. Looking through my legs I

DECATUR -DekK'RAB LIBRARY
REGIONAL SERVICE
ROCKDALE COUNTY

NEWTON COUNTY



ONE WAY TO GET INTO THE MOVIES

could see the leather puttees of an officer and the end of his little
swagger stick.

I straightened up, turned around, and came to attention. He
was a major.

“As you were!” he said.

I had been taught that “As you were” meant that I should
immediately resume whatever I had stopped doing at the com-
mand “Attention!” As I had been bending over picking black-
berries when interrupted by the major I went back to that. It
never occurred to me that this unimaginative major would wait
there to be confronted squarely in the face with my rear end.
Instead of saying something witty, he hit me over the bottom with
his swagger stick. Caught off balance I fell head first into the
prickly blackberry bushes.

Before I could get up, the major started down the road. I
yelled after him, “I hope your war’s a failurel”

His shoulders wiggled. He may have been amused. The impor-
tant thing is that he didn’t turn back, and I was free to continue
eating those good wild French blackberries.

No matter how tired and dirty we got, no matter how some of
us squawked, there were always doughboys who kept their sense
of humor. I remember the day a mob of us tumbled off an over-
crowded train. We were filthy and felt the cooties were eating
us alive. But one buddy, who was washing and had his face full
of soapsuds, yelled, “Childbirth may be painful, but if you get any
of this Army soap in your eyes it’s helll”

The Army delayed for quite a while before giving us any part
of our thirty-dollar monthly pay. Doubtless, General Pershing did
not want us to waste it on riotous living. Until that first payday
came we thought of nothing but food, for we'd been given nothing
but Army rations—beans, canned corned beef, and hot liquids of
mysterious origin. That first payday we jingled the francs in our
pockets and hurried to get all of the food possible into our bellies.

The rations had brought out the long-dormant executive side
of my character. Weeks before a pal and I had dickered with the
keeper of the nearest French tavern for the franchise on two
plates of steak and French fried potatoes. We had been dreaming
about how that steak would taste every night since.
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But that was going to be only part of our big meal. On getting
our money we went from one farmhouse to another, buying eggs.
They cost a franc apiece and the franc was then worth twenty
cents. But we didn’t stop until we had twenty-two of them.

We carried the eggs to the tavern and asked the owner to use
them for a giant omelet which we ate as a side dish to our steak
and potatoes. The steak was about a quarter-inch thick, but it
tasted better than all of the chateaubriands I've had since.

After the Armistice we were shipped from Amiens to a little
town near Bordeaux. Along with our infantry division, two others
—engineers and machine gunners—were quartered in that town
whose population was about 12,000. That meant 45,000 American
soldiers. We waited there for months to go home and again had
to sleep on the ground or on the floors of barns, mills, and
cellars.

We organized a few entertainments built around our regimental
band. I did a burlesque snake dance and other routines in these
hastily thrown together shows. One day an officer read me a
Headquarters directive instructing me to do my snake dance at
a dinner being given for a brigadier general at his Headquarters
about ten miles away.

I had to walk there. When I finished the show a lieutenant asked
how I was going to get back to town. On hearing I'd have to
walk, he managed to borrow the general’s official car for me.

I might point out here that all of that sleeping on the ground
had done nothing to improve my appearance. My trousers were
still too long, sagged in the seat, and my puttees were full of
knots. My once jaunty overseas cap had shrunk in the rain. Un-
fortunately, the size eight shoes on my size six and one-half feet
had not shrunk at all. And they now had horseshoe plates over
the hobnails.

The general’s insignia was, of course, on the door of the car,
and an American flag flew bravely above it. All of this gave me
an idea. If the general’s orderly, who was driving, would co-oper-
ate, I could surprise any buddies of mine who happened to be in
the town square that night. They all figured to be there.

Another payday had just rolled around which meant every-
one not crippled would be there, singing, drinking that good
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French wine straight from the bottle, and kissing any French girls
within kissing distance.

The orderly agreed to co-operate. So I got into the back seat,
pulled down the car’s side blinds, and suggested he head for the
town’s Hotel Grand. Except for the town hall it was the most
prominent building on the square. None of the carousing privates,
corporals, sergeants, and young officers there had seen a general
for six months, and they all jumped to their feet as the car stopped
before the hotel. The orderly got out and hurried around the car
to open the back door for me. All over the square I could hear
bottles dropping on the ground as the men and officers jumped
up and came to attention. “My” orderly also stood at attention as
I stepped out of the car in my dusty, wrinkled uniform. Over my
shoulder I said, “I won’t need you any more this evening.”

I was permitted to proceed unmolested for about fifteen feet.
Then the whole gang recognized me and let fly with curses, bot-
tles, tomatoes, apples, and eggs.

“You sonofabitch!” went up from hundreds of parched throats.
I cut for the nearest alley, and thanks to my arduous stage con-
ditioning got up enough steam to race out of town, where I slept
peacefully through the night in a barn. I sneaked back again in
the dawn’s early light, but a sergeant spotted me.

“Captain wants to see you, corporal.”

I didn’t know what my captain wanted, though I knew damn
well he wasn't summoning me to promote or decorate me. But
when I reached the captain’s office he said: “Those were two
great shows you put on last night. I liked the second one best—I
could court-martial you, I suppose, but you sure put life into the
old town square last night, not to mention scaring the hell out of
a lot of my young officers who thought they were in for a surprise
tour of inspection. We must not let them get too smug, corporal,
must wep”

I agreed that we mustn't.

Later on I was assigned to a train that was carrying about goo
wounded men to the redistribution center at Le Mans. I was the
only noncommissioned man sent on the trip. It proved a compli-
cated job. We had to get the wounded men all of their equipment
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and rations, then settle more than forty of those poor fellows in
each of twenty-two 40-and-8 boxcars.

On our way back from Le Mans we were to make connections
at Paris for the train to Bordeaux. We could have made them but
preferred to miss them and stay overnight in Paris. As Paris was
out of bounds, that meant technically being AWOL, but it also
meant we'd sleep in beds for one blessed night and could enjoy
a real dinner. I had thirty-five francs for that big feed.

Now I must go back for a moment to an incident that occurred
shortly before I was drafted. For some time Roscoe, Al St. John,
and myself had been annoyed by the airs and graces of a sissy
type Romeo who was paying court to beautiful Anita King, who
was making a picture on the next set.

This ninny would hold her coat, skip ahead to open doors for
her, kiss her hand, and pick up her glove as though she had done
him a favor by dropping it. Needless to say, we found all of this
sickening.

One day I observed that this mushhead was watching us start
a sequence in which Roscoe was to throw a pie at Al who would
duck, letting me, standing right behind him, catch it right in the
face. It was a simple matter, of course, to set this up so that
Anita’s hand-kissing fool would be right behind me. All I had to do
was also duck, and the mincing Romeo got the pie right in his
obsequious kisser.

The three of us ran up, apologized loudly. While pretending
to help clean the mess off his suit we managed to spread it around
a little more. He was suspicious, but had to take our word for it
being an accident. :

On our great night in Paris we were in the middle of our meal
when this same little man, now a major, strutted into the restau-
rant. We stood at attention. I took one look, and the moment he
said, “At easel” I scooted out the back door. If he had recognized
and questioned me, he could have had me court-martialed as
technically AWOL.

By that time I had become almost stone deaf due to my being
exposed to floor drafts each night. Before I was overseas a month
my superiors had to shout orders at me. Late one night I had a
narrow escape while coming back from a card game. A sentry
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challenged me, and I didn’t hear his demand for the password
or the two warnings he gave me after that. Then he pulled back
the breech of his gun, prepared to shoot. My life was saved by
my sixth sense which enabled me to hear that gun click—and
stopped me dead in my tracks. After bawling me out the sentry
listened to my explanation and got me past a second guard.

From that day on the fear of losing my hearing drove me half
crazy permanently. On getting back to New York I was sent to a
receiving hospital which originally had been the Siegel-Cooper
Department Store. Specialists told me I would have to remain
under observation for a while. But they assured me that with
proper treatment my hearing would be restored.

I prayed they were right.

The moment I could get to a telephone I called my girl at her
home. Joe Schenck’s office was nearer the receiving hospital so
she asked him to hurry over. When he saw me Joe looked as
though he was going to cry.

“You look terribly peaked, Buster,” he said. “You’ve lost so much
weight. I never saw you look so sick and miserable.”

“Why shouldn’t I look miserable—with my beauty gone forever?”
I asked.

But I wasn’t fooling Joe Schenck that day with wisecracks. “Of
course you havent any money,” he said. He took out his wallet
and gave me all of the money in it.

The first things I bought with the money were a decent-looking
uniform and shoes that fit me. I wore these the first night I went
to dinner with my girl and her mother in their Park Avenue
apartment.

Shortly afterward the Army sent me to Johns Hopkins Hospital,
in Baltimore, for observation. The doctors there found my hearing
and my health generally so improved they kept me there for only
three days.

While I was in New York I had found it impossible to believe
I was really home. Then one day in Baltimore the doctors let me
take a walk. I headed straight for the local Keith Theatre which
Pop, Mom, and I had played dozens of times in the old days.

I walked through that stage door, and the house manager, the
crew, the orchestra boys, and the acts greeted me like a long lost
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pal. Then I knew I was indeed safe home at last. On the bill was
one of my best friends, Artie Mehlinger, the singer. I stood in
the wings and watched his act—Step, Mehlinger, and King—hop-
ing with all my heart that I would never again have to leave
show business and its bubbling, joy-filled, gifted people.

When I became strong enough to travel I couldn’t wait to get
back to California and my job. I had been mustered into the
service at Camp Kearney, and I should have been mustered out
there. But the discharge clerk made a mistake. He sent me to
Camp Custer, Michigan, because I had given Muskegon, Michi-

gan, as my home on joining the Army.
- Needless to say, this caused considerable confusion at Camp
Custer, but the clerk kindly gave me the fare to go on to Los
Angeles. The mistake enabled me to see my folks and our old
neighbors, but I was so eager to get back to work that I stayed
in Muskegon for only three days.
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Before I was out of uniform I received two $1,000-a-week offers.
One was from Jack Warner, the other from the William Fox
Company. But I preferred to resume working for Joe Schenck at
my old salary of $250. I couldn’t see how I could go wrong string-
ing along with a square shooter like him who had been so kind to
my family. I had never met a finer man in show business. I haven’t
yet.

I sometimes wonder if the world will ever seem as carefree and
exciting a place as it did to us in Hollywood during 1919 and the
early twenties. We were all young, the air in southern California
was like wine. Our business was also young and growing like
nothing ever seen before.

Nobody suspected that the World War just ending would prove
to be merely the first one. Had not President Wilson proclaimed
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it the war to end all wars—if we jumped in and did the dirty
job? '

There were bad times elsewhere in the country for a while.
And there were other troubles: strikes, race riots, a Red scare.
But everybody said that was to be expected with millions of men
getting out of uniform and trying to find civilian jobs.

In Hollywood you could all but feel prosperity in the sun-
bleached air. Actors, directors, and other lucky people were get-
ting salaries unheard of before in show business or, for that mat-
ter, any industry. That was what we had become overnight: an
industry that was straddling the globe. Combines were forming
and re-forming with skullduggery on a scale to make a Ponzi or a
George Graham Rice sick with wistfulness.

War industries had put money into the pockets of millions
of Americans who never before had money to pay for entertain-
ment. Everywhere magnificent theatres seating thousands of per-
sons were being built. These were designed to make the movie
fans feel like kings and queens. Now the stage show, when there
was one, was the secondary attraction. |

The most important of all the movie groups formed that year
was United Artists, which was founded by the world’s three most
beloved movie stars—Mary Pickford, Douglas Fairbanks, and
Charlie Chaplin—and D. W. Griffith, the screen’s most distin-
guished director.

Each of the four, it was announced, would control every detail
in the producing of his own pictures, including their financing.
United Artists’ one function was to be distribution of their films.

I made only two more two-reelers with Roscoe. Then Adolph
Zukor, head of Famous Players-Lasky Corporation and an ever-
growing chain of movie theatres, bought Arbuckle’s contract from
Joe Schenck. Zukor had decided to star Roscoe in full-length, five-
reel features. The Roundup, the first of these, was a box-office
triumph. i

Shortly afterward, in January 1920, Marcus Loew bought the
Metro studio. He wanted to make sure his chain of theatres would
have a steady supply of quality pictures. Its stars then included
Nazimova, Viola Dana, Bert Lytell, and May Allison, among
others. Being a good showman, Loew saw from the beginning the
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need for better stories. He engaged John Golden, the Broadway
playwright, song writer, and producer, as an adviser on theatrical
properties. Among other old plays Golden suggested he buy was
The New Henrietta, in which the famous William H. Crane had
starred on Broadway. Douglas Fairbanks had played the juvenile
role of “Bertie Van Alstyne” on Broadway, and also portrayed the
same character, Bertie, in his first picture, The Lamb.

When Doug and Mary Pickford, who were married soon after-
ward, were asked to suggest someone to play Bertie in the Metro
version of The New Henrietta, they said, “You have the perfect
man for it right here. Fellow named Buster Keaton.”

Mr. Crane was brought out to play his original role, but the
story was rewritten so that Bertie became the main character. It
was called The Saphead and ran for seven reels at a time when
Metro’s biggest dramatic stars were making only five-reelers.
This picture, the first I was starred in, was one of the company’s
big hits that year.

But the golden age of comedy was just beginning. The whole
world wanted to laugh as never before, and Hollywood had the
clowns to do the job. There were soon to be years when the pic-
tures of Chaplin, Harold Lloyd, and myself would outdraw the
pictures of most the screen’s romantic stars. Mack Sennett’s Key-
stone Cops and Bathing Beauties were still popular. But that king
of comedy makers was soon to be overshadowed.

One reason was that Sennett could not or would not pay the
performers who started with him the sort of money other studios
offered them. He kept losing them as fast as they became promi-
nent. And what talent he developed! Chaplin and Arbuckle were
only two of them. Charlie Murray, Andy Clyde, Chester Conklin,
Clyde Cook, Hank Mann, Ford Sterling, Harry Gribbon, Heinie
Mann, and Ben Turpin were Keystone Cops at one time or other.
Even Harold Lloyd was a Keystone Cop briefly. Gloria Swanson,
Carole Lombard, Marie Prevost were among his bathing beauties.
W. C. Fields, Mabel Normand, Wallace Beery, Polly Moran,
Marie Dressler, Louise Fazenda, and Bing Crosby all made their
early movies with him,

However, there is one guy who never worked for Mack Sennett,
although practically every screen historian insists he did. That’s
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me, Buster Keaton. It was an easy enough mistake to make be-
cause I appeared in so many of Roscoe Arbuckle’s comedies im-
mediately after he quit Sennett.

In those free-and-easy days we all had fun making comedies.
We worked hard. We stayed with the story all of the way. In the
old days all of us—Chaplin, Lloyd, Harry Langdon, and myself—
worked with our writers from the day they started on a story. We
checked on the scenery, the cast, the locations—often going on
trips with the unit manager to pick these out ourselves and make
sure they were suitable. We directed our own pictures, making up
our own gags as we went along, saw the rushes, supervised the
cutting, went to the sneak previews.

Because of the way we worked in those days I am baffled by
the lackadaisical working habits of many modern-comedy stars.
This could be one of the reasons for the deterioration in screen
comedy since the talkies came in. There are other reasons, of
course. In the silent days we could try anything at all, and did.
We were not supervised by business executives who lacked a
sense of humor. We were the ones who decided what should go
into a script to make the audience laugh. All our bosses asked of
us was that our pictures make fortunes, and our pictures did.

In the early twenties we also had a whale of a time for our-
selves after working hours playing practical jokes. In this Roscoe
and I were aided by Lew Cody, the screen Romeo, Syd Chaplin,
Charlie’s half brother, and other happy-go-lucky confederates.
Some of our practical jokes are still rated as classics. First-rate
practical jokes, by the way, are far easier to dream up than to
execute.

We worked ours only for laughs. We never used cruel gimmicks
that hurt and humiliated people. I mean such things as the hot
foot, the electric goosing cane, the “electric chair,” and the bugged
boudoir sofas, wired so that every word and sound a love-making
couple makes can be heard by their fellow guests in the other
- rooms of the house.

Our practical jokes were of the sort the victims could laugh at
with us later on. They were quite ingenious. This earthy art, by
the way, is the subject of much misunderstanding. Really clever
practical jokes are impossible to plan and put over on the spur of
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the moment. They must be plotted as carefully as a movie sce-
nario, but precautions must be taken to protect the gag in the
event something goes wrong. .

Soon after Joe Schenck sold Arbuckle’s contract to Famous
Players-Lasky we read in the newspapers that Roscoe’s new boss,
Adolph Zukor, was about to make his annual trip to Hollywood.
During this visit he would inspect the studios, confer with his
executives, and discuss the plans for the lot’s stars.

On hearing this earth-shaking news, Roscoe wired Mr. Zukor
an invitation to dine with him and a small party of other Zukor
admirers at the humble Arbuckle home on his first night there.
Mr. Zukor promptly wired back: “Delighted to accept.”

I was cast as the butler. We relied on the theory that no one
looks at the butler. I had not yet been starred in a picture. It
seemed unlikely that anyone in Mr. Zukor’s party would recog-
nize me, even though Frank Newman, the well-known Kansas
City exhibitor, was in the group. But as an added precaution
there would be only shaded lights in the three downstairs rooms
where the guests would have a chance to see me—just in case
one of them was the odd type that looks at butlers.

All of the Hollywood people we invited were in on the gag.
Among them was Sid Grauman, the builder and operator of the
Egyptian and Chinese Theatres in Hollywood, who was himself
one of Hollywood’s outstanding pranksters. For women guests we
had four beautiful screen performers: Bebe Daniels, Viola Dana,
Anna Q. Nilsson, and Alice Lake. Before the dinner Roscoe briefed
them. He explained, “Nothing is quite so humiliating as giving
away a practical joke to the person who is supposed to be the
fall guy. So if something we do breaks you up, turn quickly to the
man at your side, and tell him, ‘T was just thinking of something
that happened at the studio today. It was the funniest thing——’
But you must have a really funny story ready, or else he'll think
you are silly to be laughing so uproariously at something that, to
him, doesn’t sound amusing at all.”

On the great night, the guests sat down after enjoying several
rounds of cocktails. I brought in a tray of shrimp cocktails. Ignor-
ing Roscoe’s glaring eyes, I served these to the men, beginning
with Mr. Zukor, our guest of honor. The shrimp were very large
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and luscious looking. Though somewhat embarrassed at being
served ahead of the women, a couple of the men could not resist
the shrimps and ate one or two.

When I came in with a second platter of shrimps and placed
these before the girls, Roscoe was unable to restrain himself. With
an embarrassed smile, he apologized to his guests, rose from the
table, and followed me out to the butler’s pantry. There he yelled
loudly enough for them to hear, “You stupid numbskull, don’t you
know better than to serve the men first?”

He was hardly back at the table when I was out once more to
shift the men’s half-eaten shrimps. to the women and theirs to the
men.

My next appearance was with a stack of soup plates and a sil-
ver ladle, which I placed carefully on the table next to Roscoe.
But I brought in no soup. Instead, once back in the pantry, I
created a terrible din by rattling dozens of knives and forks in a
tin washtub, then dropping the whole business on the floor. I also
doused myself with water so I'd look as though I'd spilled the
consommé all over myself. I went back to the dining room and
placidly, explaining nothing, took away the soup plates and
ladle.

This put Roscoe into so explosive a rage that Mr. Zukor, from
away out in right field (the other end of the long table), leaned
forward and said earnestly, “That is perfectly all right, Roscoe.
I never eat soup anyway.”

Roscoe refused to be placated by this comforting news. He told
his chief, sorrowfully, “We have a terrible problem here, Mr.
Zukor—the servant problem.”

Zukor, nodding in agreement, said, “But, Roscoe, in the East
we also find it impossible to find intelligent servants.”

At this point I reappeared, carrying ice water in a silver pitcher.
As I moved around the table I filled each guest’s glass. That is
until I got to Bebe Daniels, who was sitting next to Roscoe. I
passed her by, and as I was about to pour Roscoe’s ice water,
Bebe held up her glass, and asked, “Won't you give me some,
please?” .

Seemingly bewitched by her beauty, I stared down into her
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great brown eyes as I poured. I missed her glass but splashed the
ice water into Roscoe’s face.

With a bellow Roscoe jumped up, grabbed me by the back of
the neck, and started to drag me back into the pantry.

“Roscoe, control yourself]” wailed Mr. Zukor. An imaginative
man, he could see his great new comedy star bursting a blood
vessel before his very eyes.

Arbuckle permitted me to escape. After his guests dried him
off he sat down with a hopeless and defeated air in his drenched
tuxedo. He resumed the discussion about the terrible servant prob-
lem, gradually working himself up into another rage. And nobody
could fake anger better than goodhearted Roscoe.

“I am going to give up this house and move into a hotel,” he
roared, banging on the table.

Willing to say anything to calm him, the flustered Mr. Zukor
went the limit. He said he would give up his house in the East
and move to a hotel.

“I think I have the explanation of this man’s inept behavior,”
then said Sid Grauman. “A while ago I went to telephone, Roscoe,
and I saw him take a manhattan.”

Before Roscoe could comment, Zukor purred, “You see, Roscoe,
your butler has entered into the spirit of the occasion.”

But now came the piéce de résistance of the evening. For this,
we had obtained the help of Roscoe’s physical trainer.

The piéce de résistance was a twenty-four-pound turkey,
browned to a turn, and surrounded by artfully arranged sprigs of
parsley, potatoes, and sculptured cranberry sauce. I brought it in
on a beautiful silver platter.

I showed the turkey to Roscoe, who nodded and smiled. “Carve
it in the pantry,” he said.

At the pantry door I dropped my service napkin. As I bent over
to retrieve it, Roscoe’s trainer pushed the pantry door, hitting me
on the backside and propelling me astride the turkey. I was cov-
ered with turkey gravy when I got to my feet. But feeding the
guests being the first thing on my mind I lost no time in trying to
brush off the crushed and battered turkey with my napkin.

Gurgling with maniacal fury, Roscoe again grabbed me by the
neck and hauled me into the pantry. The last view the guests had
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of me I was still trying to clean off the turkey enough to make it
presentable.

Once the door shut Roscoe made an ungodly racket by throw-
ing around dishpans, pots, and knives and forks. Above the din,
Roscoe could be heard shouting, “I'll kill you, you damned dumb
bastard.”

Meanwhile back in the dining room the agitated Mr. Zukor was
pleading with Bebe Daniels to go into the pantry and try to calm
down the raging fat man.

Then something happened that was not in the script. As Bebe
got to the door it was pushed open by Roscoe who wanted the
guests to see him brandishing a brandy bottle over my head. It
was, of course, a breakaway bottle. We had filled it with tea.
When Roscoe smashed this over my head some of the pieces and
a good deal of the tea fell on poor Bebe’s bosom.

Not knowing what hit her, she screamed. Without waiting to
investigate, Roscoe chased me through the back door. There he
permitted the guests to catch up with him and stop him from
murdering me.

While they were all jabbering and milling around out there,
I raced around the house to the front door. I slipped in and tip-
toed upstairs where I cleaned up, got into a natty sack suit, and
brushed my hair flat. I'd fluffed it up for the butler bit.

Downstairs, Roscoe, having allowed his guests to calm him down
once again, was having his real butler (whom he introduced as
his chef) serve a second turkey. Luckily, he told his guests, he
had had two birds roasted just in case one proved not to be enough.
As his servant, wearing a chef’s hat and apron, was serving this
the phone at Arbuckle’s side rang. It was I, phoning from up-
stairs. He listened to me for a moment, then replied, “Why yes,
Buster. I'm glad you could make it. We have almost finished din-
ner, but if you come right now you can at least have dessert and
coffee with us.” '

On hanging up, he said, “That was the little fellow who has
been working with me in my pictures. You gentlemen must have
seen him. I'm sure you will want to meet him.”

Zukor said I was a wonderful performer. Grauman chimed in
with, “He’s the rarest kind of actor: the unforgettable type.”

116



WHEN THE WORLD WAS OURS

I crept down the stairs and out of the house. Once safely on the
porch I rang the bell. On joining the party I was introduced to
the guests from the East and seated next to Frank Newman, the
Kansas City exhibitor, who said, “You should have been here ear-
lier, Keaton. We had the damnedest waiter you ever saw.” Then
he hesitated and gave me an appraising look. “The odd part is
that he looks very much like you.” That caused Mr. Zukor to scru-
tinize me more closely. Then he got it but took it dead pan. His
eyes moved from me to Roscoe, then back to me. Sid Grauman
was the first to laugh. Pointing his finger at Zukor, he said deri-
sively, “Then came the dawn.”

Zukor didn’t smile, just said in an even tone, “Very clever boys,
very clever!”

But he loosened up later when Roscoe took everybody to the
Ship Café, at Venice, for some drinks. At midnight we all went
back to his house for a few snacks.

Next day Zukor surprised us all by telling reporters about the
hilarious dinner Roscoe had given him, and the story was printed
all over the country. When Zukor got back to New York, his old
friend, Marcus Loew, kidded him about being taken in.

“What did you expect to happen, you stupid man?” demanded
Loew. “You knew whose house you were going to. You should
have expected just such shenanigans from a man like Fatty
Arbuckle.”

When word of this reached us, we decided that such disrespect
for our practical jokes must not go unpunished. When Loew made
his annual visit to the Coast to inspect his new studio, Roscoe
contrived to be on the Metro lot, visiting a friend.

Running into Loew just as he was leaving, Roscoe asked,
“Where are you going from here?r”

“To the Alexandria Hotel,” replied Mr. Loew. “I'm stopping
there.”

“What a coincidence!” exclaimed Roscoe. “I am going there
right now. Can’t I drive you there? My chauffeur is waiting
outside.”

I, of course, was the chauffeur. I wore livery, a mustache,
and goggles. The Alexandria, then the hotel in Los Angeles, was
downtown. I drove my passengers straight down to Alvarado
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Street, where I turned up a street so steep that you could only
make it to the top in low gear. And the top—when you got there—
was shaped like a whale’s back, from which one looked straight
down into Silver Lake directly below.

I had raced cars so much in our comedy movie chases that I
had become quite an expert at wild crazy driving. But that day
I delivered my most masterful exhibition. As we started up the
hill in low gear, I raced the motor. The racket this produced con-
vinced Mr. Loew that we were achieving rocketlike speed, though
we couldn’t have been making more than fifteen or sixteen miles
an hour. And I did not brake the car until we were straddling
the street’s whaleback top, the eminence from which my passen-
gers and I could look down straight into Silver Lake.

Instead of plunging down, I braked and reversed the car, com-
ing down the hill by another route. Next I gave Mr. Loew a rough
ride by taking a short cut through a recently plowed orange grove.

Close by this grove was a street on which there were six trolley-
car tracks. The outer tracks on each side were used by the local
trolleys, those in the middle by the express interurban cars. The
center tracks were reserved for use in rare emergencies.

Needless to say, Roscoe and I had made a careful study of the
line’s schedule. We had also measured our car and found to our
delight that it would just straddle the emergency tracks. This
meant that the express cars would narrowly miss our auto’s front
and rear if I could stall the car in precisely the right position.

About a block from the spot we had selected for our exhilarating
little adventure, I started to make the engine cough. This gave Mr.
Loew fair warning (even though our harassed guest could not
take advantage of it) that our motor might stop dead. This hap-
pened just as we got across the middle tracks.

With a disgusted shrug, I got out, lifted the hood. After staring
at the motor for some time, I walked to the toolbox and got a
whole armful of monkey wrenches, hammers, and other tools. I
started to work on the rebellious motor, and Roscoe stepped out
to help me.

We noticed with satisfaction that the trolleys were right on
schedule. First an express car whizzed by at about sixty-five miles
an hour, narrowly missing our front end. Next, one headed the
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other way missed our rear end just as narrowly. Meanwhile on the
outer tracks the local trolleys were racing past in both directions
at no mean speed. Between one speed-mad trolley and another,
Marcus Loew was too nerve-wracked to jump out and run for his
life.

Only when we decided he was thoroughly cowed did we get
the car started. And en route to the Alexandria I was lucky enough
to come across a street which had recently been washed. This
enabled me to demonstrate my skill at skidding and turning cor-
ners on two wheels.

As we approached the hotel I managed to put the fender and
the two left wheels up on the sidewalk. At this Marcus Loew got
out of the car so damn fast we missed the chance to ask him how
he had enjoyed the ride. Marcus went through the Alexandria’s
revolving door like a whirling dervish.

Roscoe went up to Loew’s suite first. That frightened million-
aire, though never much of a drinking man, was putting away his
second straight slug of whiskey. When I walked into the suite a
few moments later, I took off the chauffeur’s cap, goggles, and
false mustache. Mr. Loew lashed around for something heavy
enough to throw at me.

But after that first tense moment, Marcus Loew started laugh-
ing and kept on until he almost became sick.

Some of the great movie queens of that day also were good
sports, Pauline Frederick for one. Polly was one of the first of the
truly talented Broadway beauties to make her fortune and increase
her fame in pictures, playing to great success in such screen melo-
dramas as “Zaza,” “La Tosca,” and “Madame X.”

Miss Frederick was also the first screen star to build a luxurious
home in the Beverly Hills section of Sunset Boulevard. Her
mansion stood on an immense lot with a 150-foot front. But
Polly’s gardeners had endless difficulty in growing the imposing
lawn she had set her heart on. The experts she called in blamed
it on the heavy amount of alkali and adobe mud in the soil. But
after spending many thousands of dollars Polly finally got the
velvety lawn she wanted.

Every time Roscoe and I drove past her mansion he called my
attention to the progress her landscape gardeners were making.
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Soon after their work was completed he called me and Lew Cody
to the studio early one Sunday morning and had us put on dirty,
old workmen’s clothes that we dug out of the studio’s wardrobe
department. We dumped surveyors’ instruments, picks, shovels,
and other tools in the back of a beat-up old Model-T Ford that
we’d been using in our chase sequences, and drove it to Beverly
Hills. We parked the Ford in front of Polly’s magnificent estate.
Before getting out, we pulled our hats down over our foreheads
and our bandannas up over our chins. We dumped our equipment
in the middle of Miss Frederick’s beautiful lawn and prepared
to go to work. | |

We set up a tripod, and Lew measured the ground through the
telescope. Meanwhile, Roscoe and I got ready to assault the
expensive green scenery with our picks and shovels.

In no time at all Miss Frederick’s butler came running out of
the house in a panic. “What are you men doing?” he demanded.

“We are from the Beverly Hills Gas and Electricity Depart-
ment,” I explained politely. “There is a leak in our gas main
somewhere along here. We'll have to dig up this lawn to find it.”
He was joined first by Polly’s chauffeur and then by her horrified
head gardener. The gardener protested that a great fortune had
been spent on the lawn we were trying to dig up.

“Oh, we can see that,” said Lew Cody, placidly, “but duty is
duty. If there was an explosion and that big house of yours was
blown up, what would we say to our superintendent?”

The argument was getting heated and noisy when two windows
on the mansion’s second floor popped open. In another moment
Pauline and her uncle, in dressing gowns, were out on the lawn,
pleading with us not to wreck it. Then Polly recognized us. When
she stopped laughing she invited us in and served us a breakfast
fit for a king.

We enjoyed our little joke so much that we planned to repeat
it at Pickfair, the estate of Douglas Fairbanks and Mary Pickford,
which had an even bigger and more expensive lawn. But we were
the victims of our own success. The story went all over Hollywood
too quickly for us to work it on anyone else.

Our most elaborate practical joke though was played on Vic
Levy, a Belgian dress manufacturer who lived in Los Angeles. Vic
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doted on movie people and had entertained crowds of us at big
parties in his home at which he served the best imported wines.

But that was only until Prohibition arrived. Against that evil
day Vic had stored an immense stock of vintage wines. But he
got very stingy with these. He let you look admiringly at the stuff
in his cellar but served only bootleg booze and near beer at his
parties. Roscoe and I almost developed a persecution complex
over this as we had been Vic’s most appreciative guests.

We decided to teach him a lesson that would bring him back
to his senses—and his hospitable habits.

But we could think of no way to show him his error in becoming
so tight with his vintage wine until we read that the King and
Queen of his native land were in America and would visit Los
Angeles while here. During the war Vic had devoted much time
to organizing benefits for the Belgian War Charities, a circum-
stance that inspired us.

We called in Syd Chaplin as our practical joke consultant. He
suggested that stationery from the local Belgian consuls office
would prove useful, and got it for us. We wrote a letter to Vic on
this stationery, saying that Their Royal Highnesses had expressed
a desire to dine incognito in Los Angeles at some prominent Bel-
gian’s home.

Because of Mr. Levy’s selfless services in raising money for
Belgian war sufferers, the consulate had selected him for this
unique honor. The letter went on to explain that, though it was
not generally known, the King and the Queen had long been
great movie fans. If Mr. Levy wished to surprise his Monarch and
the Queen he would invite their favorites.

Among those we listed as favorites of the King and Queen were
the three of us, Tom Mix, Hoot Gibson, Lew Cody, Marshall
Neilan, Jack Pickford, Norman Kerry. These all were to come with
their wives or sweethearts.

The letter went on to say that the King and Queen would fly
down from San Francisco and would arrive at a local airport two
hours before the time announced in the newspapers. Glowing
with pride on getting the letter, Levy did not doubt its authen-
ticity for an instant. Our next task was to produce a fake King and
Queen. Going through the casting book we found a man and
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woman who were dead ringers for the Belgian rulers. We rented
costumes for them from the Western Costume Company. For our
phony King we got a duplicate of the Army uniform which he
wore on all public appearances. For the fake Queen we got the
Sunday-go-to-meeting clothes and fantastic hats the Belgian
Queen, like all European Queens, then wore—apparently to
outdo Queen Mary of Great Britain.

For many days Vic abandoned his business affairs to take per-
sonal charge of the preparations for the gala party. He decided
that his own cook would not do and borrowed a chef from the
Jonathan Club for that one evening. He hired a Russian string
orchestra to play during dinner, a maid, and a couple of extra
butlers. He also chartered a limousine, attended by a chauffeur
and footman, to carry our impostors from the airfield to his home.
Our impostors took off in a plane from Burbank and landed at the |
Chaplin Field in Los Angeles, which is only a few minutes away.
We had a dozen motorcycle cops on hand and four “Los Angeles
police detectives” (really movie extras) to pose as bodyguards.

On arriving we found that Vic had decorated his house with
acres of flowers and crossed Belgian and American flags.

It was a most elegant dinner and beautifully served, with a
different wine with each course. Rare old 100-year-old Napoleon
brandy and liqueurs almost as ancient were brought in with the
coffee.

We cutups and cute kids only had one bad moment during that
unforgettable meal. This came when the host leaned toward His
Highness and said something in French. But the extra man who
was playing king for a night saved the gag. He had the presence
of mind to say that while he was in a foreign land he preferred
to speak the language of the country.

The whole thing was so beautifully done that no one told Vic
the real story. And when he heard three months later how he had
been hoaxed he refused to believe it. It was months more before
he accepted the true story. On finding out who the main con-
spirators were and why he had been deceived, he laughed, and
from then on, each time we were his guests, we were served only

the very best stuff in his cellar.
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While I was making The Saphead Joe Schenck bought the Charlie
Chaplin lot and renamed it the Keaton Studio. When I finished
that picture he turned over Arbuckle’s unit to me and handed me
a new contract, which gave me $1,000 a week, plus 25 per cent
of the profits my pictures made. I suggested that I make only fea-
tures in the future, but he wouldnt agree. Schenck insisted I
return to the two-reel field. I couldn’t convince him that comedy
features were the coming thing. If I'd won that argument it could
have made a big difference in my career. Neither Chaplin nor
Lloyd were making features at that time, and I would have had
a headstart on both of them.

In saying this, I am not trying to belittle the achievements of
either of them. But who could? Their popularity is even more im-
pressive today than in the twenties when they were active.
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No comedian ever has been so worshipped around the world
as Chaplin was in those years. Kids in the streets of cities and
towns on the five continents imitated Charlie’s quarter-to-nine
walk, his smile, gestures. They wore derbies like his, smudged
shoeblack on their upper lip for a Chaplin mustache. They skit-
tered around corners and tipped their derbies as his little tramp
did, tried to do the tricks Charlie did with his bamboo cane. Thea-
tres all over the world kept holding endless Charlie Chaplin
contests. Their customers insisted on it. It is not too hard to un-
derstand. At his best, and Chaplin remained at his best for a long
time, he was the greatest comedian that ever lived.

Like everyone else, I'd been aware of Charlie Chaplin’s talent
from the first time I saw him in the vaudeville sketch “A Night in
an English Hall.” But I must confess that it never occurred to me
that he would one day be acclaimed as the greatest comedian of
all time. One reason I underestimated Charlie, I think, was be-
cause there were so many other first-rate comics on the stage in
those days. I had seen all of them, worked in vaudeville with all
of them. At that time Charlie did not seem to me funnier than
Will Rogers, Willie Collier, Bert Williams, Frank Tinney, and
some of the others.

I was always puzzled later on when people spoke of the simi-
larities in the characters Charlie and I played in movies. There
was, to me, a basic difference from the start: Charlie’s tramp was
a bum with a bum’s philosophy. Lovable as he was he would steal
if he got the chance. My little fellow was a workingman and
honest.

For an example, let us say that each wanted a suit he saw in a
shop window. Charlie’s tramp would admire it, search his pockets,
come up with a dime, shrug, and move on, hoping he’d be lucky
next day and have the money to buy it. He would steal the money
if he couldn’t find it any other way. If not, he would forget all
about the suit.

Though my little man also stopped, admired the suit, and had
not the money to buy it, he would never steal to get it. Instead he
would start trying to figure out how he could earn extra money to
pay for it.

Lloyd’s screen character was quite different from both Chap-

126



BOFFOS BY MAN AND BEAST

lin's and mine. He played a mama’s boy who continually sur-
prised everyone, including himself, by triumphing over an im-
possible situation and displaying, in fits and starts, the fighting
heart of a lion. Often Lloyd seemed more acrobat than comedian.
But whatever he was on the screen he always did a lot better than
all right.

During the years the three of us were going good we had no
failures. That's right. There were no flops for any of us all through
the Golden Twenties. Nothing but smash hits all over the world.
Chaplin’s features earned an average of $3,000,000 each in theatre
rental fees. Lloyd’s $2,000,000; mine between $1,500,000 and
$2,000,000. That was in a day when theatres charged only a frac-
tion of what they charge now for their attractions. As I have said,
often our silent comedies out-grossed the feature films made by
the most popular romantic performers in Hollywood.

When we were making two-reelers theatre owners would bill

them above the full-length films they were showing.
- That was one reason I was eager to make features like those
Roscoe Arbuckle was successfully turning out at Paramount. It
seemed obvious that rental fees for full-length pictures would con-
tinue increasing. But I also believed that Joe Schenck, being a
shrewd businessman, must know what he was talking about.

Charlie Chaplin and Harold Lloyd from the start were smarter
businessmen than I. They became millionaires early in the game
by producing their own pictures and retaining control of their film
properties. They still own these properties. This means they are
in a position to earn fresh fortunes for themselves any time they
feel like leasing or selling the TV rights to their old silent movies.
(As this was written Chaplin’s old movies, in fact, were being re-
vived successfully. )

No one knows exactly how much money Chaplin made out of
his pictures, possibly not even Charlie himself. The reason is that
there is no way of figuring out how much they cost. There is no
secret though about how much Lloyd’s features earned for him.
These each cost from $300,000 to $350,000 to make. The distribu-
tion costs were about 35 per cent of the $2,000,000 in the rentals
paid for them, or $700,000. That puts Lloyd’s earnings at almost
one million dollars per full-length feature!l Or about $30,000,000
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in all for the thirty features Lloyd made. The bankers got none
of this loot because Harold, as soon as he was able to finance his
own pictures, stopped borrowing from them. My own features
cost from $200,000 to $220,000 to make. Add to that 35 per cent of
the rental fees, and you can compute the profits. I refuse to do
it on the grounds that it will degrade and depress me.

As long as we're on the subject I will break down and admit
that I, like everyone else, would like to be a millionaire. Yet it also
seems to me that I am a far happier man today than either Lloyd,
who retired years ago, or Chaplin, who is in virtual exile.

I never knew a real actor who was happy when he wasn’t work-
ing. And working is something I manage to do a lot of these days,
between appearing in night clubs, in summer theatres and Eu-
ropean circuses, an occasional movie job, TV guest appearances
and doing commercials for Alka-Seltzer, Northwest Orient Air-
lines, and other companies.

I like to think that I'm a man so devoted to acting that having
a million bucks would not stop me. At the same time I wonder if
I could have as much fun and satisfaction. Could I really work as
hard as I do if I had more money than I could spend during the
rest of my life?

It has been my observation that being a millionaire alters almost
everybody’s attitude, and can be as distracting as inheriting a zoo
or a harem. The only millionaires I ever saw working in a circus
were the folks who owned it. Millionaires, willingly or not, take
on a certain dignity. Some of this may be due, of course, to the
wistful way other people look at them. Getting very rich, shall we
say, eliminates some of the incentive for taking pratfalls and
clowning it up generally as I do every time I work.

In this also may lie a clue to why certain of today’s comedians
don’t work any harder than they do. Some of them became mil-
lionaires awfully fast.

After writing all of this it occurs to me that I might be far less
philosophical on this subject if I were broke. But if I'm no mil-
lionaire, I'm not poor either. I drive a Cadillac, have a beautiful
home deep in the San Fernando Valley and a pretty wife, and
there is nothing I want that I cannot buy. The fact is that I'm
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rapidly approaching the point where I'm making almost as much
as when I was a $3,000-a-week silent-movie star.

‘m still, thanks to our income tax laws, in no danger of becom-
ing a millionaire. As George Gobel would say, they just dont
hardly make those kind no more.

I loved having my own studio. Schenck and Anger very seldom
interfered with me. Neither did Metro which released my first
two-reelers. I was able to supervise each phase of my pictures.
Movie-making was a very informal business in those days, of
course. When the boss walked into a studio the carpenter and the
electrician could call him by his first name.

The greatest thing about working in a small studio like ours was
having the same bunch of men going with me as a team on each
new movie. The director, two or three writers, and myself would
figure out the story. But the others—the prop man, the unit man-
ager who found our locations, the two cameramen, and the cutter
—all sat in with us.

Because we worked this way each man in the crew knew what
would be required of his department, thereby eliminating much
of the fantastic waste of time, energy, and money that later went
on in the big studios.

Two cameramen, by the way, were necessary in those days be-
cause we shot everything with two cameras placed side by side.
One made the negative for the American market, the other the
negative for the market abroad. After the first American print had
been cut, edited, previewed, furnished with subtitles, and was
ready for release, the European negative was matched to it and
shipped abroad where title and subtitles were translated into the
various foreign languages.

Even when making my two-reelers I worked on the theory that
the story was always of first importance. But one thing we never
did when making our silent comedies was put the story down on
paper. On the other hand I never would agree to start shooting
until I had in my mind a satisfactory ending for a story. The
beginning was easy, the midddle took care of itself, and I knew
I could depend on my writers and myself to come up with any
gags we might need as we went along.

The daily story conferences at the studio usually lasted from ten
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to six. We worked the six-day week then, but I never was such a
bear cat for work that I couldn’t take time off on a Saturday after-
noon to see any big football games.

What I never could understand was why I got so few good
ideas during those long story conferences. My best notions would
invariably occur to me at home, more often than not in the least
inspiring room in the house, the bathroom. But I also never went
fishing without coming back with a brand-new story idea.

The cast for our two-reelers was always small. There were usu-
ally but three principals—the villain, myself, and the girl, and she
was never important. She was there so the villian and I would
have something to fight about.

The leading lady had to be fairly good-looking, and it helped
some if she had a little acting ability. As far as I was concerned I
didn’t insist that she have a sense of humor. There was always
the danger that such a girl would laugh at a gag in the middle
of a scene, which meant ruining it and having to remake it.

By now, of course, all sorts of laurels have been handed the
slapstick comedies that Chaplin, Lloyd, Harry Langdon, and I
made. They have been acclaimed as screen classics, masterpieces
of the comic art.

This is most flattering, but it came as a complete surprise to me.
I never realized I was doing anything but trying to make people
laugh when I threw my custard pies and took pratfalls. Like any-
one else I enjoy being called a genius. But I cannot take it seri-
ously. Neither does Harold Lloyd, as far as I know. The only one
of us who listened and accepted the role of genius intellectual
critics thrust upon him was Chaplin. Sometimes I suspect that
much of the trouble he’s been in started the first time he read
that he was a “sublime satirist” and a first-rate artist. He believed
every word of it and tried to live and think accordingly.

One reason I never took extravagant praise seriously was be-
cause neither I, my director, nor my gagmen were writers in any
literary sense. The writers most often on my staff were Clyde
Bruckman, Joe Mitchell, and Jean Havez. They never wrote any-
thing but gags, vaudeville sketches, and songs. I dont think any
of them ever had his name on a book, a short story, or even an
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article in a fan magazine, entitled, “How to Write Gags for the
Movies.”

They were not word guys, at all.

They didn’t have to be. The only words we had to write were
for the title and subtitles. The fewer subtitles we used the better
it was for the picture. What made audiences laugh at our silent
comedies was what they watched happening on the screen. The
sight gags we used served to bring out the absurdity of things,
people’s actions, the preposterous situations the movie characters
got into and had to escape.

From time to time we brought famous and talented writers
from New York. I do not recall a single one of these novelists,
magazine writers, and Broadway playwrights who was able to
write the sort of material we needed. An example is Al Boasberg.
When the talkies came in Al Boasberg became the best-paid gag
writer in Hollywood, a walking marvel of verbal firecrackers and
yak-getting wows. But he had been a terrible flop when he tried
to do sight gags for us. So were a hundred other writers we im-
ported from New York. It is possible, of course, that we kept send-
ing for the wrong ones.

I always thought that Otto Soglow, the cartoonist who draws
“The Little King,” would have made a great success dreaming up
sight gags for us. But I never was able to complete the arrange-
ments to bring him to the Coast.

Bugs Baer is another one who could not have missed. I think
he would have made the same sensation writing sight gags as he
scored with the daily humorous columns he is still doing for the
Hearst newspapers.

I actually did manage in 1922 to hire Bugs Baer to write gags
for me. I had gone to New York to attend the World Series that
fall and ran into Bugs at the Friars Club. He told me he was very
sore at Hearst at the moment. When I offered him a job he ac-
cepted it immediately.

Though eager to work with me, Bugs explained that he was
getting married and would be away for two or three weeks on his
honeymoon.

When he arrived at the studio I asked him where he and his
bride had gone on their honeymoon. “Oh,” he said, “we went to
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that place they call ‘the bride’s second disappointment,” you know,
Niagara Falls.”

Bugs had hardly picked out his desk when long-distance calls
started flooding the studio switchboard. A procession of Western
Union boys also began streaming in. It turned out that Bugs had
told nobody in the Hearst organization that he was quitting.
They had just found out about that and that he was working for
me. Bugs’s editors informed him that they had him sewed up un-
der an iron-clad contract. The messages reminding him of this,
ranged in tone and spirit from, “Come home, dear Bugs, come
home to us now” to “Our lawyers will call on you tomorrow!”

As the day wore on the wires became more urgent. Any
stranger reading them or listening in on the frantic incoming
phone calls would have thought I had kidnaped Bugs Baer and
was holding him for ransom. The Hearst executives had gone to
my boss, Joe Schenck, for he wired me from New York, “Release
Bugs Baer at once.”

They also appealed to Will Hays, newly appointed czar of the
Motion Picture Industry, and his wire read: “Bugs Baer is the
exclusive property of William Randolph Hearst. He is to take
the first train back to New York.”

Bugs took the first train back to New York and kept right on
going until he reached Europe, where he remained for two years,
only returning to work for Hearst on being given a big raise.

Two years later, in 1924, I hired Robert E. Sherwood, then the
movie critic of Life, the old humorous weekly, to write an original
story for me. This was some years before Sherwood wrote The
Road to Rome, his first Broadway comedy hit. One could tell, how-
ever, from the perceptive and amusing reviews he wrote that he
had a true comedy mind. Bob had just been made managing edi-
tor of Life when I hired him. But he said he would come out to
Hollywood and try to write a story for me during his two weeks’
summer vacation. Bob was six feet four inches tall, but I'll leave
it to the psychologists to decide if that was the reason the story
he wrote centered around a skyscraper.

In Sherwood’s story the skyscraper is only half-finished. I was
operating the elevator that carried the masons and bricklayers
and steelworkers up and down to their jobs. One day the pretty
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daughter of the architect comes to look over the building. She ac-
cepts my shy invitation to let me take her to the top of the struc-
ture where she can enjoy the beautiful view. While we are up
there a strike is called. Every worker in the place walks out. One
of the men shuts off the power that operates the workmen’s
elevator.

But I discover that the elevator is not working only when we
try to start down. Nothing I can do will make it move. And so
there we are, trapped, isolated, high above ground, in the heart
of the world’s largest city. It is the middle of winter, and no one
knows we are up there.

As it gets dark we wave frantically at people in nearby build-
ings. They think we are very friendly characters and wave back.

It is the perfect situation for a Buster Keaton feature, with the
indomitable little man facing what seem impossible odds. And
Bob Sherwood had thought up some clever devices. He had me
building a shelter for the girl and myself with pieces of sheet metal
and some loose nuts and bolts I found lying around on top of a
girder. I make a receptacle to catch rain water in. Also a crude
trap for pigeons and sea gulls, using some crumbs I find at the
bottom of my lunch pail for bait.

I write a note with the girl’s lip rouge, and with beating hearts
we watch this flutter down, almost into an open window, then into
the hands of a man on the street who reads it. Thinking it a joke,
he doesn’t even look up, just shrugs and throws it away.

There was only one thing wrong with Sherwood’s story. He
couldn’t think of a believable way to get us down from the top of
the building, a place where we could not survive once snow fell.
I told him that the finish couldn’t be any simple thing like having
me slide down the steel beams to the ground. Having a dirigible
take us off the skyscraper would not do either. After all that
build-up the audience would expect me to rescue the girl.

Sherwood went home without delivering the finish. His vaca-
tion was over, and he had to get back to his job in New York.
Bob never did think of a finish. Neither could we.

I did not see Bob until sixteen years later. By that time he had
written a whole sheaf of wonderful Broadway stage successes, in-
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cluding The Road to Rome, Waterloo Bridge, 1diot’s Delight, The
Petrified Forest, and Abe Lincoln in Illinois.

That day in 1940 I was sitting in the lobby of the Dorchester
Hotel in London. Suddenly lanky Bob Sherwood came in through
the street door. He saw me out of the corner of his eye, but didn’t

stop. However, as he passed he whispered, “Stop won'ymg, Bus-
ter, I'll get you down off that building yet!”

Even in those early days we pretested pictures by sneak pre-
viewing them before an audience. It was important that the au-
dience not know they were seeing a picture never shown before.
Otherwise they became self-conscious, and their reaction was cor-
respondingly untrustworthy. After such a sneak preview I have
cut out scenes that we had thought sidesplitting when we looked
at them in the projection room. I have also left in scenes which
I had considered weak, but which the audience greeted with
hilarity.

A preview audience sometimes also told me when something
might be added to help a picture. That proved to be the case with
The High Sign. In that two-reeler I played the owner of a shooting
gallery who is a brilliant shot. In it I hit bulls™-eyes, firing over my
shoulder, standing on my head, and from a variety of other diffi-
cult positions. A man whose life is threatened by the Mafia finds
out about this and hires me to protect him. .

But the Mafia, also admiring my marksmanship, force me to
join their secret organization against my will. As my first assign-
ment they order me to kill the man who has just hired me to pro-
tect him from them.

One scene in The High Sign showed a man dropping a banana
peel. When the audience saw me approaching they expected me
to slip on it. But I didn’t, and then passed right before the camera.
I tried to get my laugh by using the Mafia’s secret sign, thumbs
held crossed under the nose with the hands spread out on both
sides of the face. But this was like thumbing my nose at the au-
dience, and saying, “Fooled you that time, didn’t I?”

In the end, I decided that I had made the mistake of outsmart-
ing the audience a little too much. But instead of cutting this
scene out I added a shot. In this, after passing the camera and
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giving the sign, I slipped on a second banana peel somebody had
dropped. That worked fine.

Fans earlier had taught me another thing about my work I had
not known. A few fan letters to Roscoe asked why the little man
in his pictures never smiled. We had been unaware of it. We
looked at three two-reelers we’d done together and found it to be
true. Later just for fun I tried smiling at the end of one picture.
The preview audience hated it and hooted the scene. After that
I never smiled again on stage, screen, or TV.

Like everyone else in the slapstick industry, the gagmen’s
favorite sport was playing practical jokes. They enjoyed best, of
course, those they worked on other gagmen. They never tired of
discussing the more successful ones like the ordeal Lex Neal, my
old drinking pal from Muskegon, was put through when he bought
a house. Some time before I had added Lex, who had been work-
ing in vaudeville as a song-and-dance man, to my writing staff.
He worked out fine with us as a combination gagman, story con-
structionist, and title writer.

Though a bachelor Lex had the yearning of most hard-traveled
vaudevillians for a home of his own. After extensive searching Lex
found a $10,000 house he liked on the outskirts of Beverly Hills.
He had saved up little money of his own, but I advanced him
some, and a Los Angeles bank loaned him the rest.

As the deal was being closed, Lex could talk of little else but
the haven he had found for himself and what it would mean to
him to putter around in his garden of a Sunday morning and be
able to say to himself, “This is mine, by God! Minel” He brought
his friends out to see the house and was hurt if all of them didn’t
rave about it.

The day he moved in Lex gave a housewarming for his friends.
The following morning Lex could talk of nothing but his home
and his plans for changing and improving it. The houses on his
street were similar, though not identical, and Lex thought a few
little touches here and there would give it a quite different look.
Little did he dream that Johnny Gray, a gag writer at Harold
Lloyd’s studio, was even then changing the look of his house by
planting trees and bushes in front of it.

Lex could hardly wait until quitting time to start for home. He

135



MY WONDERFUL WORLD OF SLAPSTICK

was quite irritated when he got a last minute invitation to a cock-
tail party. When he tried to beg off, the caller insisted and acted
as though he would be insulted and deeply hurt if Lex didn’t show
up. I heard later that Lex was restless at the party and left after
having only two or three drinks.

But when he finally got to his street he could not find his house.
It was as though somebody had whisked it away during the night.
He was unable to remember the exact address and searched his
pockets hoping to find a scrap of paper on which he had written
it down—but in vain. |

Driving slowly up and down the street, over and over again,
Lex stopped before each house and studied it carefully. But be-
fore very long he became aware that women and children in each
home were watching every move he made.

It was obvious that his mysterious behavior was alarming them.
He became apprehensive that they might telephone the police.

Not knowing what else to do he drove to my house and in some
embarrassment told me the story. “Now what am I to do?” he
asked. “My clothes are all in the house. I haven’t even got a place
to sleep tonight.”

I suggested he stay over with me. “In the morning,” I said, “you
can call up the bank and get the address from them.”

Lex didn’t sleep much. Neither did I. All night I could hear him
restlessly prowling up and down in the guest room. And how he
hated to call up Mr. Frost at the bank the next day! But he finally
did.

“Mr. Frost,” he said, “do you remember that house you loaned
me a few thousand dollars on last week?” He paused while Mr.
Frost replied, then, “I've lost the address, Mr. Frost. Could you
give it to me?”

After another pause, Lex scribbled something on a piece of pa-
per. “Thanks, Mr. Frost,” he said. But on hanging up and turning
to me, he murmured, “Cheerful guy, that Mr. Frost. Wasn't even
surprised. You'd think the people he lends money to mislaid their
houses every day. I would never put much money in that institu-
tion. The people who run it are too frivolous.”

I went with him to the address he had been given. It v was easy
to see why Lex had been unable to identify it. Someone had
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planted bushes and trees about ten feet tall all over the front yard.
Six trees lined the little stone walk leading to the door, three on
each side. There were two big bushes in front of the house and
two more along the curb.

By then poor Lex was so rattled that he could not quite believe
it was his house until he unlocked the door and saw his own furni-
ture inside. I told him to relax, if he could, for a few hours before
coming down to the studio.

Later when Lex reproached Johnny Gray he got no satisfaction
at all. Johnny pretended to be deeply offended.

“That’s the thanks I get from you,” he said. “You are as ungrate-
ful as all of my poor relatives put together. I spend a small fortune
improving your property. And all I get for it is abuse.”

When I said that everybody in the slapstick movie business
played jokes on everybody else I was being conservative. I should
have included props which never acted the same way twice when
the camera’s eye was on them.

Animals were even worse, being both temperamental and un-
predictable. Even the more tranquil and seemingly well-adjusted
mammoth beasts got capricious and flighty the minute you
pointed a camera at one of them. Of course, you never could be
quite sure the trainer who rented beasts to you on a daily basis was
not responsible. After all, the longer it took to shoot the scenes
his animals were in the more money he made.

The director of one of the Tarzan films once told me the sad
story of what happened when he rented three hippos from a local
zoo and had the trainer swim them into a lake. The monstrous
beasts promptly disappeared.

The director asked, “Are they trying to commit suicide?”

“Oh,” said the trainer, “I forgot to warn you that sometimes they
dive to the bottom of a body of water like this. They love the mud
at the bottom, you know, and bury themselves in it.”

“For how long?” asked the director.

“Oh, just for a few days. They have to come up finally to
breathe, you know.”

Holding his head, the director asked, “Is there anything we can
do to make them come up?”
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“Well, if you disturb the mud enough they become irritated
and rise to the surface.” .

The director thereupon sent several jittery members of his crew
out with long poles to stir up the mud at the lake’s bottom. The
boys didn’t seem too energetic. One of them said later, “The last
thing in my life I want to do is irritate a herd of hippos.”

In any event, nothing happened, and the whole company and
crew sat at the lakeside for four days until the hippos finished
their mud bath and came to the surface.

Birds can be completely unco-operative. In 1928, when Twen-
tieth Century-Fox was making one of its first sound plctures a
rebellious rooster cost the company $50,000.

All Hobart Henley, the director of that picture, wanted this
rooster to do was crow at daybreak, exactly as he did every morn-
ing. With sound itself still a novelty on the screen, any sort of
familiar noise, bellow, squeak, bark, or scream was considered ex-
citing. Henley thought it would be sensational if he could show
his lovers™ final clinch just as a rooster was crowing and dawn
broke over the horizon. It would symbolize perfectly the wonder-
ful future awaiting the boy and girl after all the hellish trouble
they had been through in the picture.

Arrangements were made for the use of a poultry farm out in
the San Fernando Valley. The farmer’s best-looking rooster was
selected to do the crowing. Shooting at daybreak meant that the
two romantic leads, the director, his assistants, and other crew
members had to be out at the farm several hours before the sun
came up to make their preparations.

The rooster proved amiable enough about sitting on the fence.
The sun also came up on schedule. But when Henley yelled,
“Cameral” the bird became frightened and flew off the fence.
By the time they got him back on the fence the sun was too high
to make the scene.

With a sigh, Henley instructed everybody to return next morm-
ing at three again. “This time,” he vowed, “we’ll make sure that
damn rooster can’t fly away on us. We'll tie his feet to the fence
with wire.”

But on this second morning when the sun came up the rooster
was so intent on freeing his feet of the wire that he did not crow.
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“There is only one way to make that rooster crow,” announced
the cameraman, a know-it-all who now suddenly claimed he was
born on a Kansas farm whose roosters for years had won all prizes
at the County Fair. “You get a second rooster to crow. On hearing
this, our rooster will get jealous and will try to outcrow him.”

It was possibly a sound theory, but neither rooster uttered a
sound on the following morning. “I forgot to tell you one thing,
Hobart,” the cameraman whispered to the director, “that was to
have a lot of hens around so the roosters will have something to
crow for.” This resulted only in another failure. Either the hens
placed on display were less alluring than anticipated or possibly
the rooster was too fussy. The important thing was that once more
he failed to crow.

At this stage of the crisis somebody in the crew recalled that
there was an amateur performer in South Gate who might solve
the whole situation. His specialty was imitating the birds and
beasts of forest and farmyard. When a representative of the movie
company went all the way out to South Gate, a remote Los
Angeles suburb, to call on him this chap thought his fortune was
made.

He told his wife, “My big movie break has come at last.”

On arriving at the farm he kept asking for the make-up man.
He was crushed when told he would need no make-up as they
weren't going to photograph him crowing, as that would destroy
the illusion they were seeking. He was just to imitate the rooster
off stage.

The human rooster was a whiz, it turned out. The real rooster
may have been too impressed to attempt to compete with him.
Anyway once more he didn’t crow, meaning the loss of another
morning’s work.

Though the farmer was enjoying all of these profitable delays
and his wife was making pin money each morning providing
breakfasts for the whole troupe, he was an honest man and ex-
plained at this point: “My rooster can see that it’s a man crowing
at him,” he said. “That’s why he refuses to crow back.”

Henley decided to try just once more. This time he instructed
the animal imitator to hide behind a corner of the farmhouse until
the sun peeped over the horizon. He handed the fellow a big
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branch of sagebrush. “Just as the sun rises,” he said, “stick out your
head and crow like mad. But hold that branch in front of your
face so the rooster won’t know it’s you.”

That next morning, while preparing the breakfast for the crew,
the farmer’s wife looked out of the window and discovered a man
she had never seen before crouching under her window. She took
it for granted he was crazy because he was holding up a sage-
brush before his face.

She telephoned the sheriff who hustled over, took in the scene
with his own eyes, and demanded of the loiterer, “What do you
think you’re doing here?”

The bird and beast imitator assumed that the sheriff was one
of Henley’s aides. “Oh, I'm the rooster,” he explained.

“Well, I'll take you to a place where you'll find some lovely
hens,” said the sheriff. Without further ado, he rushed off the man
from South Gate to the lockup to await a sanity hearing.

When Henley discovered that his rooster imitator had van-
ished, he gave up the whole idea. He let his lovers kiss for the
fade-out without the aid of a cock saluting the dawn.

My own experiences with animal movie actors were at times
just as exasperating. The first of these occurred while I was mak-
ing a two-reeler with Roscoe Arbuckle called The Bellhop. In this
story we were running a hotel, assisted by Alice Lake. |

The climactic scene was a bank robbery. After pulling off this
job the robbers, making their getaway, jumped on a horsecar that
was going up hill on a cobblestone street. They forced the driver
to whip up his steed. The big moment was supposed to come near
the top of the hill when the traces broke, jerking the driver
through the air so that he landed squarely on the horse’s back.
Meanwhile the horsecar with the bandits still aboard rolled down-
hill right into the bank they’d just held up. But the driver missed
the horse’s back the first time he tried it.

When the driver proved a bit shy about repeatmg the jump, I
offered to double for him. It was a tough jump to make because
the horse had to be kept four and a half feet ahead of the car.
This prevented his kicking the front of it with his hind hoofs.

I had the prop man put a box in the car for me to stand on.
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This enabled me to make a better take-off. I also wound the reins
tightly around my wrists so they couldn’t slip.

Not being horsy people we didn’t know that horses can see
backward or that this one may have resented being jumped at by
the first driver. Otherwise we would have put blinders on him. If
we had he couldn’t have seen me coming and neatly stepped to
one side, causing me to miss him completely.

He was a mean critter, pardners, that innocent-looking horse.
The moment I jumped he bolted like mad up the street, dragging
me bumpety-bump on my chest over the cobbles for almost a block
before anybody could stop him.

Even after that experience, I expected no trouble from a sway-
backed old mare we bought for Cops, one of my two-reelers. By
that time, incidentally, the studios were buying the livestock they
needed. It was cheaper than renting them, they had found, and
they could sell the animals when the picture was finished.

In Cops I was a New York junkman, and we bought a spiritless,
broken-down horse to pull my wagon. In the picture the nag was
supposed to be deaf. We put earphones on her, connected by wire
with an old-fashioned telephone box on the side of the wagon.
When I wanted the horse to stop or move, I picked up the phone,
cranked it, then said, “Whoal” or “Giddap!”, and she immediately
obeyed these orders.

The plot had me picking up unknowingly a homemade bomb.
This explodes just as I am crossing Fifth Avenue during a police
parade. In the chase the entire New York police force pursues me.
One of the last scenes was supposed to show the horse riding in
the wagon with me between the shafts pulling it.

The horse was the soul of co-operation until we tried to get her
to walk up the ramp into the wagon for that scene. Then she
balked. I had a crane brought to the studio, planning to hoist her
up by putting a veterinarian’s saddle under the horse.

We got the vet’s saddle under her all right, but the moment we
tried to lift her off the ground Old Dobbin started kicking away
viciously at everything and everybody.

We were on location. It was Saturday, and we took her back
to the studio. I decided we would have to find another horse that
resembled her to double for her on Monday. But when we re-
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turned to work on Monday we found a new-born colt standing be-
side her. As has happened in many another case, mother knew
best in this instance.

Somebody, we figured, ought to tell us about the birds and bees.
The foal was perfectly healthy and friendly. And his mother now
walked up the ramp like a real trouper, and we finished the pic-
ture in jig time.

We called the little fellow “Onyx,” short for unexpected, and he
became the pet of the lot. He would walk into my dressing room,
or on the set to see what was going on, or into Lou Anger’s office
to find out if the bookkeepers were on the job.

Old Mother Nature made a shambles of my shooting schedule
later on when I made Go West! In this I played a tenderfoot
whose life is saved by a cow.

Weather is only one of the hazards of working outdoors. Any-
thing at all can happen from the moment you take your camera
out of the studio. When you worked outdoors with a cow as your
leading lady you were really asking for trouble. But I always pre-
ferred working on location because more good gags suggested
themselves in new and unfamiliar surroundings.

The cow we bought for this great honor was a Holstein. She
was a beautiful creature, and I named her “Brown Eyes.” But as
she did not appear to be any more intelligent than other Holsteins
I took great pains in training her for her new work. It was summer,
and the location was on the desert near Kingdon, Arizona, a place
so hot at midday that you have to pack ice around your camera
to prevent the emulsion on the film from melting.

I began my training of Brown Eyes by leading her around the
studio on a rope. I continually fed her carrots and other culinary
delights for bovines. When she became convinced that following
me about paid off big, I substituted a string for rope and finally a
thread for the string.

I never had a more affectionate pet or a more obedient one.
After a while I was able to walk her through doors, in and out of
sets, even past bright lights. The only difficulty we had was when
I sat down and she tried to climb into my lap. I didn’t take her on
location until I had her perfectly trained to obey my orders.

Everything went fine until we got Brown Eyes out there on the
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“The Three Keatons” when it
was the roughest, rowdiest
act in vaudeville and fea-
tured your Buster and mine
as “the human mop.”

All of us five Keatons —
Louise, Mom, Jingles, me,
and Pop — at the start of my
happy and golden years in
Hollywood.

i
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When only nine months old, as you
can see, I had my heart set on keep-
ing my face in a deep freeze. “Smile
at what birdie?” is what I was trying
to ask the photographer.
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I was six when another pho-
tographer tried to distract me
with a toy and a painted sea-
shore backdrop. He too said
“Smile, Buster!” but the most
I would give him was my
Mona Lisa look.
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My curiosity about why this b.ig Civil War cannon was not work-
ing properly got me a big laugh in The General. Another shot from
the same comed_v is shown below.
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With Florence Turner, playing my mother, in College (1927).
Below, I am shown with Erest Torrence in Steamboat Bill, Jr.,
which was made the following year. We had decided to finish
Steamboat Bill, Jr. with a flood, but at the last minute my producer
decided that would be too harrowing on the audience and we
settled for a hurricane as a more restful type of calamity to watch.




These two scenes are from one of the last two-reelers [ ev

er made,
The Balloonatic.




E
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Big families and seagoing cars got belly laughs in the early twen- ..
ties. I was a pint-sized caveman with a gigantic wife and eleven
kids in Three Ages (1923). The still below is from Sherlock, Jr.,

made the following year.




If T had known how long this cow’s
personal love life would delay the
production of Go West (1925) I
would have shown her less affec-
tion.

[ also made a mistake about that
snake shown here crawling around
my neck in Go West. I assumed it
was my leading lady’s ever-loving
arm.

e
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CULVER

In The General (1927) 1 was a wistful and lovelorn Confederate
soldier.




CULVER

A still from The Butcher
Boy, the two-reeler starring
Roscoe “Fatty” Arbuckle, in
which I made my screen
debut in 1917, That’s me on
the extreme right, trying to
pull Arbuckle away from
the menacing pitchfork
wielded by Al St. John.

A cliff-hanging scene with
Fatty made for another of
his two-reelers, this one on
location in California. Ar-
buckle, the best friend 1
ever had, taught me every-
thing I ever knew about
making movies.
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We had the New York subway going to Alaska in my own two-
reeler The Frozen North. This was a travesty on the enormously

popular William S. Hart Westerns. Bill Hart did not speak to me
for two years after he saw it.

Henry Ford did not speak to me for ten years after he saw what I
did on the screen to this Model-T job of his. As he had never
spoken to me before that anyway — I didn't care. The shot is
from my 1923 feature The Three Ages.
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C?ULVEH
Another shot from The Navigator. Though moviegoers laughed at
this audacious defiance of the laws of gravity they disliked another
gag in this movie so much that we had to take it out. In my

opinion it was the funniest one 1 ever dreamed up.
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Kathryn McGuire, my leading lady in Sherlock, Jr., who took that

wild car ride through the lake with me, gives me back my engage-

ment ring. This was the feature in which I broke my neck but was

too busy to notice it until some years later.

In The Navigator (1924) 1 boil an egg. This and The General
were the most popular pictures I ever made.
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[ played a tintype photographer who cherished dreams of becom-
ing a crack newsreel man in The Cameraman (1928) and winning
the love and admiration of beautiful Marceline Day, who is shown
with me here both above and below. I also had the delusion that
New York had given me a ticker-tape parade, but it turned out
to be for an obscure stunt flier, fellow named Lindbergh, who had
just lown solo across the Atlantic.
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[n 1939 they needed a custard pie thrower in Hollywood Caval-
cade, a picture about the old silent Mack Sennett era, and they
called in the champ — shown here. My most perilous assignment
on that job turned out to be giving beautiful Alice Faye the full
treatment when she didn’t expect it.



/

A recent photograph, showing Mr. and Mrs. Buster Keaton arriv-
ing in New York for four months of dates on Ed Sullivan’s and
other television shows.




RICHARD AVEDON

This was taken of me with Zsa Zsa Gabor in Paris, in front of the
Moulin Rouge, just before this book was published. I Toulouse-
Lautrec ever had it so good, he never mentioned it in his memoirs.




BOFFOS BY MAN AND BEAST

steaming hot desert. There I couldn’ do a thing with her, not one
thing. We were mystified until a rancher told us, “That cow’s in
heat. She won't be a bit of use to you until she’s over that.”

“How long does that take?” I asked.

“Oh,” he said, “about ten days or so.”

We had thirty people in the unit on location. The idea of how
daily expenses would mount while we waited for that cow to get
her mind off sex was dismaying.

We had selected Brown Eyes because of her unusual beauty
and striking markings. She had been in too many scenes already
to start looking for another Holstein to double for her. I did the
only sensible thing. I ordered her let out of the corral so she could
find an affectionate and empathy-loaded bull for herself. She
picked a bull, but he was not affectionate. In fact he snubbed her
by walking away.

The cattle on that ranch were Baldfaced beef cattle, and had
not been dehorned like our dear little Brown Eyes. However, I
never suspected bulls were so clannish and choosy.

We turned our lovelorn bossy out again. This time, not only did
she fail to attract the Baldfaced bulls, but she aroused the jealous
wrath of the Baldfaced cows who started to charge her. They
would have gored Brown Eyes, too, except for the interference of
some ranch cowboys who rode up just in time to save her.

There was nothing to do after that but wait for our cow to get
out of heat. We spent our time taking shots of the lovely country
all around us but later never figured out how to use that film.
When Brown Eyes finally was ready to turn her attention to
movie-making again we did fine with her.

Joe Schenck heard about our wait and said the sort of things
bosses usually say after budget-busting incidents. In this case:

“That’s Keaton for youl If there is a costly way to make a movie
he'll find it.”
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Though Mack Sennett made his stage debut as the rear end of a
horse, he considered his judgment of comedy infallible. “I have
my fingers on the public pulse,” he was fond of saying. “If I laugh
at a gag on the screen I know the public will laugh.”

Mack always enjoyed playing a role in each picture he made,
but he got no encouragement from his comedians who told him
that he was the unfunniest man ever to walk in front of a camera.
But it took them years to convince him.

The mystery is how this seemingly humorless man managed to
find and develop more first-rate comic talent than anyone else in
the history of show business.

Some students of Sennett’s career try to explain his unique gift

by saying he was in the market when great screen comics were
available in quantity.
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MY WONDERFUL WORLD OF SLAPSTICK

That’s true enough. But it is difficult to remember one performer
comparable to Arbuckle and Chaplin and the other great comics
who came out of the Keystone fun factory who was developed by
the other screen comedy producers who were also around then.
Not to be overlooked, too, are the great directors—Frank Capra,
Leo McCarey, Malcolm St. Clair and Roy del Ruth—who first
learned their business while working with Sennett.

I have mentioned that Sennett’s refusal to pay high salaries in-
variably lost him his great stars as they became prominent. His
Keystone Cops, even after he had been coining money with them
for years, remained the worst-paid performers in Hollywood. At
first they got only three dollars a day for risking their necks. After
Sennett made a fortune with Tillie's Punctured Romance he
raised them to five dollars a day.

The Cops were dreamers. All of them lived on the hope of be-
coming a star or a featured player one day. Every time I saw them
on the screen I howled with delight which, of course, broke my
rule against being caught laughing in public. Even so, I couldn’t
understand how they could ever expect to attract attention as in-
dividuals, to stand out in the crowd. They were wonderful, in my
opinion, but only as a group. In the same way, say, as the Radio
City Rockettes in New York are. It turned out, of course, that I
couldn’t have been more wrong, for a great many of them did be-
come stars or featured players.

Even more astonishing to me was discovering how few of them
knew the first thing about taking a fall. The ex-Keystone Cop, Al
St. John, for example, worked side by side with Roscoe for five
years without learning one damn thing about protecting himself
in a fall. As an old trip-and-tumble expert myself I advised St.
John to use elbow pads, something he had never heard of until
then. He had been using his hands and elbows each time to break
his falls. The result was that he was continually suffering from
water on the elbow which, of course, was bound to have serious
consequences sooner or later.

Hank Mann, one of Sennett’s best comics, was dragged by a
horse across a just-plowed field and a couple of city blocks when
he tried something new. The horse was supposed to jerk him off
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his wagon, causing Mann to fly through the air. Without telling
anyone of his inspiration Hank decided to turn over while in the
air. If he had succeeded he probably would have broken his back.
He escaped this only because his trick failed, although he got
plenty bruised and bumped before the horse was stopped. Hank
also had tightly wrapped the reins around his wrists to make sure
he wouldn't let go of them while astonishing everyone with his
new trick.

There are few bigger hams, by the way, than these horses. Their
ears go up and they are off to the races when they hear the cry,
“Cameral” If the leading lady happens to be sitting sidesaddle for
the moment it makes no difference; they will prance, bolt, and
throw her off like a limp dishrag. That could mean so limp a lead-
ing lady that you'd have to get yourself a brand-new one.

One reason Sennett did not hire trained acrobats for his Key-
stone force was because a trained acrobat seldom can get laughs
in pictures when taking a comedy fall. He looks what he is, a
trained acrobat doing his stuff, instead of a character in the pic-
ture taking a tumble accidentally. The only trained acrobat I ever
saw who could take a fall and make it look funny was Poodles
Hanneford, the great circus clown.

Though I have been called an acrobat I would say I am only a
half acrobat, at most. I did learn to fall as a kid, just as Chaplin,
Lloyd, and Fairbanks did. And I taught myself a few acrobatic
tricks, including the round-off back somersault and other simple
stunts. I could do butterflies, a series of cartwheels in a circle,
without touching hands to the floor. But anyone who ever saw me
throw a flip-flap realized I wasn’t a professional acrobat. Audi-
ences think a back somersault, in which you regain your feet with-
out touching the floor, is difficult. But much more difficult to do is
the flip-flap, a back somersault in which your hands do touch the
floor. The back somersault only looks harder. What I do know
about is body control. When you start to go through the air your
head is your rudder—it steers you. If Steve Brodie had mastered
body control he could have jumped off Brooklyn Bridge and had
a good chance of surviving, instead of just pretending to have
made that jump. The man who jumps or dives has control of his
body but, of course, if he is pushed, thrown, or falls accidentally
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he has none at all. That is why a man falling off a ladder can be
terribly hurt.

In my opinion, even Doug Fairbanks was merely a superior
YMCA acrobat. His leaps and other acrobatics made him look bet-
ter than he was, because Fairbanks thoroughly understood camera
angles and used them most effectively.

The Cops, though, knew nothing whatever about falling. Seem-
ingly no one had told them that both ends of the spine have to be
protected when taking a fall. Or that for one kind of fall you must
relax your whole body, for another you tighten up the muscles of
both your back and backside.

Jimmy Bryant, who had been the anchor man for the Cops, was
another doughty fellow who did not know how to take a fall. The
fact is that Bryant did not even know how to turn a cartwheel, a
trick most nine-year-old American boys learn quickly after they
first turn a somersault. Jimmy, a heavy-set man with a bull neck,
was the only Keystone Cop who looked like a real policeman.
Along with Al St. John, Jimmy left Sennett to work with Roscoe
when Arbuckle started making his own two-reelers.

I discovered just how much punishment Bryant was willing to
absorb to stay in pictures in one of the earliest Arbuckle two-
reelers I was in. I think it was called His Wedding Night.

This picture opened in a room above a general store where the
girl is fitting her wedding dress on me, using me as a clothing form.
The villain’s roughnecks rush into the room to kidnap her. But she
has just gone to the next room to get some pins. They mistake me
for the bride-to-be because I have on the wedding dress, and
carry me out the window and roll me down a slanting roof. On
the street below Jimmy Bryant is waiting with a seagoing hack.
As he waits to catch “the girl” in his arms he braces himself with
one foot on the ground, the other on the step of the hack. I was
supposed to fall on him headfirst. He was supposed to try to catch
me, and miss. We seldom rehearsed bone-breaking scenes like that
one. It was too easy for someone in the scene to be hurt or badly in-
jured. Even if not put out of action the bruised man might dog his
work the second time. For the same reason we tried to avoid re-

takes.
But Roscoe, who was directing, didn’t like the way we did this
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scene. As we were getting ready for the repeat shot, Jimmy Bryant
came over to me and whispered, “I don’t know how to take off on
this one or how to take this fall. So really hit me so it will look all
right.”

“I'll hit you all right,” I said. “But be sure and get a good hold.”

As I fell on him I shoved him with both feet as hard as I could.
Jimmy hit the ground, going backward, head over heels. He kept
on going for about twenty feet, far out of camera range. Mean-
while, I had landed on the hack’s two facing seats. One of the
roughnecks, Joe Bordeaux, to make sure that the “bride-to-be”
would not escape jumped off the slanting roof and landed on top
of me.

Typically, it did not occur to anyone there to ask Jimmy if he
was hurt. But if someone had, he would not have complained.
Later on, when I had my own company, Jimmy worked with me
in many of my pictures. I was able eventually to put him on the
regular payroll as a $125-a-week cameraman. Jimmy was a puz-
zler. He was intelligent enough to learn all about the intricate film
camera. But somehow he just never learned to fall properly and
kept taking the punishment like some battered old club fighter
right to the end of his acting days.

The Keystone Cop who seemed to me the most courageous and
lionhearted of them all was little Bobby Dunn, a professional div-
ing champion who was only five feet four inches tall. Bobby
joined the Cops one season when the demand for carnival high
divers was slack, and Sennett kept him on because of his agility
and fearlessness. He placed Bobby next to Slim Summerville, his
tallest Keystone Cop, because they looked so funny standing
together.

The bravest stunt Bobby ever did, though, was not in a Sennett
picture. It was in one of the Sunshine Comedies Henry (Pathé)
Lehrman was making just then for Fox.

On hearing that Bobby was a professional high diver, Lehrman
offered him five dollars to jump off the Hotel Bryson roof into a
mortar box full of water. The Bryson, in downtown Los Angeles,
was eight stories, and from its roof eighty feet above the street
the mortar box, which was nine feet long, five feet wide, and five
feet deep, looked about the size of a domino.
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When Bobby accepted the offer Lehrman asked him if he could
make the jump on that Friday afternoon. “I'm making a picture
for Sennett all this week,” he said thoughtfully. “They’ll be shoot-
ing on Friday, but I doubt that they’ll be using the Cops that after-
noon. I'll be able to sneak out all right.”

Bobby made the dive headfirst. Diving eighty feet into water
five feet deep meant he must hit just right with his chest, then
immediately cut upward in an arc. He came up without a scratch,
collected his five dollars, dressed, and hurried back to the Sennett
lot before he could be missed.

Those two, Bobby Dunn and Slim Summerville, the tiniest and
the tallest of the Keystone Cops, were inseparable. They shared a
dressing room and never tired of playing all sorts of tricks on one
another. The dressing room faced an open shooting stage. On the
other side of this was a roofed passageway.

One day, while they were sitting in their dressing room, Sum-
merville remarked, “Did you get a load of that Palm Beach suit
and new straw hat that Ben Turpin is wearing today?”

Bobby Dunn nodded his head and said, “He’ll be coming to
work in a dress suit next thing you know.”

“Let’s fix him,” suggested Slim with a giggle. “I just saw him go
through that arch. He'll be coming back in a couple of minutes.
Why dont we get a pail of water, then you can get on the roof
over there and dump the water on him as he walks through?”

“Well, how will I know he’s coming?”

“I'll sit in the doorway here, Bobby, where you can see me.
When I take out my handkerchief, give it to him good. Okay?”

“Okayl” said Bobby, and in a jiffy he was on the roof with his
pail of water. On getting the signal from Slim, he dumped the
water. But Mack Sennett, not Ben Turpin, happened to be the
man who was passing through and got the dousing. Later Slim
swore to Bobby it was a case of mistaken identity. Sennett was
twice as big as the cross-eyed Mr. Turpin, but Bobby did not
argue with his best friend.

A few nights later Slim and Bobby were enjoying a few drinks
in the Vernon Country Club, a favorite drinking spot for Keystone
Cops and other local characters who enjoyed staying out late. Los
Angeles had an early closing hour, but Vernon, just beyond the
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city limits, had none. Bobby that evening bribed the club’s bar-
tender to put double shots of whiskey into Slim Summerville’s
highballs. The supercharged drinks soon made Slim so drowsy he
fell asleep at the table.

Bobby got out pencil and paper and wrote a note which he
asked the waiter to give to a girl at a nearby table. She was with
a man who had the shoulders of a gorilla. She read the note, then
passed it on to him. It said:

“Why don’t you get rid of that big bum you’re with? Don’t look
around now, but I'm at a table right behind you, pretending to be
asleep. I'll meet you out at the back door in ten minutes.”

“Who is this wise guy?” he asked. She looked around, saw the
sleeping Summerville, and shrugged. “I never saw that funny-
looking string bean before in my whole life.”

Her boy friend got up, walked back to the sleeping Slim, and
grabbed him by the throat. The next thing Slim knew he was out
the back door and flying through the air. On hitting the hard, hard
cement he looked up to find Bobby Dunn’s smiling face peering
down at him. o

“What in heaven’s name happened?” he asked. ﬁm‘ :

“Don’t give it a thought,” Bobby told him. “It’s just one of them
California earthquakes.”

(Later I got a big laugh in my feature picture Three Ages by
using this note-writing incident. I had Wallace Beery, the villain
of that movie, write the note while I slept at the table.)

When Bobby Dunn died his tall, skinny pal was inconsolable.
Slim cried like a baby, and he paid more money than he could
afford for a funeral wreath. On the way to the church for the
funeral ceremonies Slim picked up his mail and during the serv-

ices kept nervously opening the letters and glancing at them. He _o,
lined up with the other mourners to bid a last good-by to the des'

ceased before the casket was closed. As he passed the body e
waved over the dead man’s face the bill he'd just got from the
florist for the flowers.

“See this?” he sobbed brokenly. “Even when you are dead you
cost me money, you little sonofabitch.”

Then his knees buckled, and he would have fallen if the man
next to him hadn’t held him up. With tears streaming down Slim
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Summerville’s long face, he. was half-carried to one of the waiting
funeral cars.

As far back as I can remember baseball has been my favorite
sport. I started playing the game as soon as I was old enough to
handle a glove. A sand lot where baseball was being played was
the first thing I looked for whenever The Three Keatons played
a new town. We always had a team in Muskegon, and later I
organized baseball teams at my own studio and at M-G-M. I also
played in the annual Comedians-Leading Men games that
amused Hollywood for years. Each September I did my best to
finish my fall picture in time to go to New York for the World
Series.

I took Marcus Loew to one crucial World Series game back in
the twenties. In the eighth inning, with the Yankees one run be-
hind, they got two men on base and had Babe Ruth at bat. Nobody
in the crowd of 68,000 tense fans seemed to be breathing when
Marcus turned, looked over the packed stands, shook his head,
and said, “You know, Buster, this raises hell with our matinees!”

I loved the yearly Comedians-Leading Men benefit games
played in Hollywood each year, because they gave me a chance
to combine baseball and comedy, the two great loves of my life.
But I suppose none of these could compare with the mad routines
Roscoe, Al St. John, and myself put on during a “one ol cat” game
at the Vernon Baseball Park.

Vernon then held the franchise in the Pacific Coast League
which was later transferred to Hollywood. A brewer owned the
club, and he had talked Roscoe into investing a few thousand
dollars in the organization. The brewer also suggested we put on
a little show before the opening game of the season.

We started with Roscoe pitching, Al St. John at bat, me catching,
and Rube Miller, a one-time Keystone Cop, umpiring behind the
plate. After Roscoe threw two perfect strikes, which Umpire Rube
Miller called balls, I signaled to Roscoe for a high one. When it
came I let it go right through my hands. It hit Miller square on
the mask. He did a typical Keystone Cop leap into the air and
fell backward. His mask rolled off, and he lay as though dead.

Though we ignored him and let him lie there, he came to life
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in time to join us in the next play. In this Al St. John kept creeping
up a little closer to the pitcher’s box each time Roscoe started to
wind up. Arbuckle would get discouraged, would stop, look, then
start winding up again. Each time the batter took another little
step forward both Rube Miller and I would follow close behind
him, maintaining the traditional crouch. By the time Al St. John
was almost halfway to the pitcher’s box Roscoe decided he better
take a few steps back himself. When he finally threw the ball he
was pitching almost from second base. The ball (made of plaster
of Paris at our studio) exploded into dust and vanished the mo-
ment St. John whacked it. Pitcher Arbuckle, Catcher Keaton, and
Umpire Miller looked everywhere for the vanished ball, in the air,
in our pockets, in the pants of Roscoe’s capacious uniform and
under Umpire Miller’s chest protector. Meanwhile Al St. John had
streaked for first base, stopping there to bow and tip his hat to the
spectators. Going to second, to third, and home he stopped at each
bag to acknowledge the plaudits of the crowd.

On Al getting to bat again, Arbuckle wound up. But before he
could throw the pitch, a ball dropped from the sky at his feet. It
came down five to ten minutes after the ball was hit. It was, of
course, a regular Coast League baseball thrown by an unseen out-
fielder from back of the grandstand. And now I tried to tag out
St. John and a general melee and hubbub followed.

There were other surprise features, including a bat loaded with
gunpowder which exploded when Arbuckle hit the ball and sent
it spinning out into the wild blue yonder, farther than any ball
hit by Ruth, Gehrig, or Mickey Mantle. And a little ceremony in
which Umpire Miller was dumped into a grave we had prepared
for him back of third base. After that, the season’s opening game
began.

The ballplayers enjoyed all of this clowning, but not the um-
pires. They got hold of the four of us after the League game was
over and gave us hell. One said, “You have given the players
murderous ideas with that pitch you let go into the umpire’s mask.
They will all be trying that within a month in every ball park in
the league. We will have to bench every catcher in the Pacific
Coast before the season is over.”

Few of us in that whole Hollywood gang had had time to ac-
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quire an education. I suppose we were doing the things in our
twenties that we would have done earlier if we’d gone to high
school and college. We also drank a lot just as young people all
over the country were doing as the Riproaring Twenties rolled in
on endless barrels of bootleg booze.

There was a period when our whole gang, meaning Roscoe Ar-
buckle, Norman Kerry, Buster Collier, Lew Cody, and a few oth-
ers, were barred from half of the movie lots in Hollywood. One
of the studios was Samuel Goldwyn’s.

The bars went up there the morning after a party at Goldwyn’s
house that Kerry, Buster Collier, and I attended. Collier started to
tell about his grappling match with a professional wrestler in the
picture he was making. In telling a story, Buster could be almost
as spellbinding as Willie Collier, his father. When he mentioned
a hammer lock Frances Goldwyn, Sam’s wife, kept asking so many
questions about it that Buster finally said, “It will save time if I
demonstrate it.”

Frances laughingly suggested he demonstrate it on her. While
showing Mrs. Goldwyn the hammer lock, she resisted, and the
next thing anyone knew they were scuffling and rolling around on
the floor. Everyone was laughing and enjoying this when Gold-
wyn, who had been playing cards in another room, walked in. He
stared at them, said, “Oh, my!” and walked out. Norman Kerry,
who was standing next to me, said, “Well, that’s one more lot we
are barred from, Buster.”

But one day in September 1921, all of the laughter in Holly-
wood stopped. Overnight what had been innocent fun was sud-
denly being denounced as “another Hollywood drunken orgy” or
“one more shocking example of sex depravity.” The day our laugh-
ter stopped was the day Roscoe Arbuckle was accused of having
caused the death of Virginia Rappe, a Hollywood bit player and
girl about town, in his suite at the St. Francis Hotel, in San
Francisco. They’d had several weekend dates together, but there
had been no arrangements made for this one. She just happened
to be up in San Francisco at the time.

The full poignancy of what followed can be grasped only when
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one considers how touched with magic Arbuckle’s life had been
during the years he had been a movie actor. Roscoe was born in
Smith Corners, Kansas, on March 24, 1887, which meant he was
only thirty-four when catastrophe overwhelmed him. He was a
small child when his family moved to California and at eight made
his stage debut in San Jose with the stock company of Frank
Bacon. If he ever went back to school after that it was not for
long. He did anything he could to stay in show business: was a
ticket taker at one theatre, sang sentimental ballads in a nickelo-
deon, worked as a smalltime vaudeville blackface monologuist up
and down the West Coast.

Roscoe got his first movie job by dancing up the steps to a porch
where Sennett was standing with Mabel Normand and casually
doing some back flips. Sennett, thinking a policeman that fat
might be very funny, put him on as a Keystone Cop at three dol-
lars a day. His fame started shortly afterward when he appeared
with Mabel Normand in a series of shorts called Fatty and Mabel.
Roscoe had been with Sennett for four years when Schenck gave
him his own unit. Yet it was only when he started doing features
for Famous Players-Lasky that Roscoe Arbuckle got into the big
money. Then it became very big money indeed, $7,000 a week.

Jesse Lasky was in charge of that studio which later became
Paramount. In his autobiography, I Blow My Own Horn, he calls
Arbuckle “conscientious, hard-working, intelligent, always agree-
able and anxious to please,” and adds, “He would invent priceless
routines and also had a well-developed directorial sense.”

Once Lasky handed Roscoe the tough assignment of doing three
feature pictures in a row without a day’s rest in between.

“I don’t know of another star,” said Lasky, “who would have
submitted to such exorbitant demands on his energy. But Fatty
Arbuckle wasnt one to grumble. There were no temperamental
displays in his repertoire. He went through the triple assignment
like a whirling dervish, in his top form. They were the funniest
pictures he ever made. We were sure they would reap a for-
e

It was on finishing that backbreaking triple assignment that
Roscoe drove up to San Francisco in his $25,000 Rolls Royce for
the Labor Day weekend. With him were the actor Lowell Sher-
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man and Fred Fischbach, a comedy director. San Francisco always
has been a high-rolling good-time town but never more so than in
the early twenties when flouting Prohibition became the new com-
petitive sport. Roscoe checked into a large suite at the St. Francis.
Friends and free-loaders, including several of San Francisco’s most
important officials flocked there the moment news got around that
Arbuckle, that prince of a fat man, was in town. Roscoe liked
nothing better than playing host to all comers. He ordered three
cases of the best whiskey and gin obtainable and all sorts of food
sent up to his suite.

The day was hot, and he had put on pajamas with a dressing
gown over them. Among his guests that weekend was Virginia
Rappe, the twenty-five-year-old Hollywood bit player. She had a
reputation for getting hysterical and tearing off her clothes after
taking a few drinks.

On hearing Roscoe was in town, Virginia joined Arbuckle’s party
with an older woman and her own manager, Al Seminacher. After
her death, everyone in Hollywood who knew Virginia was sur-
. prised to read newspaper descriptions of her as a frail little flower,
a starlet whom death had robbed of the chance to achieve the
heights on the silver screen. The truth is that Virginia was a big-
boned, husky young woman, five feet seven inches tall, who
weighed 135 pounds. She was about as virtuous as most of the
other untalented young women who had been knocking around
Hollywood for years, picking up small parts any way they could.

After taking a couple of orange blossoms, a cocktail made of
orange juice and gin, Virginia got sick. Most of the persons present
testified later that she had started to tear off her clothes. She also
complained of feeling ill. Roscoe had a couple of girls—one was
the woman Virginia had arrived with—take her into the bedroom.
He joined the three of them a little later and found Virginia in
bed. Suspecting she might be faking he placed a bit of ice against
her thigh. She failed to react, and he asked the women in the
room to undress her and put her in the tub. When Virginia con-
tinued ill, Roscoe sent for the St. Francis’s house physician.

Virginia was removed to a hospital where she died a few days
later. According to her woman friend, she had kept moaning just
before she died, “He hurt me. Roscoe hurt me.” It was largely on
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the basis of this statement that Roscoe was requested to come
back to San Francisco for questioning by District Attorney Mat-
thew Brady. He returned immediately, accompanied by Lou
Anger and Frank Dominguez, an associate of Earl Rogers, Cali-
fornia’s most famous criminal attorney.

On September 12, a Coroner’s Jury returned a true bill against
Arbuckle charging manslaughter. He was jailed, held without bail
until he was arraigned in a police court. Then the district attorney
demanded that the charge be changed to murder. On the plea
of Dominguez this was refused. The official charge became “in-
voluntary manslaughter,” and Roscoe was released in $5,000 bail.

Realizing the seriousness of Roscoe’s situation, Joe Schenck tried
to get the fabulous courtroom spellbinder Rogers to take over the
case himself. But Rogers, old and sick and near death, begged
off. He told Schenck, “Arbuckle’s weight will damn him. He will
become a monster. They'll never convict him. But this will ruin
him, and maybe motion pictures also for some time. I cannot take
the case but prepare Hollywood for tornadoes.”

The tornadoes were already exploding all around us by then.
Along with other friends of Roscoe’s, I offered to go to San
Francisco to testify. Among the nasty rumors circulated was one
that Arbuckle had pushed the piece of ice into the girl’s private
parts, thus contributing to her death. As Roscoe’s intimate friend
I knew that any such obscene act would have been beyond him.
I was eager to tell the jury this and also to explain that it was I
who had first told Roscoe that ice held against a person’s thigh
was the quickest way to discover whether they were faking illness.

Mr. Dominguez talked us out of going to the trial. He said that
there was bitter feeling in San Francisco even against him for
taking a case that local people felt should have gone to one of
their own lawyers. “They would resent you fellows even more,” he
said, “and discount your evidence, feeling you were merely Ar-
buckle’s front men.”

Meanwhile an unprecedented storm of hatred and bitterness
was sweeping the country against Arbuckle. Before he even was
tried his films were barred in many communities including New
York City. Reform groups everywhere threatened to boycott any
theatre which exhibited Roscoe’s movies. Churches of many
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denominations rocked with their preachers’ denunciations of the
famous funny man. At a meeting of the League of Nations in
Geneva, Switzerland, a Danish delegate, Mrs. Forchhammer,
dragged Arbuckle’s name into a discussion of international white
slavery. |

Adolph Zukor and other producers of Arbuckle films received
such a flood of abusive and condemnatory mail from Roscoe’s
former fans that they were frightened into promising that none of
his pictures would ever be shown again. With all of this came
persistent threats of national censorship. The studio heads, hoping
to avoid that, decided to ask Will Hays, United States Postmaster
General, to become czar of their industry and to censor them-
selves. They chose Hays, who had also been President Harding’s
campaign manager, because he was the most influential politician
in the United States.

In all, there were three trials of Roscoe Arbuckle in San Fran-
cisco for manslaughter. The first two resulted in hung juries. In
the third he was acquitted by a jury that said he deserved an
apology from those who had wrecked his career with the baseless
charge of contributing to the death of Virginia Rappe.

Before his first trial started, he had returned to Los Angeles to
await the start of court proceedings. With some other of his close
friends I went to meet him at the old Santa Fe Railroad Station
in Los Angeles.

So did a hate-frenzied mob of 1500 men and women who
seemed to want only to get close enough to tear him to pieces.
And they yelled at the fat man they had loved so much a few
weeks before, “Murderer!” “Big, fat slobl” “Beast!” and “Degener-
ate bastard!” Some in the crowd had come to cheer him, but they
were drowned out in the din.

Roscoe never got over that experience. He never could forget
how those people had looked at him and cursed him, how it had
been necessary for the police to rush to protect him from them.
People everywhere in the world seemed to feel the same way
about him as that mob. By then the letters of abuse and vilification
were flooding in from every country in the world. |

However, there was one spot on earth where nobody hated
Roscoe Arbuckle or thought he was guilty. That was Hollywood,
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the town so often pictured as turning on its own people whenever
they get into trouble. What Hollywood did later on to encourage
this bewildered, baby-faced fat man to stand on his feet and face
the terrifying outside world might well be remembered, I think, by
all of us.
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Early in 1921 I broke my leg while making a two-reeler called
The Electric House. The accident happened on a studio-made es-
calator when the sole of my slap shoe got caught in the webbing
of the moving machine. As I got to the top of the escalator I was
tossed for twelve feet, breaking my right leg. I was unable to go
back to work for four months.

I had been discharged from the hospital but was still using a
cane when I received a letter from my girl in New York: “I am
alone now, the only one left living with mother. If you still care
all you have to do is send for me.”

We had had a sort of understanding for more than a year, but I
hadn’t seen her during all of that time and wished to think the
whole thing over carefully. In the end I wired her that my leg
was not yet strong enough for me to go to New York. However,
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I added that Lou Anger and his wife were going to New York
in about two weeks, and I'd travel with them.

That telegram started fireworks. All of the Louellas and Heddas
of the day wrote that I was coming East to marry the girl. They
weren't sure she would accept me or another ardent suitor. He
was an enormously wealthy Chicago dairyman. “So which shall
it be?” they wrote. “Will she choose Buster’s custard pies or her
Chicago beau’s butter and eggs?”

Riding across the country, reading this kind of stuff in the
papers we bought at the various stops, I understood for the first
time the power of the press. When I saw my bride-to-be, the big
butter-and-egg man was hardly mentioned. She had only one ob-
jection to marrying me. She hated to leave New York, something
that was not hard to understand. New York then, at the begin-
ning of the Riproaring Twenties, was the most exciting town on
earth.

“Well, we gotta bring this thing to a head,” I said.

She smiled and told me, “Oh, Buster, you know where I'm
going.”

“Okay, where and when will we be married?” I asked in a brisk,
businesslike tone.

“Let’s make it a week from Saturday at my sister’s home.”
Though I didn’t say, “But this is so sudden,” I certainly thought of
it. But all joking aside, I was very happy about the whole thing.

Shortly after getting out of the Army, by the way, I had brought
my family back to California, and I'd been living with them ever
since. Pop visited my studio each day for lunch, spent his evenings
in the backstages of Los Angeles vaudeville houses, finishing up
each night in the speak-easies with old vaudeville pals.

As newlyweds my wife and I at first lived in a modest house
in Hollywood. Her family moved to the Coast shortly before our
first son, James, was born on June 2, 1922. Our second boy, Robert,
was also born in June two years later.

In my entire life I never knew a family so devoted to one an-
other as my in-laws were. They all worked and thought together
as a team without conflict or jealousy. They all liked me, I think,
and I certainly liked and admired them. But there were times
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when I had the disquieting feeling that I had married not one girl
but a whole family.

I discovered that this had also occurred to other people. My
wife, two of her sisters, and I attended a rather formal party Mack
Sennett was giving. The guest of honor was an aristocratic woman
in her late twenties. Mack was so smitten with this society girl
that he was using the broad “a,” saying things like, “May I get
you a drink, my dear?” and generally flouncing around like some
ridiculous old French roué.

Being a humanitarian at heart, I took it upon myself to bring
the grandfather of movie slapstick back to his senses. I did this
by getting his goat. This was never difficult, I might add. That
night I simply asked the lady to dance and kept whirling her
past him, cheek to cheek.

When the dance was over, Mack came over to me. He was such
a violent-tempered man that I did not know exactly what to ex-
pect. Putting his hand on my shoulder, he waited until he had my
attention. Then he looked at the couch where my wife, her two
sisters, and mother were sitting side by side. I watched his eyes
move slowly from the face of one to another. Then he said, “Buster,
if I wanted to, I could keep you busy for years just explaining!”

Usually I try not to interfere in other people’s affairs. But that
evening, inspired by a few highballs and righteous anger, I was
provoked by the behavior of a famous woman star. She had been
a Broadway show girl and resented the attentions being paid
Mack’s high-toned woman friend. Her husband, one of Holly-
wood’s more dignified directors, was sitting, drink in hand, mind-
ing his own business. Childishly she walked up to him and accused
him of flirting.

When he denied this, she pulled back her hand and slammed
him on the cheek as hard as she could. Then she asked for her
wraps and left. I was standing at the door and observed all of
this. In going out, the star didn’t give me a chance to get out of
her way. She just shoved me to one side. Being no respecter of
ladies who didn’t act like ladies, I stepped through the door be-
hind her and kicked her little behind so hard that I lifted her
about a foot in the air.

She neither cried out nor looked back, just kept on going to
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her car. And she never told her husband about the incident. I
know because I asked him about it years later, after they’d been
divorced.

Breaking my leg, needless to say, had come as a shock to me. I
took it almost as a personal insult. Yet I'd had a pretty bad scare
while making One Week, the first two-reeler I'd been starred in.
Except for the opening scene ( which showed me getting married )
the whole picture was built around my efforts to put together
the portable home I'd bought for our love nest. The villain, en-
raged at losing the girl to me, revenged himself by changing the
number of my lot, which tricked me into putting up the house on
someone else’s property. He also switched the numbers on the
crates containing the various sections of the house. So I built my
house on the wrong lot and also ended up with the craziest-looking
house you ever saw. Every part of it was in the wrong place. The
front door, for example, was on the second floor. There were no
steps, and anyone walking through it would fall straight down
into the garden. This gave me the chance to make a sensational
fall. To lessen the impact we dug a deep, very wide hole in the
garden, filled this with straw, and replaced the squares of sod
on top of the straw. The lawn looked solid but collapsed like paper
when I fell on it. I only felt a jar at the time. It was about two
hours before quitting time, and I finished out the day.

But as I was getting dressed I discovered that my left elbow
had swelled to double its normal size. I could not even get my
jacket on. My other elbow, my back, and both arms were also
swelling up fast.

Al Gilmore, my unit’s physical trainer, put me under a shower
with the water as hot as I could stand. He kept me there for fif-
teen minutes, then got me under an ice-cold shower for almost as
long. When I was dry he rubbed me down with olive oil. That
was to prevent the horse liniment, which he applied next, from
taking my skin off. Under this treatment the swelling went down
little by little. When I was dressed for home, Al told me, “Get a
good night’s sleep. You will not need any extra blankets. That
horse liniment will keep you warm.” Al was right.

A few years later I broke my neck while making Sherlock, Jr.
But I did not even know about it until long afterward. One day
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when my doctor was giving me a physical checkup, he asked me
when I'd sustained the fracture which, of course, had completely
healed by then. |

I had to think for quite a while before figuring out that it
must have happened during a sequence of Sherlock, Jr. In this
I ran along the top of a train and grabbed a rope dangling
from a water tower to swing off to the ground. This set up the
gag for the spout to open.

But we underestimated the volume of water that would fall on
me from that ten-inch spout. The stream struck me so hard it tore
loose my grip on the rope. I fell back on the track with my neck
snapped down square across the steel rail.

Conditioning is the one thing, I suppose, that can enable a man
to walk around unaware that he has a broken neck. While making
another feature comedy, The Navigator, I was almost strangled
while experimenting with a new deep-sea diver’s suit. Condi-
tioning couldn’t help me out of that jam, of course, but an alert
co-worker did.

The gag called for me to be smoking a cigarette when the girl
tried to put my helmet on. I left the cigarette in my mouth while
I reached up to help her get it on. Accidentally, she gave it a half
twist, locking it. The smoke from the cigarette threw me into
a frenzy of coughing. Fortunately, Ermie Orsatti, the St. Louis
Cardinals’ ballplayer who was working with our crew, noticed the
trouble I was in and twisted off the helmet in the nick of time.

My acting career continued to prosper after I was married.
When I completed eight two-reelers for Metro release, Joe
Schenck set up a deal for me to make a dozen more to be dis-
tributed by First National, a company organized by independent
theatre owners. They were trying to make sure that Zukor, Loew,
and the other theatre chain operators would not control all of
Hollywood’s movies.

I still enjoyed doing burlesques and travesties more than any-
thing else. In the first of the First National two-reelers, The Play-
house, I kidded the habit of Tom Ince, an outstanding director,
of giving himself every sort of screen credit possible on his pic-
tures. I did this by having the photographer make shots of Buster
Keaton on the stage and also playing the various instruments in
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the orchestra. I was also the conductor. There were additional
Buster Keatons in the audience. In 1921, this required trick
photography of a sort that had never before been attempted.
Until then a double exposure that showed a star (usually one
playing twins) on the screen twice at one time made audiences
gasp. It was considered a scientific miracle. But my cameraman
managed to get nine different Buster Keatons on the screen at
once.

In The Frozen North, which I made the following year, I did a
burlesque of William S. Hart, the great Western star. At one time
Hart’s popularity was exceeded by only three other performers,
Chaplin, Fairbanks, and Mary Pickford. In 1922 he was still a great
drawing card. Bill, though, was not one of your handsome movie
cowboys, and he took himself and his art quite seriously. In his
pictures he did not sing, whistle, or yodel. Nor did he dress like
some Dapper Dan of the Great Plains. As a boy he had lived on
the Frontier, and he tried hard in his pictures to show the Old
West as he remembered it. The saloons in Hart’s pictures looked
like the ramshackle bars he had seen there. The people who sat
drinking, playing poker, and had gun fights in them behaved like
human beings, equally capable of good and evil. Bill himself
played what came to be known as a good bad man.

But Bill, in his youth, had left the West to become an actor. He
had played Shakespeare, toured with Modjeska, appeared in the
original 1899 production of Ben Hur as Messala, the villain. All
this had given him some taste for ham flavoring. If Bill didn’t
romanticize the Old West he sure gimmicked up his good bad
man with plenty of imaginative touches. He rolled Bull Durham
cigarettes with one hand. He kept his Stetson on with a leather
string tied under his chin. On his gaunt eagle face this looked
good. But no real cowboy ever wore one, to my knowledge. Real
cowboys also didn’t blaze away at human varmints with guns in
both hands as Bill did on the screen. But the main thing he did
in his pictures that they didn’t do in real life was cry. After about
1918 there was at least one scene in every Hart movie in which
Bill broke down and unashamedly let glycerin tears roll down his
thin, leathery he-man cheeks.

In my burlesque of Bill Hart I got a good laugh by opening
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with a scene showing me coming up out of a New York subway-
exit kiosk situated in the middle of frozen Donner Lake. Like Bill,
I kept my hat on with a leather string tied under my chin and I
carried a six-shooter on each thigh. I made futile attempts to roll
a cigarette with one hand.

But it was an action gag in this picture that burned up Bill
Hart when he saw it. This showed me coming home and discover-
ing a couple hugging. Though I cannot see their faces I am con-
vinced it is my wife and a lover. I turn pale, then amazed, and
finally am crushed. Huge glycerin tears roll down my face. It is
as if I am saying to myself, “The better man won.” I shrug hope-
lessly as I turn away.

Yes, I turn to go. But just as I reach the door I look back and
discover them kissing. This is too much even for me, the human
worm, to endure. I pull out both guns and shoot them down like
dogs. But they don’t fall like dogs. They stand up, whirl around,
and then kerplop dead on the floor.

Full of power, I walk back masterfully to look at them. I gaze
in indifference at the stranger who has wrecked my home, sav-
agely kick his lifeless form to one side. I am about to kick my
wife’s dead body aside also when I get my first look at her face.
It isn't my wife at all. It is some other woman I've never seen
before.

A subtitle flashes on the screen. It reads, “My God! I'm in the
wrong house.”

Bill's fans knew, of course, when they saw this picture that I
was burlesquing their idol. As an old-time trouper Bill should
have known that you can only burlesque successes, never flops.
Also that if I imitated him it was only because I admired him so
much that I wanted to be Bill Hart for a little while on the screen.

Ballet dancers, along with tenors, are supposed to be the most
temperamental of performers. I've done imitations of both with-
out hurting their feelings. Once when I was a kid we played on a
vaudeville bill with Pavlova, the world’s greatest ballerina. I imi-
tated her doing her classic, “The Dying Swan,” and Anna Pavlova
loved it.

But Bill Hart, the Western sheriff with the heart of oak, couldn’t
take it. Mutual friends told me that he didn’t mind too much
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the leather string under my chin, the two guns blazing away, or
my messing up his one-handed cigarette-rolling trick. What really
got him, they said, was my kidding his crying. My guess is that he
knew in his heart how fake that was. Perhaps he did it just to
prove that his fans would accept anything he did on the screen.
Bill did not speak to me for two years after he saw that picture.

I very much liked another two-reeler that I made for First
National. This told the story of a man with a wife and two kids
who built a 20-foot boat in his cellar and then found it was too
big to get out of the house and had to knock out a wall. But
after all that, it sank when he finally got it into the water. The
end of this picture drew a lot of favorable comment. It showed
my porkpie hat valiantly floating along on the surface of the
water as though I were walking underwater just beneath it.

I had made eleven of the twelve pictures for First National
and was starting the last one when Joe Schenck got this telegram
from John D. Williams, president of the company:

WE DO NOT WISH TO RENEW KEATON CONTRACT STOP WE
CANNOT BE BOTHERED WITH HIS SHORT SUBJECTS

Schenck showed this to me. “Okay,” I told him, “I will do them
an additional favor! I won’t make the last picture for them.”

“Buster,” said Joe, “your contract calls for you to make twelve
pictures. I can handle this situation—but not if you refuse to make
the final picture for them.”

“But if they say they can’t be bothered,” I said, “my answer is
‘Fine, then I'm doing you a favor in not bothering you with a
twelfth picture.””

I explained that Mr. Williams was putting me in the same
ridiculous position as Martin Beck had when he stood in the wings
and said to Pop, “Make me laugh!” “How can I make a man
laugh,” I asked, “who tells the that he can’t be bothered with my
comedies? Why should I want to?”

When Schenck saw Mr. Williams later Williams admitted the
wire was a bluff, sent to counter the demand for more money
they expected us to make.

That being the case, Mr. Williams outsmarted himself, for I
never did make that twelfth little movie for First National. Just

172



MARRIAGE AND PROSPERITY SNEAK UP ON ME

about that time Loew sent word that he wanted me to make
full-length features for his company, Metro, to release.

Working with my own unit on my own lot I made several suc-
cessful ones. The first of these Metro releases was Three Ages,
the second, Our Hospitality. As I mentioned, most of my features
cost from $200,000 to $220,000 to produce and grossed in rentals
$1,000,000 upward. The enormous profits justified our spending
that much on production, 20 to 30 per cent more than the aver-
age dramatic feature then cost to make.

The new deal enabled me to do two features a year, one for
spring release, the other for the fall. These took about eight weeks
to shoot against three for a two-reeler. This new schedule allowed
me much more time for building up the story and the other
preparatory work. Cutting required from two to three weeks. This
allowed me three weeks off between the end of one picture and
the start of the next.

In one or two of my later two-reelers I had tried putting in a
story line. But this had not always proved feasible, and the faster
the gags came in most short comedies, the better. In the features
I soon found out that one had to present believable characters in
situations that the audience accepted. The best format I found was
to start out with a normal situation, maybe injecting a little
trouble but not enough to prevent us from getting laughs. That
permitted us to introduce the characters getting in and out of
situations that were not too difficult. It was when we approached
the final third of the picture that we had the characters in serious
trouble which permitted bigger laughs, the biggest of all coming
when catastrophe threatens. I never repeated a gag or used the
same plot twice unless these could be so heavily camouflaged as
to be unrecognizable. Often the plot was based on a melodramatic
situation as in The Navigator, where one nation’s agents set adrift
a steamship just bought by its enemy. But the situation need not
always be a serious one. A good example of a lighthearted plot is
College, in which I played an honor student who finds out he is
unpopular with his girl and everyone else after he denounces col-
lege athletics. To win back his girl he decides to go in for sports.

When we turned to the making of features we found a whole
set of new problems facing us. One of the first decisions I made
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was to cut out custard-pie throwing. It seemed to me that the
public by that time—it was 1923—had had enough of that. The
pies looked messy on the screen anyway. So no pie was ever
thrown in a Buster Keaton feature.

We also discontinued using what we called impossible gags or
cartoon gags. These can be very funny in a cartoon short, and
sometimes in a two-reeler. I'll illustrate with one I had used in
Hard Luck, one of my own two-reelers. At the end of this I go
swimming at a fashionable country club. There are many elegant
society people and beautiful girls around the pool.

To impress the girls I climb to the high-diving board and spend
whole minutes testing it, flexing my muscles, measuring carefully
the thirty-six feet between me and the water. After all that, I do
a swan dive but miss the swimming pool completely and crash
through the adjoining cement walk, making a big hole as I
disappear.

After the fade-out a subtitle reading “Years later” is flashed
on the screen. Again the pool at the country club is seen, but
the whole place is now a deserted ruin. There is no water in the
swimming pool. In a moment I clamber up out of the hole in the
cement walk. I am in Chinese costume, complete with pigtail, and
help my Chinese wife and kids up out of the hole. In pantomime
I point to the high-diving board, then to the hole I made, and
we all laugh.

The people in the audience also were laughing as they went
out. But that sort of gag I would never use in a full-length picture
—because it could not happen in real life, it was an impossible gag.
If we had done what we were trying to do in a feature the
audience would go along with us, believing in the characters they
were watching. So in pulling an impossible gag on them in a fea-
ture, we were saying, “April fooll” or “Sucker!” to them for be-
lieving in our story.

Another interesting thing I learned later was that once you got
the audience interested in what the hero was doing they deeply
resented anything that interrupted him. It didn’t matter what ter-
rific gag you gave them. |

I had this demonstrated to me some years later when we were
previewing The Navigator, my biggest money-maker. I consider
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The Navigator and The General the two best movies I ever made.
In one scene in The Navigator 1 was alone with the girl on a
beached ship close to a cannibal-infested island.

To save her and myself, I went underwater in a diver’s outfit
in a heroic effort to dislodge the ship. While working mightily, I
used many gags the audience loved. I set up a sawhorse labeled
“men at work” in the sand at the bottom of the sea; I caught a
swordfish, and, when another swordfish attacked me, I used the
first fish to duel with him. I got my hands dirty while at the bottom
of the sea and washed them in a bucket of water. Finding I'd
forgotten my pliers, I picked up a lobster which bit a wire in
two with one of its claws.

The gag that failed was my favorite, and it cost a lot of money.
After we figured it out, I had the property department construct
1,200 rubber fish each fourteen to fifteen inches long. These were
suspended on thin strings the audience couldnt see. We used a
big machine that looked like a newspaper printing press to re-
volve them in front of the camera. The effect we got was that of a
large school of fish passing by in a steady stream. One big fish
came up but could not get through the school. To solve his prob-
lem I pick up a starfish that is clinging to a rock, attach it to my
chest, and start directing the piscatorial traffic like a submarine
traffic cop. Holding up my hand so the big fish could get through
did the trick. The stream of fish passing by stop, the big fellow
crosses, then I wave to the school to go on.

In my opinion this was as good a sight gag as I ever had, and it
still is my favorite. When we put it in the trailer, announcing The
Navigator as a coming attraction, the audience howled. But when
we previewed the whole picture at Long Beach it brought not a
titter. The same thing happened when we tried The Navigator
out in theatres in Riverside and a couple of other nearby towns.

It took us a long time to figure out why that wonderful gag laid
an egg. One of my gagmen, Clyde Bruckman, was so stunned he
almost took the pledge. It is always an interesting problem to me
when an audience rejects any such sure-fire laugh-getter. I wonder
whether it is because the customers were too concemed in figuring
out the mechanics of the gag, how it was done, to be amused. Or
it might be something else. In this case we showed it again in the
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trailer, and everybody once more liked it. That gave me an answer
that satisfied me. The other gags were accepted by audiences who
saw the whole picture, because they did not interfere with my
job of saving the girl. But when I directed the submarine traffic I
was interrupting the rescue to do something else that couldn’t
help us out of the jam.

I threw the gag out. There was nothing else to do. Some of my
co-workers thought the gag flopped because it was too intricate.
But I still believe it fell dead because it showed the hero inter-
rupting the job of saving himself and the girl.

From that day on, I realized that my feature comedies would
succeed best when the audience took the plot seriously enough to
root for me as I indomitably worked my way out of mounting
perils.

There was also the matter of timing. Just as in vaudeville, you
lost the laugh when you threw a gag at them too quickly, or for
that matter too slowly. The difference was that on the stage you
had the chance to test and retest your comedy material before live
audiences. The customers only saw a gag or comedy scene in a
movie after it was made, cut, and in the can. Often it was ex-
pensive remaking scenes with brand new gags in them. And that’s
how the protection or alternate gag was born.

During the years we were trying to figure out what made movie
fans laugh, and why, there was an extraordinary silent-pictures
comic who made many successful one-reel and two-reel pictures.
His name was Larry Semon, and he was so weird looking that he
could have posed either as a pinhead or a Man from Outer Space.
His movies were combinations of cartoon gags, fantastic gags, and
farcical plots.

Chaplin, Lloyd, and myself just couldn’t make two-reelers as
packed with laughs as Larry’s. But when an audience got half a
block from the theatre, after being convulsed by Semon’s wham-
mios, they couldn’t have told you what they had laughed at. I
would say this was because they were impossible gags. Only
things that one could imagine happening to real people, I guess,
remain in a person’s memory.

The same thing is true, for some reason, with most word gags.
Bob Hope is one of the funniest men alive. He can double you
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up with bright quips and dazzling sallies. But how many of his
jokes can you recall five minutes after the Bob Hope show goes
off the air? People talked about the sight gags in our silent come-
dies for weeks and months. Some of them are still remembered by
certain of our fans, now middle-aged. I was talking to one of these
fellows just the other day. I happened to mention that The
Butcher Shop was the first movie I appeared in.

“Just a minute,” he said, “wasn’t that the one in which Fatty
Arbuckle had a raccoon coat hanging on a hook that he put on to
go into the store’s big refrigerator, and he took off again when he
came out?”

He was right to the point in that he had seen that picture just
once, in 1917, forty-two years before.

So much has been written down through the years of that fabu-
lous 1924 merger in which Loew’s company, Metro, bought the
Samuel Goldwyn lot in Culver City that I am astonished that one
detail of the deal has never been described in the public prints:
namely, how the greatest of all film studios acquired its name.

Marcus Loew’s first decision was to call it Metro-Goldwyn. But
Louis B. Mayer, then an independent producer, was eager to get
into the big deal. In the dickering he had three aces to play, or so
he thought. They were his exclusive contracts with two stars, Anita
Stewart and Mildred Harris Chaplin, the estranged wife of Char-
lie, and with a youthful genius named Irvin Thalberg. Mayer had
recently hired Thalberg, then twenty-three, away from Universal
where he had started his career as an office boy.

Mayer got a bad shock when it turned out that Loew wanted
neither of his stars for the new company. What he wanted more
than any star in pictures was the brilliant young Thalberg. By
then Loew had become more convinced than ever that superior
stories were the key to box-office success. And his friends at Uni-
versal had told him that Thalberg had a great story mind, could

select screen material and work without discord with the most
temperamental of writers.

During the dickering in New York between Mayer on one side
and Loew and Nick Schenck on the other, it was agreed that
Mayer was to be vice-president and general manager of the new
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concern, Thalberg second vice-president and supervisor of pro-
duction.

When that was settled Louis B. Mayer said, “Why don’t you use
my name as part of the firm’s name?”

“Why should we?” asked Nick Schenck. “Marcus and I are not
putting our names in the firm’s title.”

“But that would give me so much more incentive to work hard
out there,” argued Mayer. “And anyway three names sound more
impressive than two. Listen!” As they did, he said, “Metro-Gold-
wyn,” paused, and after a moment, “Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer!”
Then he demanded, “Can’t you hear what class the three names
give it, what solidity and distinction? It’s the same way with Hart
Schaffner and Marx. Hart Schaffner sounds like nothing at all.
Neither does Schaffner Marx. But Hart Schaffner and Marx! With
that they had something. And look what a firm that has become
just because they use three names instead of two.”

And, sure enough, when the announcement of the merger came
it included the news that the new studio would be known not as
Metro-Goldwyn, but as Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer!

In time, Louis B. Mayer became the highest paid executive in
the world with over a million-dollar annual income. If it is true
that you can’t laugh at a million dollars you can laugh even less at
a million a year. But, besides his gifts as an executive, Mayer was
also the industry’s greatest salesman, and he proved it that day
when he elbowed his name into “Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer,” which
became the trade-mark for elegance in movies the world over.
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Like many movie people I made considerable money during the
early twenties in real-estate deals. After living in our modest
Hollywood house a short while, I borrowed $50,000 from Joe
Schenck to buy a home of my own. After living in it for six months,
I resold it for $85,000. Then I bought another house for $55,000,
lived in that one for six months, and sold it for $85,000. I used some
of my profits to help Mom buy a large home for the family.

In 1924 I built a beautiful three-bedroom home in Beverly Hills
for my own family. It cost only $33,000, but it was on a large lot,
had a swimming pool, and was ideal for the four of us. I was so
sure of this that I wouldn’t let my wife see it until it was ready to
move into. I wanted to surprise her.

When the great day came for her to look it over we brought
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along Mrs. Berenice Mannix, whose husband Eddie was then Joe
Schenck’s studio manager.

My wife took one look at the house and announced that it was
too small. “In the first place,” she said, “it has no room for the
governess. Where would she sleep?”

Our Jim was then three years old, Bob—a year-old baby. Until
then I had not been told they required a governess who would
sleep in.

“Can’t you see, Buster?” she said. “We will need one bedroom
for ourselves, the boys another, the butler and cook another. So
we better have a place with another bedroom for her.”

Meanwhile Mrs. Mannix had been ohing and ahing very audibly
about the new house. “Oh, what wouldn’t I give for this housel”
she kept exclaiming. “It’s perfect.”

I looked at my wife, then at her. “If you really want it, Bere-
nice,” I said, “it’s yours. Have Eddie look at it, and if he likes it I
will sell it to you.”

Eddie liked it almost as much as his wife did. His only doubt
- about buying it was due to the possibility that Schenck might de-
cide to return to New York and make his headquarters there. If
that happened Mannix would have to go back with him. In view
of this, I would buy the house back at that same price if he had to
return East at any time. Not long afterward Eddie became one
of the Big Three at the Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios. He has
outlasted everybody there but still lives in the home that was too
small for my first wife.

I was risking nothing, of course, in making that offer. In the
mid-twenties real estate was booming all over southern California,
and the choicest lots and houses were right there in Beverly Hills.

The house I finally built in Beverly for the four of us was large
enough to satisfy anyone. It was a two-story mansion with five
bedrooms, two additional bedrooms for the servants and a three-
room apartment over the garage for the gardener and his wife,
who worked as our upstairs maid. This made six servants with a
cook, butler, chauffeur, and governess. It stood on three and a
half acres of beautiful lawn.

The land and house together cost me $200,000, and we spent
another $100,000 furnishing it. I designed some of the furniture
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myself—the king-sized bed that my wife wanted for her room, the
fancy bed I put in mine, and a wonderful pair of high bedroom
bureaus of dark oak, with a full-length mirror set between them.
I had these pieces built by the carpenters at the studio.

I still remember the thrill of pride that went through me the
day that Nick Schenck saw that house for the first time. That
multi-millionaire whistled, and whispered, “I hope, Buster, you
aren’t going over your head on this place.”

I told him “No,” and I sincerely believed that. By that time I
was getting $2,000 a week, plus 25 per cent of my pictures’ profits
which brought me an additional $100,000 a year.

The $300,000 investment in that house seemed to me the safest
I could make. The last thing that occurred to me, of course, was
the possibility that my wife might one day take away that won-
derful property from me. Which reminds me that after we moved
into that house my wife’s personal expenses for clothes and other
knickknacks averaged $goo a week. I put no rein on her spending
at any time.

I realize now that one thing wrong with our marriage was that
the one way that my wife, a frustrated actress, could compete with
the famous women stars we associated with was in spending and
entertaining and living as luxuriously as they did. This was quite
a job, for it was an era of wild spending, and few of the silent
women stars were frugal, and their earnings were enormous.

But it would be unfair and ridiculous for me to pretend that I
myself was the frugal type. I bought myself everything I wanted,
including the finest clothes, cars, hunting and fishing equipment.
I spared no expense on our huge swimming pool or on the patio
I had built behind the house. I spent $14,000 moving to the
rear of the house forty-two towering palm trees that had lined
the drive in front.

I also enjoyed as much as my wife did throwing big parties.
During the winter we had costume balls at the house. Excepting
only the invitations to the fabulous shindigs given by Hearst and
Marion Davies, invitations to our parties were the most eagerly
sought in Hollywood. Best of all I liked the barbecue parties we
gave each Sunday from May to October except when we went out
of town over the weekend. I'd draft Buster Collier and Ed Brophy
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to help me serve the eighty, or so, guests we had invited. Many
others came uninvited. They had heard about our wonderful bar-
becued chickens, steaks, and English lamb chops.

Wilson Mizner, the country’s greatest wit, had a standing invi-
tation. He boasted that he could smell my cooking even in Santa
Barbara, ninety miles away. Among other guests who seldom
failed to appear were most of the M-G-M big shots and directors
and their wives; the Mayers, the Mannixes, and the Thalbergs, the
Clarence Browns, Jack Conways, Bob Leonards, also Sam Gold-
wyn, Howard Hughes, Hearst, Marion Davies, Joe Schenck, and,
of course, each and every in-law.

When the boys were little I worried about the way they were
being spoiled by my in-laws with the wholehearted assistance of
my own mother and sister. Whatever my boys wanted they were
given immediately. It was for their own sakes that I did not want
Bob and Jim to be spoiled. Like everyone else I have noticed how
difficult and disagreeable life can become for the spoiled child
when he grows up.

Being Buster Keaton’s kids, the boys were wild Katzenjammer
types whose imaginations did not incline them to constructive
projects. On one occasion they became fed up with being told to
wash their hands and face before each meal. They managed to
turn off the house’s water supply. All of it. Unable to get a drop
of water from any faucet, upstairs or down, my wife called the
Beverly Hills Water Department which dispatched some experts.
The Department’s men dug up 150 feet of lawn, seeking a break
in the main, before someone discovered that the whole trouble
was due to the water being shut off under every sink in the house.

On another occasion the boys decided they didn’t care for the
food they were being served. Informed by the governess they must
eat it anyway they waited until her back was turned. Then they
dumped the food on their plates into the heating grate built into
the floor. The heat had been turned on so their misdemeanor was
quickly discovered when the food started burning in the grate.

A Rabelaisian side of those two kids was aroused the day a very
social Beverly Hills woman called on my wife to ask her to work
on some charity drive. The matron had her golden-haired little
daughter with her. She was about four and romped off merrily to
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play with Bob and Jim. A half hour or so later my wife invited her
visitor to have tea on the porch.

On walking out there they found the little girl doing a spring
dance on the lawn, with my boys laughing their heads off and
applauding. Jim and Bob had taken off all her clothes.

The lads developed another little trick I did not care for at all.
Whenever a picture of mine was showing at a local theatre my
sons would storm inside without tickets. When the ticket taker or
an usher tried to stop them they became abusive.

“What have you to say about it?” they’d demand. “After all, it is
our father’s movie youre showing here. So why should we buy
tickets?”

The governess meanwhile was at the box office buying the
tickets. Each time she warned them to wait for her, but they’d
just run in anyway, stopping only to browbeat the man at the
door.

My wife also was strong minded in certain ways. She had
wanted a girl for her first child and put pink ribbons on the baby
clothes. When the baby turned out to be a boy she refused to
change them to blue.

“Pink is for girls,” I told her. “Blue is for boys.”

“No, pink is for boys,” she insisted.

I didn’t argue, figuring she preferred pink.

What did hurt me a little was when she insisted on naming our
first boy Jimmy. I thought he should have been named Joseph like
the four first sons of first sons who preceded him. But James was
the name she preferred, and James he was christened.

Though bridge was always Hollywood’s favorite indoor sport—
well, with one exception—I had no interest in playing it until I
went on a trip to New York and found myself on the same train
as Nick Schenck and Mr. and Mrs. Hiram Abrams. Abrams, who
was president of United Artists, and his wife were excellent
bridge players. On learning that neither Nick nor I played they
offered to teach us the game. I drew Mr. Abrams as a partner.

Like so many old pinochle players trying bridge for the first
time I was reluctant to sacrifice my hand for the sake of my part-
ner. Mr. Abrams kept telling me that I was stupid and became
more abusive as the day wore on. Finally I said, “We better play
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some other kind of game, because if you bawl me out once more
I'll slap the taste right out of your mouth.”

With that I rushed out of their drawing room. Nick Schenck
followed me to the observation car and tried to calm me down.
But I was past calming and refused to have anything more to do
with Abrams on that trip.

That man had me so sore that I spent hundreds of my spare
hours during the next six months studying up on the game. I read
everything about bridge I could find. Only then did I begin to
play, starting with games at a quarter of a cent a point. As my
game gradually improved I went to a one cent a point game, next
jumped to ten cents a point and finally to games at twenty-five
cents a point, which is big-league bridge and big-league money
anywhere.

A little over two years after that train trip I was invited to Joe
Schenck’s New York apartment for dinner. Sam Goldwyn and
Abrams also were there. After dinner Abrams said, “I guess we'll
not be able to have our usual game tonight. We haven’t got a
fourth, have we?”

“Oh, yes we have,” said Schenck.

“Who?”

“Buster plays,” said Joe.

When we cut for partners, Abrams and I drew each other as
partners. Mr. Abrams shuddered and suggested a re-cut. Neither
Schenck nor Goldwyn objected to this, for they had both played
with me recently in games on the Coast. That night I drew Gold-
wyn as my partner in the re-cut.

I was in New York two weeks on that trip and played a lot of
bridge at twenty-five cents a point, with Mr. Abrams in on many
of the sessions. I made a point of asking for a re-cut each time I
drew him as my partner. The day I started home I had the pleas-
ure of accepting his check for $3,400. This covered his losses to me
during the two weeks.

“Next time,” he said as he forked over the check, “you will
please take me as your partner.”

“What for?” I replied. “It’s more fun for me this way—and also
more profitable.”

Smiling Sam Goldwyn was another movie bigwig who could get
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very testy at a bridge table. But then Goldwyn, the greatest of all
independent Hollywood producers, has always had a mind that
seems childlike at times.

One evening when he, his wife, and the Joe Schencks were din-
ing at my house, Goldwyn announced, “I have just bought the
book of the year.”

“You mean All Quiet on the Western Front?” asked Schenck.

Goldwyn nodded, and Schenck told him, “I was interested in
bidding for it but after thinking it over decided I did not want to
buy it. I felt it had a sort of gruesome story to tell and, worst of
all, was the sad ending. The hero, after all, is a German, and his
side loses the war.”

“I got that all figured out,” said Goldwyn with a happy grin. “I
am going to have the Germans win the war.”

We both looked at him in astonishment. Schenck said, “You are
kidding, Sam.”

“No, I'm not,” said Goldwyn.

“If you ever tried to change the ending of the World War,”
Schenck said earnestly, “you’d make yourself the laughingstock
of the world.”

The following week when the three of us were again together,
Goldwyn announced, “I sold All Quiet on the Western Front to
Universal for $10,000 more than I paid for it, and was I glad to
get rid of it!”

The footnote to the story was that the picture, in which the
Germans did not win the war, grossed a whopping $8,000,000 and
saved Universal Pictures from bankruptcy.

Sam and I had a run-in one evening when we were partners in
a bridge game. My cards were bad, and he became quite abusive.

When I'd taken all I cared to, I pointed out that when he was
playing with Schenck, Louis B. Mayer, and other big shots he

managed to control his temper quite well. I told him he could con-
trol it now.

My cards continued to be bad and so did his abuse. “Do you
want me to force the cards?” I asked. “Or do you want me to
break this bridge table over your head?”

“Oh, now you are a table-thrower?” he said. The game ended
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when Frances, his wife, fearing we would come to blows, came to
the door of the room with Sam’s hat and coat in her hands.

This was soon after the breakup of my first marriage. I never
played bridge with Sam Goldwyn again. I do not think I saw him
again until a day when I was down and out and needed work
badly. This was no secret in Hollywood, and I was grateful when
Sam’s secretary phoned me to say that her boss wanted to see me
about a part in a picture he was making about John L. Sullivan, the
old bare-knuckle champion. When I got to his office at the ap-
pointed time the secretary told me, “Oh yes, Mr. Goldwyn is
waiting to see you. I walked in, Goldwyn looked up. After staring
at me for quite a while, he shook his head. '

“I had this part in a picture that I thought you could do,
Buster,” he said, “but now I see you I realize I was wrong. You'd
never be able to do it.”

I do not know what Sam expected me to do, leap at his throat
or get down on my knees and beg for the part. But he did not
expect me to do what I did: laugh and walk out.

I suppose Sam felt as foolish that day as I did on a certain
Sunday in 1926. I was sitting alone on the porch of Bebe Daniels’s
beach home when I noticed that a girl out in the rough surf seemed
to be having trouble. The breakers kept rolling in, knocking her
down. Every time she managed to get to her feet another big wave
would come in and bowl her over.

Just to be on the safe side I went out there to help her get safely
to shore. As it turned out, she got in all right on her own. As we
came out of the water Bebe ran down to us and asked, “Have you
two met?”

When I said no, she said to the girl, “This is Buster Keaton,” and
to me “Buster, this is Gertrude Ederle. You've read about her. She
swam the English Channel a couple of weeks ago.”

Throughout the twenties one of the great social events each year
was the New Year’s Eve party given by Joe Schenck at the Casino
at Tijuana. James J. Coffroth, the old-time boxing promoter, and
Baron Long, the man who ran the Casino, tried to make it the
Western Hemisphere’s first complete playground for adults.
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But its main lure to people in our part of the Prohibition-harried
United States was its accessibility as a legal drinking place.

I had one of my goofiest adventures there because of a beautiful
woman whom I was eager to stay as far away from as possible.
What happened to men who didn’t was depressing even to think
about.

The woman was Mary Nolan, the blonde, slim, and gorgeous
M-G-M movie star who had been Imogene (Bubbles) Wilson in
the days when she was a Ziegfeld show girl and universally ac-
claimed the most beautiful girl on Broadway.

Frank Tinney, the stage comedian, was the first of her ill-starred
admirers, and he didn’t even fall in love with her. She fell in love
with him. Before she fell out of love with mild little Frank he had
lost his wife, his home, his life savings, his job, and his reputation.
All he acquired in exchange was the police record he got when she
had him arrested for beating her up. There were several such
beatings, one so severe that the hospital doctor who examined Imo-
gene said, “This woman looks as though she’d been hit by an
automobile.” Imogene sued Tinney for $100,000, then pursued him
to London where he was trying to start a new career for himself.
There was a reconciliation and more beatings. It all ended when
Frank returned to America and went into one mental hospital
after another.

It was the end of his career but only the beginning of hers, for
Imogene went on to Berlin where she became a screen star under
the name of Imogene Robertson. She also continued getting into
the newspapers, first as the companion of King Alfonso of Spain,
who gave her a bejeweled brooch and a weekend in the royal
palace, and later of a German baron who carried her off to a castle
on the Rhine.

As Mary Nolan she became an M-G-M star and the sweetheart
of one of its top executives. He also beat her up so badly that she
was again taken to a hospital. From her room there she phoned
him and got him into such a rage that he went down to the
hospital and beat her up all over again. Subsequently she sued
this lover for half a million dollars.

However this double assault on Mary occurred some years after
the New Year’s party at Tijuana. Among the other guests present
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were Tom Mix, Gary Cooper, John Barrymore, Richard Dix, Buster
Collier, Louis Wolheim, David Wark Griffith, and several younger
performers, including one who was just becoming famous. He was
there with the girl he later married. As they are still prominent,
let’s call them Walter and Evelyn.

Griffith, the greatest of the early movie directors, had not made
a film in years, but his camera eye and romantic story sense never
stopped working. They were both at their liveliest on an evening
such as this one when, with the rest of us, he was imbibing very
select strong waters.

It so happened that Mary Nolan and Walter were sitting op-
posite him, side by side. And in that young couple he saw beauty
and glamour enough to strike the whole world with awe and
wonder: the girl, a blonde with a crown of lovely hair, diaphanous
skin, the face of an angel with the bluest eyes in Christendom; the
boy, handsome with black, curly hair, powerful shoulders, and as
unworldly as any youth from the backwoods.

Griffith’s wrinkled, eaglelike face lighted up as he studied them.
He seemed enraptured. .

“Are you two engaged?” he asked.

“No,” said Walter, shyly smiling at Miss Nolan. Apparently he
had forgotten for the moment that his girl was sitting at his other
elbow.

“What a pity,” said Griffith in that benevolent old Southerner’s
voice he had used to charm great performances out of Dick
Barthelmess, the Gish girls, and so many others. He added softly,
“Why don’t you think of it?” Swept away, the screen’s first master
storyteller began weaving a real-life romance. “Why shouldn’t you
two beautiful young people marry here in these picturesque sur-
roundings of romantic old Mexico? What a union! This young
woman who even now is wearing the lovely white evening dress
that might well be her wedding gown! And for her groom, this
man, one of the most handsome youths in all the world.”

Both of them modestly cast down their eyes. But Evelyn looked
as though she were turning to stone.

“Why dont you think of it?” repeated the old man in that
throbbing and persuasive voice of his. “An enchanting idea, isn't
it? To be married as the bells of Old Mexico toll in the New Year.”
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Everybody at the table by this time had stopped chattering,
and even drinking, as he continued: “Soft music. The ceremony
performed in an old monastery. And the church bells. Think of
the bells of this quaint, picturesque old country. Each year for
centuries they have brought new hope of happiness and freedom
to a warmhearted, valiant people. And those old church bells
tolling would bring the hope of happiness to you also, my dear
children.”

“I'm willing,” said Mary, who had never had time enough be-
tween romances to be married.

“I guess it would be all right,” said Walter.

The first opportunity I had after dinner I got hold of Buster
Collier and Louis Wolheim and said, “Let’s promote this thing.”

Being as mischief-loving as I, they were eager to help. We dis-
cussed what important local resident should be asked to tie the
knot. The archbishop? The mayor?

Then Wolheim, who'd been a college professor although he
didn’t look it, pointed out that in a Catholic country like Mexico
there might be certain formalities that would delay the ceremony.
We decided then that it would have to be a fake wedding. There
was a New York lawyer at the party who looked like a Mexican.
Someone suggested he might do if he could be persuaded to
officiate. It also occurred to us that before long Walter might
appreciate the favor we’d done for him in making it merely a fake
wedding.

All our wedding plans, though, were canceled quickly by Eve-
lyn, our prospective groom’s fiancée. “Walter,” she asked in a
honeyed voice, “have you seen how beautiful the moonlight is in
the patio?”

“No,” he admitted.

“Well, come with me,” she told him. He went along obediently,
after excusing himself to Mary Nolan.

“Look, darling,” exclaimed Evelyn when she had him out there
in the clearing. “Did you ever see anything so lovely?”

Walter inspected the moonlight but not for very long. He had
no more than turned his eyes heavenward than Evelyn reached
back to left field. She hit him only with her open hand, but it was
such a haymaker that it split his lip and also knocked him into a
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cactus bush. It took Walter fifteen minutes to tidy himself up
enough to be presentable; half of that time, the bootblack there
said later, was spent pulling the thorns out of his rear.

When he returned to public view he hurried to Evelyn’s side
and stayed there. Meanwhile Mary Nolan had disappeared—and
everybody hoped she’d remain out of sight.

At one o’clock that evening I was at the bar minding my own
business, which was for the moment the pleasant business of
drinking. Suddenly Mary rushed up to me, seized my hand, and
pulled me away. Her breath was coming in little puffs which made
her bosom rise and fall in a very attractive manner. While thus
distracted, I was led through various rooms, past the gambling
tables and another large bar. Pointing to a muscular stranger, she
half sobbed, “There he is!”

“Who?” I asked, staring at the man.

“The man who insulted me.”

They say nothing can interrupt gamblers at a craps table, but
that fluttering voice did. There seemed to be, in a moment, 1,000
faces watching and waiting to see what I would do.

All T could think of were the many husky guys in Schenck’s party,
romantic, gallant types like John Barrymore and Richard Dix,
cowboy stars like Tom Mix. Why had she picked on me to defend
her honor, if any?

But I patted her hand and went over to the stranger who by
now was glowering. “I don’t suppose you did anything,” I said in
my lowest and most refined voice, “but she’s had a few drinks.
Why don’t you apologize just to shut her up?”

By way of reply, the stranger explained what I could do to
Mary, using the filthiest of the four-letter Anglo-Saxon words.

Now Keaton was really on the spot, and everybody seemed en-
tranced. At least none of the men watching us tried to interfere.
While I was pondering the problem, and getting pretty damn mad
at this clown for compounding Mary’s nonsense, he settled matters
by saying, “That goes for you, too.”

“You’ve put me on a fine spot,” I told him, “but we’re not doing
this one for an audience. Let’s get down to the back patlo where
we can settle the whole thing very quickly.”

“No,” he said.
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“What do you mean, no?” I demanded, going up and taking his
arm, trying to lead him away. But to the horror of the gamblers,
he grabbed and clung to the edge of the nearest craps table,
pulling it about three feet. I tried to drag him away, but his grip
on the table was tenacious. Meanwhile the chips on the craps table
were skittering in all directions with the deeply distressed gam-
blers trying to restore them to their various positions on and back
of the “Come” line, on the “Don’t come” line, in the “Field,” and
the other spots on the green table.

I kept jerking on the big coward’s free arm, but I was unable
to tear him loose. Finally, not knowing what else to do I walked
away, heading toward the bar where I'd been before all the
nonsense started. On the way I met Buster Collier and Louis
Wolheim and told them what had happened.

On seeing that I was still steamed up, they lured me to a patio
where there was a wishing well. They lifted me up and hung me
head downward in this.

“This is a party. Why let a little thing like this upset you?” said
Wolheim. Like everyone else Louis was usually philosophical
about his friends’ troubles.

Needless to say, I was in no position to argue with him. They
set me on my feet only after I calmed down. Then we went back
into the Casino where Buster Collier got me a drink.

In a little while Mary Nolan came fluttering back. “Here we go
again,” I said to Wolheim.

“Forgive me,” said she. “Forgive me, Buster, for involving you.
I'll explain to your wife so she won't think .

“Don’t bother,” I said. “But what did that guy do to you?

“He put his hand on my breast.”

I looked at her very low-cut gown. One of her breasts had
tumbled out. “It probably fell out,” I told her, “as it has now. That
big coward is also a gentleman. He politely stuffed it out of sight
for you. But I'm no gentleman, and this time you’ll have to put it
back yourself.”

The features I started making in 1923 for M-G-M’s release had
a gratifying reception. Three Ages, the first of these, was in three
episodes that showed me living in the Stone Age, the Roman Era,
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and Moderm Times. The point of this comedy was that love and
the relations of man and woman had not changed since the dawn
of time.

Three Ages did well, and my next feature, Hospitality, did even
better. In its first week at the Capitol, Loew’s big Broadway
presentation house, it equaled the box-office record, and in Loew’s
Circuit’s hundreds of theatres it nearly tied the box-office record
for the chain. I made five more features on my own lot for M-G-M
release. Sherlock, Jr., Seven Chances, Go West, and Battling But-
ler, and the second of my two favorites, The Navigator.

We were about to start Sherlock, Jr. in 1924 when I decided
that I must do something for my pal, Roscoe. More than three
years had passed since his acquittal by a jury that said an apology
was due him—but he was still barred from acting in pictures.

Roscoe was down in the dumps and broke. He had been unable
to pay the staggering legal fees demanded of him after the three
trials. Quietly, Joe Schenck had picked up the tab of more than
$100,000 for him.

Roscoe had taken a trip around the world, then tried vaude-
ville. Finally he made appearances at the Cotton Club, a Culver
City night club.

Nobody but friends of his and curiosity seekers went to see
him. And it was a dismal experience to watch him. Roscoe just
was not funny any more, was like some washed-up old performer
who knew he was through and was just going through the motions
because he had no alternative.

When he finished his engagement at the Cotton Club I suggested
to Lou Anger that we give Roscoe a job directing Sherlock, Jr.

Lou said it could be arranged, but that we better get him to
use some other name. I suggested “Will B. Good,” but this was
considered too facetious, so we changed it to “Will B. Goodrich.”

The experiment was a failure. Roscoe was irritable, impatient,
and snapped at everyone in the company. He had my leading
lady, Kathryn McGuire, in tears a dozen times each day.

One day, after Roscoe went home, the gang of us sat around
trying to figure out what to do next. It was obvious that we
couldn’t make the picture with a man directing whose self-confi-
dence was gone, whose nerves were all shot. The question was
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which of us would have the heart to tell Arbuckle he was through?

It was Lou Anger, bless him, who thought of a way out. He said
that Hearst, who was producing Marion Davies’s pictures, was
looking for a director for her new one, a film version of the old
Victor Herbert musical, The Red Mill.

“Hearst,” he said, “has already interviewed two well-known
directors but doubts that either can do the job. He and Marion
have always admired Roscoe’s directing. They've told me so.
They also feel sorry for him now.” It seemed to us quite possible
that Roscoe, with a new gang to work with and on another sort of
picture, might turn in a good job.

I happened to know that Marion was having a few friends to
dinner that evening at her beach house. I was eager to talk to her
about taking Roscoe as a director before approaching Hearst. I
counted on Marion’s good heart, and I knew that she could get
the publisher to do almost anything she wanted. That evening I
drove out to Santa Monica to see her. She invited me to join her
dinner party.

“No thanks,” I said, “I would like a few minutes with you alone.”

Marion led me to another room, and there I told her of the
terrible state Roscoe was in. “One directing job,” I said, “even if
he had to do it under another name, might make all the difference
in the world to him, might get him started all over again.”

It was typical of Marion that she did not ask me why, if I felt
so badly, I didnt let Roscoe direct one of my pictures. I was
relieved that she didn’t. The last thing I wanted to tell her was
that we'd had no luck trying to work with him.

I said, “I am just about to start my new picture with him di-
recting. But I'd be tickled to death if you would let him do yours
instead. Yours is so much bigger a production. Also he would
realize he was getting the chance because you and W.R. always
liked his work. Roscoe and I were such close pals that getting a
job from me would mean little. He might misinterpret it as merely
an act of friendship.”

Marion sold the idea to Hearst. I think it helped that Hearst
had never believed what his newspapers printed about Roscoe
during his trouble. Once I heard him say he had sold more news-
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papers when that story was running than he had on the sinking
of the SS Lusitania.

Over the weekend Roscoe called up Lou Anger in great excite-
ment. He was in a dilemma. To his amazement Hearst wanted
him to direct Marion’s new picture—and the Davies pictures were
all lavish productions costing over a million in a day when million-
dollar pictures were rare.

“What am I going to do, Lou?” he said. “I can’t let Buster down.”

“Don’t worry about Buster,” Lou said. “Grab this big chance,
Roscoe. Buster will finish it himself.” Roscoe used the name
William Goodrich in the credits. And The Red Mill, oddly enough,
was a pretty good picture. Roscoe had somehow managed to do
a first-rate directing job on that period show.

The lift directing it gave to his spirits did not last long un-
fortunately. In 1927 he made a road tour in Baby Mine, the stage
farce, but with little success. The next year he was hooted in
Paris when he appeared there. Not because of the scandal. The
French just didn’t find the once-great comic funny any more. Yet
only a few years before he had been worshipped so in Paris that
the Government allowed him to place a wreath on the tomb of
its Unknown Soldier.

When Roscoe died in 1933 he was making two-reel comedies
for Warner Brothers at their Flatbush studio. But these also lacked
the quality and inspired comic flavor of his old pictures.

The day I heard Roscoe was dead I recalled a little incident
which reveals just how much of a monster my old friend was. It
happened when we were making our last two-reeler in New York.
We were going down to Coney Island that day to make some
scenes on the beach. Roscoe told Lou Anger we needed a pretty
girl who would look good in a bathing suit.

A casting call was sent out, and Roscoe selected from the crowd
a sixteen-year-old blonde. On the day we were going to Coney
Island, she walked into Roscoe’s dressing room and turned
around so he could admire her in her bathing suit.

“That’s fine,” he told her and turned away.

“Wait a moment, Mr. Arbuckle,” she said. “I brought another
one along with me. Maybe you’ll like this one better.” She un-
wrapped the second suit, shut the door, and started to take off
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the suit and put on the other. Before she got very far with her
strip-tease act, Roscoe left her on the run. He busted into the
dressing room I shared with Al St. John and told us what was
going on. At his insistence Lou Anger got another girl for the role.

Yes, this was what the man denounced as a sex fiend by press,
public, and pulpit was really like. The story also illustrates pretty
well, I think, to what length certain teen-age girls were ready to
go to get into the movies even in pre-World War I days.

Yet even in this tragedy of the funny fat man there is one
heartwarming note. Hollywood, the “town where love is un-
known,” “the town which can keep no secret,” never let the out-
side world know who “William B. Goodrich” was until it could
not hurt Roscoe Arbuckle.
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THE WORST MISTAKE
OF MY LIFE

——E——
< ==




-
o
{
.
by )
'..' ;S
\t'-
LY
L
=
f
)
-
Il -
. |
p r
e
e .ll“
. i
-
vl
L}
J =1
1 ;
I b
i
'l )
7" ¥
_ )
I|' .I. g T "
Lt v
b v !
; i
L]
r
1
| ]
i
¢
. A
A LV
( ' z
| IS | 1 g
p - Y L
..‘ el "
3
.- B i - Y }
) .
ey )
TR =
ik J‘_
! -
A v Ir i
LT ig
) ' | i
i il
I 1 s
] ]
o _‘:_‘..l.l - i}
3 =
¢ » "I o
A iy el
Ay - 4
. {IA Bl 4
, " F oy, A
: LS I eI s
N
.--". \ 9 &
|‘ n_l ”!‘ . . Il ’I‘ .
Yy 1Y LR
E’.' I O ¥
" i +q
. I- oy
i L '-'.li 5 LT P,.
ey - | .
S0 ) I
LT [ PR a A
b R
| = '
Ll ¥4 {0 DR C
y w il :
] o
4 il ..] - o
] ’ “LIs .,-H:_‘_ ol "t
i
IR o
r 4 I
; s o rninae e
= I
= et 45 = ]
. | el 3
: B i Sl
4 s :

N -.‘
Y g
Hs il

LT
"
N
¥
|
4
I
#
I.. pY
b
il !
b
~ Fa I
I
b=l
i g*

Wty

i 8

T RITR o
AT 5

»
"I' .
[
1
.
i
I
]
i
) 4
! ]
] .I
. 4 i
kR i i
Sy
et )
o A
W
v " I“ o’ A
" it 3
il e
e iyl 1




In 1926 Joe Schenck became one of the chief executives of United
Artists. As part of the deal, he brought to that company the re-
leasing rights of the pictures made by Norma Talmadge, Con-
stance Talmadge, and myself. We continued to produce our own
pictures, independently, however. But I made only three for
United Artists: The General, College, and Steamboat Bill, Jr.

Then, in 1928, I made the worst mistake of my career. Against
my better judgment I let Joe Schenck talk me into giving up my
own studio to make pictures at the booming Metro-Goldwyn-
Mayer lot in Culver City. Even then it was the Studio of Stars
and had under contract John Gilbert, Marion Davies, Wallace
Beery, Lon Chaney, Lionel Barrymore, William Haines, and
Greta Garbo. Marie Dressler, the greatest comedienne I ever saw
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(until Lucille Ball appeared) was also under contract there but
only as a featured player.

From the very start I was against making the switch to
M-G-M. It seemed to me I would be lost making pictures in such a
big studio. When Joe continued to argue for it, I asked Charlie
Chaplin what he thought.

“Don'’t let them do it to you, Buster,” he said. “It’s not that they
haven’t smart showmen there. They have some of the country’s
best. But there are too many of them, and they’ll all try to tell
you how to make your comedles It will simply be one more case
of too many cooks.”

Harold Lloyd was of the same opinion. Both Charlie and he
had retained their own units. Their pictures were first-rate and
were coining money.

I was so impressed by what they said that I asked Adolph
Zukor, head of Paramount, if he would be interested in releasing
my pictures. I explained that I wanted to make them in my own
studio. Zukor just shook his head. He explained that he had
just completed arrangements to release Lloyd’s pictures and that
having two comedians on Paramount’s list made no sense. But he
wasn't fooling me. Zukor was interested, all right. But on his desk,
as we talked, lay a directive from Will Hays, the movie czar,
which said, “Buster Keaton is the exclusive property of Metro-
Goldwyn-Mayer.”

Joe Schenck kept saying that I would be happy at M-G-M.
“I'm just turning you over to my brother Nick,” he told me. “He'll
take care of anything you want. And as you know, Buster, my
brother and I have been partners in every deal either of us ever
made. It will be the same as though you were still working for
me.”

“You mean I have no choice?” I asked. Joe smiled and shrugged.

In the end I gave in. Joe Schenck had never steered me wrong
in his life until then. I do not think he meant to that time either.
But letting him override my own instinctive judgment was stupid.
As I have said, it turned out to be the worst mistake I ever made.

I found out what I was up against when we started talking
story for the first picture I was to do at M-G-M. I can best
explain this, I think, by going back for a moment to Steamboat
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Bill, Jr., my last independently made picture. The idea of that
story was brought to me by Charles (Chuck) Reisner, a burly,
brawny actor who had turned director. Some old-time movie
fans may remember Chuck Reisner’s performance as the father of
the tough kid who fought angel-faced Jackie Coogan in Chaplin’s
The Kid. There have been few funnier scenes on the screen than
the one in which the huge Reisner terrifies Chaplin by telling
him “If your kid licks mine, I'll lick you.” That made Charlie,
who had been rooting hard for Jackie to win, do everything he
could think of to make him lose.

Chuck’s story opened with a rugged, old Mississippi steamboat
captain reading a letter from his wife. They had a quarrel twenty
years before, just after their only child was born. She returned
with the baby to her home town in New England. The letter ex-
plains that their baby, now a full-grown man, is on his way to see
his father for the first time. He will arrive by train on Sunday
and will wear a white carnation so his father will recognize him.

But the Sunday I arrive is Mother’s Day and every man on the
train is wearing a carnation in his buttonhole. Hopefully, my
father, Steamboat Bill, approaches one muscular youth after an-
other. But he doesn’t find me until the train pulls out because I got
off the train on the wrong side. He takes one look at me and groans.
I have on a beret and plus fours. I have a ukulele under my
arm and a “baseball mustache,” so-called because it has nine
hairs on each side. My airs and manners are those of a silly-ass
boy from Back Bay.

My dismayed father marches me into a barbershop. He points
to the absurd mustache, tells the barber, “OffI” The barber takes
off the tuft with two strokes, one to a side. Steamboat Bill gets me
a man’s hat to replace the beret.

Now this is as much as Chuck Reisner needed to tell me about
that story for me to buy it. With this for a start, all we needed to
get the story rolling and churning was a wealthy menace with a
pretty daughter. The menace has a modern river steamer that
will ruin the business my father has done for years on the river
with his old-fashioned back-wheeler.

The story continued this way:

Despite the stern disapproval of both of our fathers the girl
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and I manage to meet secretly. When my father finds out about
that it is the last straw. He orders me to go back to Boston. Sor-
rowfully I put on my beret and plus fours, pick up my ukulele,
and go to the station. But as my train comes in I see my father
being arrested. He is taken to the local jail, a log cabin which
contains only two cells and the jailer’s office.

Determined to rescue him, I let the train go again, put on my
rough working clothes. In the cabin of my father’s boat I hollow
out a big loaf of bread and conceal in the hole hammers, saws,
monkey wrenches, screwdrivers, and other tools. It is raining like
mad as I go to jail. Even the loaf of bread gets wet. My father
wants no part of me. But when the jailer’s back is turned I point
to the bread and make sawing and chiseling motions.

Meanwhile the soaked bread is expanding and sagging toward
the ground under the weight of the escape tools. Then it falls
apart and the hammer, screwdrivers, files, and monkey wrenches
all clatter to the floor. The outraged jailer throws me into the
other cell. The escape and the flood we planned were peppered
with the natural gags I'd known we’d develop.

An unusual thing happened during the making of that picture,
by the way. One of Joe Schenck’s aides talked him into the idea
that a lood would be a ruinous thing to have in a movie comedy.
“You'll make a lot of enemies for this picture if you keep the
flood in it,” he told Joe. “Too many people have lost their dear
ones in recent floods. They will resent us making a joke out of
such a disaster.

When Schenck told me this, I pointed out that one of Chaplin’s
greatest successes was Shoulder Arms, a picture making fun of
the war and everything connected with it.

“Chaplin made that movie in 191g, the year after the World
War ended,” I said. “Nobody objected to it. And that includes
the gold-star mothers who lost their sons in the war.”

But for once the easygoing Joe Schenck was adamant. When
I became convinced he wouldnt change his mind I asked Fred
Gabourie, my technical director, how much it would cost to re-
make our $100,000 worth of elaborate street sets if we had a
hurricane instead of a flood in the picture. I had a hunch that
Schenck might not object to a hurricane. Gabourie, a whiz at his
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job, said $35,000. And Schenck had no objections to my staging
a hurricane. It turned out that the changes we made cost slightly
less than that.

The location we had chosen was on the bank of the Sacramento
River opposite Sacramento. The building fronts we had con-
structed there were on a street a block long. And a twister could
cause the same sort of destruction as a flood. Either of them
could do many things our script called for: blow buildings into the
river, fill the little town jail with water almost up to the ceiling,
and sink the sleek craft owned by the heavy, my girl’s father.

Far more difficult than remaking the sets was the job of re-
fashioning our gags. The best new gag we invented involved a
breakaway hospital. We used a 120-foot crane set on a barge to
pick up this whole structure, leaving only the floor.

It had occurred to me that there were usually many more
people killed each year by cyclones and tornadoes than in floods.
Just for fun, when the picture was over, I called the United States
Weather Bureau in Los Angeles and asked for figures for the pre-
ceding year. I was told that in 1925 there were 796 persons killed
in great windstorms and only 36 in floods. But I never mentioned
that to Schenck, not wishing to rub it in. I usually could make
Joe laugh, but I doubted that he would be amused to hear about
the $35,000 mistake he had made.

When I went over to M-G-M I was again assured that every
effort would be made to let me continue working with my team
whenever possible. It turned out to be possible very seldom. I
do not think that this was anyone’s fault. Usually, when I
needed the old gang, one of them would be busy on a Norma
Shearer picture, another on a Lon Chaney picture, and so on.
M-G-M even stole Fred Gabourie, my technical director, from
me after I made just one picture on the lot. Before long he was
head of the studio’s whole technical department, a job he kept
until he died.

This was all very flattering to my judgment, or perhaps I should
say luck, in selecting superior men for my team. But it did not
help me make pictures of the quality I had been able to turn out
on my own lot. The worst shock was discovering I could not work
up stories the way I'd been doing, starting only with the germ of
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an idea. I learned that when I brought Irving Thalberg my first
idea for a Buster Keaton comedy.

Now it always helps, in telling a story to a film producer, if
you have some particular actor in mind for a key role. It enables
your listener to visualize the story more clearly as you tell it. So
I started off by saying that I had the perfect woman for the lead,
adding, “She is working right here on your lot.”

“Who is that?” he asked.

“Marie Dressler,” I told him.

The story itself was pretty much of a switch on Steamboat
Bill, Jr., except that Marie, as a rugged old aunt, would be playing
opposite me instead of Ernest Torrence. The background was
Fort Dodge shortly after the Civil War. A wagon train is about
to leave for the West. In the rocker on the porch of her little shanty
sits Marie Dressler. She is all ready and packed to go along. Be-
fore her house is a covered wagon, smaller than the others and
drawn by one horse. Her mule is also saddled for the trip, and
she has a milk cow in the stable which she also intends to take
along.

As she rocks she takes out a letter from her purse and reads it.
It is from her sister back East who begs Marie not to leave with
the wagon train as it is too dangerous an undertaking for a lone
defenseless woman. The sister is therefore sending her son, Ron-
ald, to join her. He will arrive on May 18. This is the day, and
Marie goes down to the station to meet the train, but Ronald is not
on it. When asked by an old friend whether she is going along
with the wagon-train party she explains she has to wait for her
nephew. He shrugs, and the expedition leaves without her.

I arrive the next day with one carpetbag. I am obviously a
weakling, and the absurdity of a scared-looking, little guy like
me protecting the husky Marie Dressler from Indians, rapists, or
even prairie dogs sets up the audience for a big laugh. I am full
of heroic ideas, though, and I talk her into leaving with me at
once. I am sure we can catch up with the wagon train.

When I got to this point, I explained to Thalberg, “That’s all I
have as yet. But I'd like to work on it.” Now Irving Thalberg
was only twenty-three then, four years younger than I, but al-
ready he had shown that he had the keenest appreciation of story
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values, both comic and tragic, of any executive in Hollywood.
He admitted that my story had good points.

“But it’s a little frail, Buster,” he added. “There is really not
much to it.”

But he promised to give it some thought.

He was just being polite, of course.

This is the perfect illustration of my point, because Thalberg,
as well as being a fine judge of light comedy and farce, also appre-
ciated good slapstick whenever he saw it on the screen. No truck
driver ever guffawed louder at my better sight gags than did that
fragile, intellectual boy genius. Nevertheless, he lacked the true
low-comedy mind. Like any man who must concern himself with
mass production he was seeking a pattern, a format. Slapstick
comedy has a format, but it is hard to detect in its early stages
unless you are one of those who can create it. The unexpected
was our staple product, the unusual our object, and the unique
was the ideal we were always hoping to achieve.

Brilliant though he was, Irving Thalberg could not accept the
way a comedian like me built his stories. Though it seems an odd
thing to say, I believe that he would have been lost working in
my little studio. His mind was too orderly for our harum-scarum,
catch-as-catch-can, gag-grabbing method. Our way of operating
would have seemed hopelessly mad to him. But, believe me, it
was the only way. Somehow some of the frenzy and hysteria of
our breathless, impromptu comedy building got into our movies
and made them exciting.

There was nothing impromptu about the preparations for the
first story I actually filmed at M-G-M. This was The Cameraman.
In this I played a would-be newsreel photographer. William
Randolph Hearst was a big stockholder in the company, and some-
body had figured out that by using such a character we could
legitimately publicize the newsreel company he owned, and in
return his newspapers would give the picture an unusual amount
of space. I had no objection because the idea also presented won-
derful possibilities for good gags.

As the story starts I am a tintype photographer, the sort who
makes pictures in a minute or two for ten cents each. This day I
see Gertrude Ederle arrive at the Battery in New York, fresh from
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her English Channel swim. I join the crowd following her up
Broadway to City Hall where Mayor Walker presents Gertrude
with the key to the city.

There T fall in love with Marceline Day, who is working with
the Hearst newsreel-camera unit. I immediately decide to become
a newsreel cameraman. I feel sure I can get on the Hearst staff,
which will enable me to meet, woo, and win that gorgeous-looking
creature. |

At a pawnshop I hock my tintype camera for $6.80, then go
home to empty my piggy bank of $1.80 more. With the $8.60 I
buy one of the first Pathé cameras ever made. It is so ancient a
model that it is cranked from the rear instead of the side. With
this equipment I consider myself ready to shoot any and all news-
reel subjects. But when I go to the Hearst office and apply for a
job everybody there but Marceline, the receptionist, laughs at me
and my camera. Marceline, feeling sorry for me, confides that if
I photographed a few news events as a free-lance and brought
them in, she would try to sell them to her boss for me.

This is the story point we had reached when the créme de la
creme of the M-G-M writing staff began descending on us in
droves. Most of these men were very good writers and resource-
ful plotters. That was one of the troubles. They were too resource-
ful, and each naturally wished to contribute something. In all
there were twenty-two staff writers helping us.

They complicated our simple plot with everything they could
think of—gangsters, Salvation Army street bands, Tammany Hall
politicians, longshoremen, and lady gem thieves.

And it wasn’t only the twenty-two writers who were eager to
help me out. The executives and studio big shots also turned into
gagmen overnight, adding greatly to the confusion. With so much
talk going on, so many conferences, so many brains at work, I
began to lose faith for the first time in my own ideas.

Nevertheless, after eight head-busting months we did have a
story written down, complete with camera directions for Sedg-
wick, who had been a top comedy director for years without any
such instructions.

At long last we set off for New York to take some background
shots. In the party were Sedgwick, Ed Brophy, our unit manager,
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Marceline Day, myself, and our two cameramen, Elgin Lessley
and Reggie Lanning.

In New York and other cities crowds always will hamper your
work. But we had figured out how to camouflage to some extent
what we were doing. Usually we would hire a big limousine,
pull down its side curtains, and shoot with both cameras through
the small window in the rear.

The first shot we attempted in New York was one of me, carry-
ing my tintype camera, crossing the trolley tracks at Fifth Avenue
and 23rd Street. As I was doing this, the motorman stopped his
trolley in the middle of the crossing and yelled, “Hey, Keaton!”
His passengers looked out of the windows and also began to shout
things at me.

In no time at all I was surrounded by so many people that the
nearest cop couldn’t even get near me. Quickly the east-west
trolleys were backed up for three blocks, also the north-south
trolleys on Broadway and the double-decker buses on Fifth
Avenue, not to mention the rest of the traffic flowing from six
points of the compass.

When I was finally hauled back to the anguished Sedgwick, I
pointed out to him the mocking irony of the line in the script
describing this scene. It read: “No one in New York knows that
this character exists.” And when we tried to get a couple of other
scenes at the Battery which the script called for, I was again
mobbed.

Giving up for the day, we all went back to our suite in the
Ambassador Hotel. None of us knew what to do, and in no time
at all big Eddie Sedgwick was in bed, taking bromides and yell-
ing for an ice pack.

We called Irving Thalberg in Hollywood and told him that we
were unable to get the shots the present script called for. We did
not have to remind him that so much of the story was built around
these shots that without them we’d have no picture.

After both Sedgwick and Ed Brophy discussed this with Thal-
berg, I got on the telephone.

“Like Chaplin and Lloyd, I never worked before with a script
written on paper,” I said, “and I don’t have to now. All I ask is that
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you let me throw away this script and the shooting schedule and
permit Sedgwick and myself to decide what to shoot here.”

Thalberg agreed. He had no alternative with us 3,000 miles
away and burning up more time and money each day.

Given carte blanche we threw away the written script that had
taken eight months to produce. In our version the crack Hearst
cameraman became the villain, also my rival for the girl’s affec-
tions. But the important job we did was simplifying the plot line
from beginning to end. Our story also made it possible to shoot
all but two of the New York scenes in Hollywood.

But to get the two scenes we could only make in New York
we waited until Sunday. We also took the precaution of making
them in the early morning hours when New York’s good people
are in church, and her bad people still in bed sleeping off their
Saturday night wickedness. One scene was at the Fifth Avenue
entrance to Central Park where the old horse-cabs have their
stand. The other was in the lobby of the Ambassador Hotel and
on the street in front of its entrance. In that scene I rush to the
hotel on hearing that an admiral of high rank is leaving the hotel.
I find a man, whose chest is covered with gold braid, going
through the lobby and into the street. In great excitement I film
his every step only to find out that he is not an admiral but the
hotel doorman.

Some double exposures my tintype cameraman produced got
big laughs in that picture. I took newsreel shots of a battleship
going down the Hudson and also of the New York Police Parade.
When developed, my film showed the battleship sailing down
Fifth Avenue and New York’s Finest marching bravely on the
Hudson River.

Another scene in The Cameraman that movie-goers liked
showed me photographing a ship’s launching. In my eagerness to
get the whole thing right I planted my camera on the cradle
which slides the vessel into the water. As the ship is launched,
my camera and I are launched with it.

During other misadventures I picked up an organ-grinder’s
monkey. Toward the end of the picture I rescued the girl from
drowning, deserting my camera to do this. But circumstances en-
abled my rival to claim credit for this. However, my monkey kept
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turning the camera crank, and when the film in my camera was
shown in the projection room it revealed me as the hero.

In the last scene the girl and I walked up Lower Broadway.
She kept telling me how everybody admired me. Suddenly the
windows on all floors of the skyscrapers were passing open, and
ticker tape and confetti by the bale are thrown out. Believing the
acclaim is for me, I bow and blow kisses at all my admirers. But
the last shot of the picture reveals that the excited welcome is
really for a man riding right behind us, a fellow named Lindbergh
who had just made a solo flight over the Atlantic Ocean.

This shot, like many others we used of New York in that picture,
was taken from newsreel footage made of the actual events.
Our work, except for the scenes taken on that one Sunday morn-
ing in New York, was all done at the studio or on nearby locations.

The sequence which furnished the longest laugh in the picture
was found at Venice, California, which we dressed up—or down—
to look like New York’s Coney Island. Its gags were invented on
the spot by Sedgwick, myself, and our two writers, Lew Lipton
and Clyde Bruckman. Here is how the sequence went:

Marceline and I arrive at the beach and separate to undress
in the bathhouse. The men’s section is so crowded that two of
us are being put into the same room which is about three feet
wide and three feet deep, making it a tight squeeze for two men.
Each bathhouse had six hooks on its walls. We removed four
hooks, because a couple of men struggling to hang all of their
clothes on one hook apiece could be very funny.

As usual we did not rehearse the scene. As I've said, rehearsed
scenes look mechanical on the screen. Sedgwick, who had been
an actor before turning to direction, wanted to do the bathhouse
sequence with me. But I turned down the suggestion because he
was so much bigger than I. I told him that the audience would
expect a man of his size to throw me out of the bathhouse if
irritated.

What I wanted was a fellow about my size who looked like a
grouch but not the sort who dares start a fight. There were dozens
of actors in Hollywood who fitted this description, but we were
at the beach. That meant it would take hours to find the right one
and get him to Venice.
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I settled for Ed Brophy, our unit manager. He filled the bill
on looks, although he had never done any acting. As it turned
out, Brophy did so well that he has been making a first-rate living
ever since acting that same irritable, worry-eaten, little character.

In that bathhouse scene we both were in a frenzy to get into
our bathing suits and on the beach. Like myself, he was afraid
that his girl might catch the eye of a lifeguard or some other
husky chap and be picked up before we could get out there.

For our first gag I got my head caught in the suspenders he has
just taken off. This as I tried to straighten up after unlacing my
shoe. In taking off my tie I catch his elbow. I take off my coat
which falls on him. He takes off his shoe and in coming up gets
his head between my legs, upending me and sliding me off his
shoulder. Meanwhile our clothes keep falling off the hooks on us.
When we emerge from the bathhouse I have on a bathing suit
four times too big for me while Brophy’s is so small it is choking
him to death.

The scene ran for four minutes, which is a very long time on
the screen for a string of gags worked by just two men in a single
ridiculous situation. Thalberg almost had hysterics when he saw
that day’s rushes in a projection room.

One day, quite a while after we finished The Cameraman,
Thalberg asked me, “Now what was the story you wanted to do
with Marie Dressler?”

But by then, as a reward for her great performance in Anna
Christie, Marie was being starred. And at that time no one was
using two stars in comedies like mine.

So I had to say, “It is too late for that story now.” And he agreed
that nobody but Marie would have been right for that role.

What I couldn’t understand was why, after I proved my point,
the big wheels at M-G-M would not allow me to have my own
unit. I kept pleading, “Give me Eddie Sedgwick to direct, two
or three writers, my own prop man, electrician, wardrobe woman,
and a few technicians, and I will guarantee to deliver pictures as
good or better than The Cameraman.”

I went into great detail about this, particularly with the gentle,
soft-spoken, brilliant Thalberg. I tried to show him how much more
effectively I could work with a unit of my own. “My prop man,”
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I pointed out, “knowing how I work, will need few instructions.
He can go out and buy whatever I need without my telling him.
My cameraman will not stop grinding even if the director says
‘Cut!’ Knowing how I work, he will keep on because he has seen
me take a fall or do something else on the spur of the moment.
For instance, a package might accidentally fall off the shelt and
give me a new notion. With each man knowing his job, much
time and money will be saved. When we are ready to start each
new picture the crew will have everything prepared and ready.”

Most of the real heavy charges in movies come when you are
in production. Any delay—a principal getting sick, bad weather,
an accident to the equipment—can cost a fortune. So, once
started, the quicker you get your picture finished and in the can
the fewer the hazards.

Another obvious difficulty of working with different specialists
on each picture was that they so often behave like prima donnas.
Having less to gain through pleasing me than men on my team
would, they were often more interested in getting outstanding
results for their specialty instead of co-operating fully to get the
story told in the quickest and best way possible. Not being on a
team they rarely forgot that their next assignment depended on
their work standing out, instead of being subordinated to the
excellence of the picture as a whole. Under M-G-M’s system each
craftsman was more beholden to the head of his department than
to me.

If they had been part of my regular unit I could have con-
trolled them and kept them working as a team interested chiefly
in the production itself. For example, sometimes, if a corner was
not perfectly lighted we would not care enough about this to stop
the camera, bring in more lighting equipment, and reshoot the
scene. But the electrician who worried about being criticized by
his chief didn’t care how long he delayed us so long as he got
his lighting exactly right.

The fact is that no picture ever became a smash hit because of
its perfect lighting, wonderful sets, or exceptional camera work.
The story was always the thing, with the star next in importance.

Thalberg, Mannix, and Louis B. Mayer all must have under-
stood this. Yet they never did let me have my own unit. That

213



MY WONDERFUL WORLD OF SLAPSTICK

would have lessened their power and control, I know, but only a
little. I suppose the real reason was that they feared that if they
yielded to me sooner or later every star on the lot would be de-
manding his own unit.

If I was not happy at M-G-M my 170-pound St. Bernard,
Elmer, was. Each working day I brought him with me to the
studio where he spent his time sunning himself on the porch of
the bungalow assigned to me. Because Elmer was always there
when I was, we called the bungalow “Keaton’s Kennel.”

Elmer had a very superior canine intelligence. Even our vet
agreed to that, and as all dog-lovers know, sincere praise from a
vet for any dog is praise indeed.

Early one morning the vet called me at the house. “Is Elmer
back home yet?” he asked. I looked out of the back window and
told him Elmer was out there all right.

“The reason I ask,” explained the vet, “is that at one o’clock
this morning I was awakened by scratching noises on my door.
I got up, opened the door, and was astonished to find Elmer.

“As you know, Buster, the vet’s is the last place any dog will
come near—if he can help it. The odors of the animal hospital
remind him of all the injections and terrible-tasting medicines he
was forced to take there. ‘What’s up, Elmer? I asked, and he came
in limping. On examining him, I found a rose thorn in one of his
paws. After extracting it, I opened the door, and he trotted out.
After all, I figured that if he was smart enough to find his way
here over three miles of road he’d be smart enough to get home.
But I called just to make sure.”

In the manner of large dogs of aristocratic lineage Elmer was
indifferent to the cooings and caresses of members outside the
family circle.

Our bungalow was located where the Irving Thalberg Memo-
rial Building now stands, and all of the M-G-M stars, featured
players, and Big Brass walked by daily. Elmer, usually with a
yawn, permitted a few of them to pet him. But only for a moment
or two, then he would get up and walk away in boredom.

Whenever Garbo was making a picture at M-G-M she had a
light lunch in her dressing room, then walked the entire length
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of the studio, including the back lot where the large outdoor sets
were located.

The first three or four times that Elmer saw the immortal Swede
stroll by he observed her, I noticed, with unusual interest. One
day he got up from his favorite spot on the porch and joined her.
Each day after that Elmer would accompany Garbo on her mid-
day strolls across the lot and back to the door of her dressing room.
But whenever Garbo tried to pet Elmer he drew back and moved
away. It was as though he considered such familiarity from a mere
walking acquaintance in bad taste.

It went on for years that way, with Garbo loving her volun-
teer guard and strolling companion but never annoying him with
so much as a pat on the jowls.
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Until the coming of TV nothing ever rocked Hollywood like the
talkie revolution. It all but destroyed the world market for Ameri-
can films. Thousands of the movie theatres in foreign countries
were never wired for sound.

Most of the great silent stars were also put out of business by
the talkie revolution. Women fans were dismayed to learn that
John Gilbert, the man of their romantic dreams, had a squeaky
voice. They also lost interest in Norma Talmadge, the screen’s
greatest lady, and scores of other fabulously paid silent stars whose
real voices did not fit the personality which the public had imag-
ined was theirs. Warner Brothers in 1926 became the first studio
to exploit talking pictures. But it took the other studios several
years to accept the unpleasant fact that talkies were not just a fad.

On finally waking up, the other studios tried to make up for
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lost time by rushing out platoons of Broadway performers who
could “speak” to replace the silent screen stars, starlets, character
people, and comics whose careers had been wrecked on the sound
track.

But the talkies did not wreck my career. Quite to the contrary.
The first talking picture I appeared in was an all-star musical,
The Hollywood Revue. Everybody at M-G-M who could sing,
dance, talk, whistle, or mumble appeared in this one. Look at the
stardust-powdered cast: Conrad Nagel, Jack Benny, John Gilbert,
Norma Shearer, Joan Crawford, Bessie Love, Charles King, Lionel
Barrymore, Laurel and Hardy, Marie Dressler, Polly Moran, and
last, and I hope not least, your Buster and mine. The hit of that
glittering show was Cliff (Ukulele Ike) Edwards’s number, “Sing-
ing in the Rain,” the song which Gene Kelly repeated with such
success just a season or two ago in Les Girls.

The Hollywood Revue was a walloping hit.

And Free and Easy, the first talkie I starred in, was among the
company’s biggest money-makers of the year. Louis B. Mayer was
so pleased by the large earnings of Free and Easy that he re-
warded me with a $10,000 bonus and a three-month vacation with
pay. Adding my $3,000 a week salary for thirteen weeks, the
bonus, I suppose, actually amounted to $49,000.

On our vacation my wife and I took a leisurely trip through Eu-
rope. After visiting England, France, and Germany we toured
Spain with Gilbert Roland, who was born in Madrid but soon
afterward was taken to Mexico City where he grew up.

Gilbert was one of the many romantic-looking Latins who got
their chance in Hollywood following the sensational success of
Rudolph Valentino. He is about the only one in the group still
active.

One of the thrills of the trip for me was being hailed by the
Spaniards as “Pamplinas,” their nickname for me. I found out what
“Pamplinas” means only recently when I appeared with José
Greco on the Garry Moore TV program. While the brilliant
flamenco dancer was rehearsing I asked him to translate the word
into English. He couldn’t, but held an animated conversation on
the subject for about ten minutes with his manager and the mem-
bers of his troupe.
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This in Spanish, of course, which I understand about as well as
I do Japanese. Finally Greco turned to me and explained,
“‘Pamplinas’ in English means ‘a little bit of nothing.””

““A little bit of nothing!’” I exclaimed. “Couldn’t they call me
‘a little bit of something?” That would be bad enough. But a little
bit of nothing! After all—~

Greco told me that I was mistaken. He explained: “That’s the
finest compliment my countrymen could pay you.” I could only
reply, “It sure loses something in the translation.”

My French nickname “Malec” for which there also is no literal
English translation means about the same thing—“the hole in the
doughnut” or “a blank piece of paper.”

Another big thrill for me was going to the bullfights with a
knowledgeable aficionado like Gilbert Roland. Until then I had
seen only third-rate contests in such Mexican border towns as
Tijuana and Juarez. Gilbert, on the other hand, had been study-
ing this bravest of all sports since he was a little boy in Mexico.
He was only too happy to explain the fine points to me. My wife
did not go to the arena with us, as she thought bullfighting cruel.
So Gilbert Roland and I attended the fights alone. We saw all of
the fights we could, beginning with those at San Sebastian. Now
I am not one of those actors who is embarrassed or annoyed
when recognized by movie fans. To me, they are customers, and
I try to behave toward them as though I were fully aware of that.

So I was anything but displeased when someone in that crowd
at San Sebastian caught sight of me and passed the word along
that “Pamplinas” was a fellow spectator. Soon you could hear the
whisper “Pamplinas” passing all around that large amphitheatre.
And in no time the entire arena was reverberating with shouts of
“Pamplinas! Pamplinas!”

The nicest thing about getting this sort of big hello in Spain is
that the fans demand so little of you. Perhaps this is not surprising
in a country where dignity is held every man’s birthright. All
Spanish fans expect you to do is acknowledge their greeting by
standing up and bowing. They don’t claw at you or ask for your
autograph. You sit down and also leave, unpawed, unpestered,
and you are deeply touched that such considerate people have
paid you a tribute.
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Another appreciated honor that day was having the Number
One matador dedicate the second bull he killed to their old dead-
pan “Pamplinas!”

I got the same heartwarming reception at other bullfights we
attended. But the most memorable experience of this sort I had
on the trip was in Toledo whose wooden bull ring was the most
picturesque arena in all Spain.

It was a dreadful day for the matadors. All three had wretched
luck, but the worst of it was reserved for the featured matador.
The first bull he faced was so bad he was unable to put up a
decent contest. His second bull could not be lured, bullied, or
irritated into following his red cloth. There is nothing a matador
can do to arouse the fighting spirit of a beast under such circum-
stances.

Now, those aficionados at Toledo knew this, of course, far better
than I. Nevertheless that crowd was merciless. They screamed,
whistled, hooted, and threw their cushions and everything else
movable at the luckless matador. They demanded that the Presi-
dent of the Bullfight order him thrown out of the ring. But this
was merely their first request. Before the afternocon was over they
were pleading with the President of the Bullfight to have the man
cast into a dungeon to be castrated by the village blacksmith.

At this fight, as at others, I had stood up, my heart swelling
with pride and gratitude on being recognized. But when a howling
mob of spectators surged down upon me as we were leaving I was
not so sure that they were not going to wreak their vengeance on
me. After all, they were, as far as I could gather, in no mood for
hero worship. And I looked around for Gilbert Roland, who might
have explained to me what was going on, but I had lost him in
the crowd.

Meanwhile I was being lifted on the shoulders of a couple of
husky young fellows who started carrying me to our hotel. Even
then, with all kinds of shouting going on, I couldnt figure out
whether they planned to kiss me or lynch me as a foreigner who
had put the jinx on their show. I felt quite relieved when I was
set down in one piece on the hotel’s front steps. |

Gilbert Roland then came running up. “What in hell did they
do that for?” I asked him as we went inside.
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Gilbert explained that the Toledans were in the habit each Sun-
day of carrying on their shoulders the matador who had most dis-
tinguished himself during the afternoon. He said, “They didn't
care to return to town empty-handed. So they carried you back.
You see now, Buster, what humble men these are. They'll settle
for anybody, even you.”

When we got to Granada the local Rotary Club invited us to a
lunch in a beautiful restaurant. About a hundred persons were
present and listened solemnly to the speeches their officers made
to welcome us and to Roland’s response.

After that many toasts were offered, by the presiding member,
and drunk. Gilbert explained what each was for. But after we'd
downed the last goblet of wine, he was silent.

“Don’t hold out on me,” I said. “What was that last toast for?”

“Oh, we were drinking to the death of the king,” he replied
casually.

I was horrified to hear I'd been drinking to the death of a man
who had done me no harm, whom I did not know, and in whose
country we were traveling.

“But I thought Alfonso was the most popular man in Spainl”
I exclaimed to Roland. “Why do they want their king to die?”

Roland shrugged. “Alfonso is very popular. Nobody has any-
thing against him personally. They are just sick of having to keep
and support a royal family. They think it would help business a
lot if they got rid of him and his whole gang any way they could.”

“If that is the state of things in Spain,” I said, “don’t you think
it might be smart to start heading home?”

Smilingly, Gilbert agreed, and that very day we started on the
long trip North. And on April 14, 1931, the day we left Spain for
France, the toothy, gay Alfonso also crossed the Portuguese border
never to return to the country he had been born to rule.

That same year my matrimonial troubles began. Perhaps it
would be more accurate to say they began in earnest that year.
Like the wife of every other male movie star, my wife had pre-
viously had attacks of jealousy. I suppose this was natural. M-G-M,
along with the other major studios, employed dozens of the world’s
most beautiful women. Some of them were very young and ex-
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ceedingly eager to make a place for themselves in pictures. Some
of them did not limit their use of sex appeal to get what they
wanted to the hours they spent before the camera.

There are always benevolent characters in Hollywood, and I
suppose every other town in the world, who unselfishly drop all
of their own business the first chance they get to interfere in yours.
My wife was forever hearing stories about my over-friendliness to
this bright-eyed starlet or that leading lady.

Most of these stories had not a grain of truth in them. Most, I
say, not all. The only comment I care to make on this is that I
would like to see the healthy, normal man in my spot at M-G-M
who could resist more feminine temptation than I did.

But Mrs. Buster Keaton kept seeing rivals everywhere. A good
example is what had happened when I went on a duck-hunting
trip early in 1930 with Buster Collier and Gilbert Roland. Marie
Prevost, who was Collier’s girl friend at the time, insisted on com-
ing along. We were snowed in on that trip, and the Los Angeles
Examiner heard about it and published the story under this head-
line:

MARIE PREVOST
SNOWED IN WITH
THREE COMPANIONS

There was no other girl along, but nothing I could say could
convince my wife of that. Once or twice she threatened to leave
me. I do not know yet whether these threats were made seriously
or to scare me into being a nice little husband who was always at
home in time for dinner and polite to her guests.

Then, one day in February 1932, all hell broke loose. An actress
invaded my dressing room at M-G-M and announced that she had
made up her mind that I should support her. When I refused, she
ripped off my shirt and started to scratch and claw away at me.
Ukulele Ike Edwards and Clarence Locan, an M-G-M publicity
man, were there when this tigress walked in. But both of them
ran for their lives when she steamed into action. Meanwhile, this
gentlewoman was breaking my dressing-room windows and
screaming like some crazy old witch. I had been too stunned by
her daffy behavior to move. But when the lady picked up a pair
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of long shears and lunged at me with them I belted her in the jaw
in self-defense.

At this point a couple of Culver City policemen arrived. They
turned out to be unlucky cops. When they tried to drag her away
she kicked one in the genitals and took a backhanded swipe at
the other, giving him a black eye.

The next day I was summoned to Irving Thalberg’s office. Eddie
Mannix was with him. They showed me a report from the woman’s
doctor stating that when I hit her I broke her jaw.

“Now she wants $10,000 from you,” said Mannix. “If she doesn’t
get it she’ll bring the whole mess into court.”

“The hell with her,” I said. “I didn’t hit her hard enough to break
her jaw. And no one with a fractured jaw was ever able to yell as
loud as she did at those two cops.”

“If you guys are worried about this,” I added, “let the company
fork over the $10,000 that will shut her up.”

“No,” said Mannix, “you’ll have to pay her. The name of M-G-M
must not be on the check.”

But he seemed to think it all right for the name of Buster Keaton
to be on the check. They continued to argue, and in the end I
made out the $10,000 check and handed it over.

Needless to say, it was a long, long time before I heard the
last at home about this depressing incident. But eventually every-
thing seemed to be patched up. I was told I was being forgiven
only for the sake of the children.

Less than a year later I got a chance to buy the sort of boat
I'd always wanted at a bargain price. It was a g8-foot ocean-going
cruiser with a Diesel twin-screw engine, two master bedrooms,
three smaller bedrooms, and a lounge which slept four more. It
required a crew of five: captain, engineer, cook, steward, and deck
hand. One of its two lifeboats had carried a six-cylinder engine.
This dream ship had been built for the publisher of the Seattle
Times at a cost of $102,000, but he had used it only once. On its
maiden trip his wife and both of his children got terribly seasick,
and in disgust he immediately put it up for sale. I got that slim,
lovely, ocean-going yacht, which had seen only forty hours of serv-
ice, for $25,000 cash. When the deal was set I went up to Seattle
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and sailed her to San Pedro Harbor—with some small assistance
from the captain and crew, of course.

That weekend we took a large party of friends on a trip to
Catalina Island. Among those on board was my boss, Louis B.
Mayer. After looking the craft over, he said, “I don’t know what
you paid for this boat, Buster, but whatever it was, you can make
a $10,000 profit right now by selling it to me.”

We had almost reached Catalina before I realized our two boys
werent aboard.

“Where are the kids?” I asked Mrs. Keaton. “This would be
great for them.”

She explained that she had them at a friend’s ranch for the
weekend. “I was afraid that they might fall overboard.” That
seemed absurd to me. Jim and Bob had been given swimming
lessons as soon as they could walk. And I told my wife that the
idea of them having any such accident with the crowd we had
aboard was ridiculous.

During the next week my wife disappeared, leaving no note or
other word saying where she was going or when she would come
back. Toward the end of the week I decided to give the boys a
treat I had long been promising them; this was a weekend trip
by airplane to Tijuana.

I took the boys” nurse along to take care of them. We traveled
in a chartered plane, piloted by an aviator noted for his reliability.
He carefully checked weather reports and equipment before each
flight and refused to take up passengers if the slightest risk was
involved.

The bbys had the time of their young lives on the way down to
San Diego, where we had to stop to get clearance papers before
flying across the border. When we landed at San Diego the
governess took Jim and Bob to the rest room.

After they were gone for ten minutes or so I went to the rest
room to look for them. The attendant told me that my sons and
their governess had just been taken away in a police car. I hurried
to the nearest police station in a cab. My kids were there all right.

“What did they do now?” I asked the police official behind the
desk. -

“The boys haven’t done anything,” he explained. “But I just got
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a long-distance telephone call from a public official in Los Angeles
requesting me to hold these boys to prevent you from kidnaping
them.”

“Kidnaping them?” I demanded. “How can a man kidnap his
own children?”

“Damned if I know,” he said, shaking his head. “But I have a
lawyer on his way here to tell me why I'm holding them.”

Before I had a chance to point out how silly this was the tele-
phone on his desk rang. It turned out to be Eddie Mannix who
said that my wife had phoned him in a panic.

“She’s afraid you're going to hide the boys from her in Mexico,”
he said. “She’s also dead set against the idea of taking them on a
dangerous trip in an airplane. You know how women are.”

He explained that he was coming down to Tijuana himself in
the morning. Before he left he would talk to my wife and then
see me when he got to San Diego.

“Okay,” I said, “but at least tell this police official here to let
me put the kids and the governess up at a hotel here. You can
assure him I won’t leave the United States without letting him
know.”

Next day we went home to find my wife still among the missing.
That really drove me wild. What was wrong with her? What did
she want of me? Why had she spoiled our weekend and caused all
of that ridiculous trouble?

A story had even been published in the newspapers that
charged me with trying to carry the boys into Mexico without her
permission. I began drinking and continued drinking all of that
day and part of the next. Meanwhile I heard not a word from my
wife.

Late on Monday afternoon I went down to the studio. I was
more than half full of whiskey and ready to explode with indigna-
tion. I saw an extra girl sitting outside of the casting office. She
had just finished her day’s work, she said. I didn’t know her, had
never seen her before, never saw her again, and do not know her
name even now. I could not say today whether she was blonde,
brunette, or a redhead.

“Have you a date tonight?” I asked her.

“No,” she said.
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“Do you want to come with me?”

“Yes.”

I took her home with me and led her straight to the huge ward-
robe in Mrs. Keaton’s room. In this my wife had 150 pairs of shoes,
most of which she had never put on since buying them. Also in
the wardrobe were three fur coats and dozens upon dozens of
frocks, house-coats, cocktail dresses, and evening gowns.

“Take whatever you want,” I kept saying to the bewildered
little extra. Whenever she hesitated, I would say, “Do you like
these?” and yank a handful of clothes from the rack and pile them
on the floor. And, “What about these nice things?” Then pile more
on the floor.

Even through my alcoholic haze I could see that the girl, even
as she accepted the clothes, was trying to humor me. I suppose
she realized she would have to return them later on.

After a while, though, she started taking things from the rack
too, possibly to placate me. But I didn’t think the pile of stuff on
the floor was growing fast enough. I grabbed more armfuls of
dresses, underthings, stockings, and finally a mink coat.

When the pile of clothes on the floor was big enough to satisty
me, the extra girl said she didn’t know where to take them. “Don’t
give it a thought, my dear,” I told her, “I have the solution. You
and I will go a-sailing on the high seas.”

I telephoned the skipper of my cruiser and told him to get
everything ready as we were about to start off on a trip, maybe
down the coast of Old Mexico, possibly only to Catalina.

“Get fuel and provisions aboard and full steam up,” I said.

By the time we got aboard it was eleven o’clock. “Okay, skip-
per,” I told the captain. “Are we ready to go?”

“I can’t move the boat, sir,” he said, “without the owner’s per-
mission.”

“Your troubles are over,” I said, “I give you permission to heave
ho.”

“You don’t seem to understand, sir.”

“No, I do not.”

“Mrs. Keaton is the owner of the boat, and some time ago she
gave strict orders that I should take it out only with her per-
mission.”
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It was some time before I could grasp the point. Then I recalled
taking some fool’s advice when buying the insurance for the boat.
This fellow said that if I registered the cruiser in my wife’s name
I could save 20 per cent of the insurance premium. Actors, he
told me, were considered unreliable types by the underwriters.
Why their wives were considered better risks he didn’t explain.

Technically, therefore, the cruiser did not belong to me but to
my wife.

I argued with the captain, made whimpering noises, and tried
to bribe him, but in vain. He remained as firm, steadfast, and pur-
poseful as the boy on the burning deck.

Discouraged, I strolled over to Roland West’s boat which was
moored in the berth next to ours. West, a well-known screen
writer and director, lived on his boat. He got out a bottle of
whiskey, and I discussed the crisis with him.

“The skipper’s right,” he said.

“Can’t I fire the captain?” I asked. “And hire someone else who
doesn’t know so much?”

By that time I was almost on the point of passing out. West
explained that there were all sorts of papers and documents that
had to be filled out before you could leave port in so large a craft.

“Well, even if I don’t own the boat,” I asked, mollified, “do you
think I could sleep on it tonight?”

We went back to my boat to confer with the captain who made
no objection. After getting aboard all of the clothes we had taken
from my wife’s wardrobe, the girl and I went to sleep in a cabin.
And I do mean to sleep. Nothing else happened.

Somebody who did not have my real interests at heart must
have telephoned my wife about some of the evening’s booze-
inspired goings on, because she arrived on the cruiser’s dock about
two o’clock that morning accompanied by her sister and two pri-
vate detectives and an important public official.

One of the detectives came aboard with my wife and her sister.
The other sleuth remained on the dock with the official, whose
purpose in joining the raiding party I never learned. It was just as
well that he did not venture aboard. He had been a guest at our
house many times and until that moment I had considered him a
friend. Whether I was drunk or sober, I would have pushed him
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overboard if he had even set foot on the cruiser. I was still sore
for the shabby part he had played in the San Diego fiasco. His
coming around now with my wife’s raiding party was to me the
last straw.

The two ladies and the detective, after establishing the facts
on which an adultery charge could be based, busied themselves
gathering up all of the clothes we had removed from the house.

“My lawyer will call on you in the morning,” said my wife, and
that was all she did say to me. She was hurt pretty badly, I guess.
It is the only explanation I have for her subsequent actions.

The lawyer who called on me next morning was one of the best
in the business. He brought the divorce action for my wife on July
25, 1932.

There is a community property law in California, but I refused
to get a lawyer to safeguard my rights. The last thing I would
claim is that I was smart about this; I was simply too stunned to
put up any sort of fight.

The lawyer asked and obtained for Mrs. Keaton practically
everything I had in the world. The list included our $300,000
home in Beverly Hills, two of our three cars, about $30,000 worth
of other property I owned, $12,000 in cash which I had in the bank,
the lawyer’s counsel fees, custody of the boys and $300 a month
for their support, plus $80,000 in insurance policies on my life.

I say I was too stunned and hurt to fight. With my whole home
life swept away so unfairly I just told myself, “the hell with the
money and everything else. Let her have everything she wants.”
It is also true that it never occurred to me that I possibly might
not continue to be a big money-maker for as long as I wished.

About all I had left when my wife obtained an interlocutory de-
cree on August 8 were my clothes and the third car. I did not even
have a place to live.

After the divorce my wife immediately put the boys in an ex-
clusive private school, the Black-Fox Academy in Hollywood, and
took a long vacation in Europe. They were spoiled enough al-
ready, I felt, without acquiring the snobbery that often rubs off
on boys in that sort of school.

The divorce decree allowed me visiting privileges, which I as-
sumed meant I could take them out of the school for a weekend
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occasionally. But the first time I tried the head of the school told
me that his strict orders were not to let me take them away over-
night.

Shortly after the divorce, I borrowed $10,000 to buy something
called a land yacht. I had read about it in a newspaper, and it
seemed ideal for my purposes. I lived in it for about a year.

The land yacht originally cost $50,000, had been built for a rail-
road president by the Pullman Company. It had twin motors in
the chassis of a Fifth Avenue bus, contained two drawing rooms,
a galley, an observation platform, and slept eight persons.

After using this fancy house on wheels for eighteen months or
so the railroad executive had died, and I bought it from his widow.
Even then, during the depression, it was impossible to buy much
of a house for that.

I had as much fun with my land yacht as a man can whose main
purpose is to forget that his whole private world has fallen apart.

One weekend, for instance, Lew Cody and I drove the land
yacht to San Francisco and parked it near the Palace Hotel's main
entrance. Half of the hotel staff came running out, apparently
believing some wild-spending Indian potentate had arrived. The
general manager asked me if I wanted my usual suite.

“Not this time,” I said. “Throw down a telephone from a second-
story window that we can use, and we also will want all room-
service privileges. To show you that our hearts are in the right
place we will pay you the regular parking fee—fifty cents a day.”

They laughed and agreed. That’s San Francisco for you.

We stayed there for three days, later went on hunting and fish-
ing trips in Arizona and other Western states. My land yacht got
big newspaper space everywhere we took it. We also used it in a
show put on for Franklin D. Roosevelt who had just been nomi-
nated as the 1932 Democratic presidential candidate.

The following year I went abroad to make two pictures. While
I was away my wife obtained a court order changing our boys’
last name from mine to hers. The first I heard about this was when
I returned. I knew that the court order would be revoked if I
appealed, for I had never been served with any papers in the
case.

But it was something I wanted to think over. My wife’s family
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had a lot of money—a great, great pile. My boys were the only
children in the family, and it meant a lot to my in-laws to per-
petuate their name. I knew my sons would be left all of this for-
tune someday if I did not make any legal moves to change their
name back to Keaton. I did not want to do anything to lose them
that chance of becoming rich. I was not sure that I would ever
have a dime to leave them. For by that time I had been fired by
M-G-M.
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For quite a while before the breakup of my marriage I had not
been happy about the way things were working out at the studio.
Despite everything I could do, control of my comedies kept slip-
ping out of my hands more and more.

Shortly after I started making pictures at M-G-M, Irving Thal-
berg’s brother-in-law, Lawrence Weingarten, had been installed
as producer of my pictures. But for quite a while he exercised
little more authority over my crew, cast, and selection of story
material than the fat cop on the corner. But just about the time
I was divorced, Mr. Weingarten decided to stop being a rubber-
stamp executive and take over as a producer with an iron will.

Larry Weingarten in the past quarter-century has produced an
imposing number of important and successful dramatic pictures.
Furthermore, with Thalberg dead these many years and most of
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the other old M-G-M brass gone, Larry is still there and getting
along fine. With the number of high-level shake-ups the studio
has undergone, this, needless to say, requires a good deal of talent
of another sort.

Nobody can deny that Larry learned his trade somewhere along
the line and learned it well. But his trade was never slapstick
comedy, and that was what I was still doing whether he and the
studio’s top dogs realized it or not. Perhaps they were deceived
because, when I began making full-length features, I had
stopped throwing custard pies and also eliminated impossible
gags like the one in which I dived through the cement walk and
came up years later with a Chinese family.

If they had known I was still essentially a slapstick comedian
they would not have bought for me the sort of stories they did.
These purchases included two Broadway farces: Parlor, Bedroom,
and Bath and Her Cardboard Lover. In Her Cardboard Lover
I was assigned the role played on the stage by Leslie Howard,
an Englishman with gazelle eyes and manners to match. M-G-M
renamed it The Passionate Plumber, which was nothing compared
to the names the critics called our movie version.

I suppose it isn’t entirely fair to blame Larry Weingarten, Louis
B. Mayer, or any other person for what happened to me in their
studio during those dark days of the depression. The entertain-
ment industry is always the first hit in bad times, and the movie
moguls’ financial aches and pains in the early thirties were com-
pounded by the upheaval caused by the talkies.

Hard pressed on all sides, the kingpins of Hollywood were
forced to make experiments. Many of these turned out disas-
trously, something which is inevitable when the experiments are
inspired by fear and undertaken as a last resort. The experiment
I know most about was the one made by Louis B. Mayer when
he teamed up Jimmy Durante and myself in a series of features.
There is no one in the world like Durante, bless him, but in my
opinion we just did not belong in the same movies.

As the dynamo of the smash-em-up team of Clayton, Jackson,
and Durante, Jimmy had electrified night-club, vaudeville, and
musical-comedy audiences for years. Nothing could have been
more hilarious than Jimmy pulling apart a piano or the team’s
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“Wood! Wood! Wood!” number in which everything constructed
of wood, from a kitchen match to a full-sized canoe and an out-
house, was dragged on the stage. Jimmy also was successful,
though to a lesser extent, on the radio and was great later in his
own TV show. |

But the moment he broke up the team at M-G-M’s suggestion,
Jimmy, depending almost entirely on his singing, piano playing,
and priceless personality was unable ever to carry one successful
picture. My guess is that without ingenious sight gags to work
with he lacked the variety required of the star of a screen comedy
running from seventy-five to ninety minutes. But the same thing
is true of Ed Wynn and W. C. Fields, two of the greatest clowns
of the century, in spite of the fact that they used brilliant sight
gags—so my guess about Durante could well be wrong.

At any rate, as I see it, there was no way to mesh, match, or
blend Durante’s talents with mine. Yet Jimmy would have been
great in the pictures that we did together if he had been allowed
merely to do spots of comedy instead of playing a character all of
the way through.

However, he was very good in the one picture we made together
that had quality. I think this was because the character he played
was very much like the real Jimmy Durante. The picture was
Speak Easily, which was based on a Clarence Budington Kelland
story and had a sound comedy plot.

From the time Jimmy and I were teamed up I heard rumors
that Mr. Mayer was planning to build him up at my expense.
This didn’t worry me much, although I can’t say I liked it. With
my record of successful pictures, I felt I was a fixture at M-G-M.
I couldn’t imagine anyone there wanting to get rid of me. If
Jimmy Durante could replace me it would be on his superior abil-
ity. Like a lot of men the world considers modest and humble I
had unshakable confidence in my talent and ability to hold the
place that I had staked out for myself.

The three pictures I made with Durante were The Passionate
Plumber, Speak Easily, and What, No Beer? in that order. I made
this last one—a 100 per cent turkey—right after my wife divorced
me. I was trying to drink away my sorrow and woe every night.
It was the only way I could get to sleep. But one weekend when
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I absorbed unusually large quantities of whiskey I was unable to
sleep at all.

I came to the studio that Monday so woozy from lack of sleep
that I hardly knew what I was doing. Somehow or other I got
the crazy idea that the one thing in the world that would wake
me up was a bottle of beer. I'd tried coffee and everything else
that I could think of, and none of them had helped.

Instead of waking me up, of course, the beer put me to sleep.
I laid down on my studio couch for a cat nap. But my exhaustion
was so complete that when the assistant director came to call me
to the set he couldn’t rouse me. Eddie Sedgwick, who was direct-
ing, summoned doctors who worked on me and then took me
home.

There was no shooting that day. For the first time in my movie
career I had delayed production and cost the studio a day’s salary
for everyone on the picture. I naturally assumed that nothing
would be done about this single dereliction of mine. Every other
star on the lot had caused them many such losses. I was also the
only M-G-M star who had never failed to show up for work on
time. Unlike Gilbert, Garbo, and most of the others I was never
temperamental, never refused to do anything required of me, in-
cluding the most hazardous stunts in my pictures.

Since talkies had made necessary the remaking of each picture
in Spanish, French, and German, I was the only star at M-G-M
who would do all three foreign versions when the original picture
was finished.

I rarely heard of the other M-G-M stars agreeing to do more
than one of these foreign versions. The remake chore, of course,
was easier on me than on dramatic performers who spoke a great
many more lines in each picture.

Eddie Sedgwick once said something interesting about this. He
said that audiences everywhere knew I was an American and did
not expect me to speak their language without making mistakes.
Also, being a comedian, I could mispronounce words, and they
might think it was on purpose and to get laughs, whereas if a
romantic performer made such mistakes he would seem grotesque.

They had worked out an interesting technique for these foreign-
language remakes. They used “idiot cards.” On these the foreign
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words are spelled out in phonetic English and held up beyond
camera range for the performer to consult as the scenes are shot.
I never liked the idiot cards. I preferred memorizing one simple
sentence or two or three, while the scenes I was not in were being
made. I enjoyed learning how to roll my “r’s” in speaking Spanish
and French, and mastering the gutturals used in German. Once
when we did a German version of a picture just after the French
one, the Teutonic language expert said to me, “They told me you
were an American. If that’s true why are you speaking German
with a French accent?”

My working on all foreign versions of my pictures saved the
company a fortune, which was an additional reason, in my opin-
ion, for the front office to overlook my beer-drinking error. And
that seemed to be the way the big brass also felt. When the picture
was finished M-G-M sent me to Arrowhead Springs to dry out in
the sulphur caves there for four days—and picked up the check.

I came back feeling fine physically—and got a new shock.
While I was away Larry Weingarten, without consulting me,
had bought a dog of a comedy from a director of small-budget
comedies and also assigned this man to direct this new picture.
I read the story, which was called The Sidewalks of New York,
and told Larry it was impossible. The plot required me to cope
with a gang of juvenile delinquents. I might have done that. What
I couldn’t cope with, I said, was the plot. But I couldn’t convince
him he had bought a lemon.

I felt this so strongly that I went over his head and appealed
to Irving Thalberg to help get me out of the assignment.

Irving was usually on my side, but this time he said, “Larry
likes it. Everybody else in the studio likes the story. You are the
only one who doesn’t.”

In the end, I gave up like a fool and said, “What the hell?”
Who was I to say I was right and everyone else wrong? I'd been
wrong about my marriage, hadn’t I? That was the way I reasoned.

So I mainly blame myself for what happened. The result would
have been different if I had trusted my own judgment and not
let them put me in parts I couldn’t play. I cannot even claim I
did not realize that the stories were wrong for me. I knew that
when I did them. But somehow The Sidewalks of New York was

239



MY WONDERFUL WORLD OF SLAPSTICK

finished and cut. At the preview it did not get a giggle, some-
thing which was blamed on me; I have no serious complaint about
that. As I see it, the star gets the credit for turning in good pic-
tures. Therefore, it is only fair that he be blamed for the bad
ones he is in, including those he was bullied and hornswoggled
into working in.

My drinking had steadily increased until I was putting away
more than a bottle of whiskey a day. Drinking myself to sleep
every night became a habit, and my weekends were all lost
weekends.

It was my hard luck also to be engaged just then in a ridiculous
controversy with Louis B. Mayer. A short while before the god-
awtul Sidewalks of New York was previewed, I'd been invited to
act as mascot for the St. Mary’s football team, then one of the
best elevens in the country, during its big game of the season, the
one with the UCLA Bruins. The invitation meant that I could sit
on the bench with the team during the game. I was as thrilled as
a child and said I would be there come hell or high weather.

I should have added “unless Louis B. Mayer has other plans
for me.” This proved to be the case. For some years Mr. Mayer
had been indulging himself in a fairly harmless but annoying bit
of hocus-pocus on Saturday afternoons in the alleged interest of
the studio’s public relations.

He liked to get his stars—and Mr. Mayer never thought of us
as anything else but his stars—to make fake movie scenes for
small groups of visitors from out-of-town. It could be a gang of
welfare workers from Des Moines, a convention of beer salesmen,
Lincoln (Nebraska) schoolteachers on a spree, or the members
of a trade association. No matter what the group was or where
it came from, Mr. Mayer liked to send instructions to the various
companies that were working on the lot to plan some fake scenes
for them. They had to be fake scenes, because in those early
days of sound, a whisper on a sound stage recorded like a war
whoop.

On the day before the great St. Mary’s-UCLA game Mr. Mayer
sent word through his secretary that I was to be in the studio at
two o’clock next day to do my stuff for some sixty members of
something or other.
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I sent back word that much as I regretted it I could not be
there. As I hung up I noticed that some of our crew had already
begun to put up a set specially for the visitors and were furnishing
it.

A few minutes later there was an ultimatum: “Mr. Mayer says
to be there.”

“I can’t,” I answered, and St. Mary’s beat the Bruins that Satur-
day 14-7. I enjoyed being mascot, but on Monday when I arrived
at the studio there was a letter on my dressing table. It read,
“Your services at Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios are no longer
required.”

It was signed, “Louis B. Mayer, General Manager and Vice-
President.” '

Though my contract with the studio had several months to run
I did not consult a lawyer about the matter. Once again I felt too
sick and hurt and crushed to do anything at all about my legal
rights, I certainly could have obtained a settlement even though
technically M-G-M may have had the right to discharge me for
causing the What, No Beer? company to miss a whole day’s
shooting.

Stupid not to have done this? Of course. But by that time I
was drinking more than a bottle of whiskey a day which neither
improved my mental processes nor lessened my sense of
humiliation.

Shortly after I was thrown out I did something even more
stupid. I had a chance to come back and refused to accept it.
That happened this way:

While I was making my last picture or two at M-G-M the com-
pany was also producing its fabulous all-star picture Grand Hotel
with most of the lot’s great stars in the cast. Among them were
Greta Garbo, Joan Crawford, John and Lionel Barrymore, Wallace
Beery, and Jean Hersholt.

One day Edmund Goulding, who was directing it, sent for me.
There was an important and serious role in the picture that he
had a crazy hunch I could play. It was the part of the man who
knows he is dying and wishes, in the last few months of his life,
to make up for all of the fun and gay times he has missed.

As any actor would, I told Eddie his hunch was not crazy at
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all. I was sure I could handle such a serious role. “In almost every
picture I've made,” I explained, “I make it a rule to become very
serious-about the fourth reel or so. That is to make absolutely sure
that the audience will really care about what happens to me in
the rest of the picture.” I suggested he re-run some of my old
pictures in a projection room and he would see that for himself.

I heard nothing more about this, and Lionel Barrymore, of
course, got the role. Lionel, as usual, handled himself masterfully
even though I would have played the part differently. I do not
say better, mind you, just differently. Even being considered by
Goulding for that straight dramatic role, however, was a compli-
ment. It also started me thinking about that picture. After I saw
it, I got one of the best travesty ideas of my life and told Eddie
Sedgwick about it.

The scene for this take-off on Grand Hotel would be the Mills
Hotel, the down-and-outers’ hangout in New York, which then
was renting its best rooms for fifty cents a night.

I planned to have Oliver Hardy play the part of the lustful,
power-mad manufacturer which Wallace Beery played in the
original. In our version, Hardy would be a manufacturer of front
collar buttons who is trying to arrange a merger with Stan Laurel,
a manufacturer of back collar buttons.

Polly Moran would play the secretary, Joan Crawford’s role in
the original, and in the scene in which Oliver Hardy seduces
Polly I hoped to hit one of the comic high spots of the decade.

In Grand Hotel Jean Hersholt had the poignant role of the hotel
clerk who is frantic with worry because his wife is having a baby.
Henry Armetta would be our room clerk, but what is giving him
the willies is the ordeal of his cat who is expecting kittens.

Jimmy Durante I saw as perfect in John Barrymore’s role of
the bogus count, but instead of making love to Greta Garbo as
the aging ballerina, he would have Marie Dressler in his arms.
Eddie and I almost got hysterical thinking of what Marie Dressler
would do with her first scene. In this she would look into the
full-length mirror, open her ankle-length ermine robe, exposing
her battleship of a figure in ballet dancer’s costume with slippers
about a foot and a half long, and murmur, “I think I am getting
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too old to dance, and I fear that my public doesn’t want me any
more.”

I, myself, would have Lionel Barrymore’s role—with a few
changes, of course. The doctor in my crucial scene would pro-
nounce me suffering from hiccups and declare that I had but
thirty or forty years to live.

“Only thirty or forty years?” I would exclaim. “That means I
must not lose a single moment.” And I'd order champagne and
caviar, dancing girls, and a gipsy orchestra sent up to my suite at
once.

“Let them release this parody of Grand Hotel six months after
their big picture is released,” I told Sedgwick, “and I'll bet any-
one on the M-G-M lot anything from a Ford to a Cadillac that my
take-off will outgross their all-star movie.”

We also discussed the advantages. We could use many of the
Grand Hotel sets, and most of the players were on M-G-M’s con-
tract list, so it would be neither troublesome nor expensive to line
them up.

“T'll even use their script,” I added.

One day, some time after I was fired by M-G-M, Eddie Sedg-
wick, grinning like some kid, came to see me. He said he had
told Irving Thalberg about my Grand Hotel take-off and that
Thalberg wanted to make it.

“He can’t make it,” I said. “It doesn’t belong to M-G-M. It be-
longs to me.”

“Irving knows that,” Eddie replied. “That is what he wants to
talk to you about.”

“Where?r”

“In his office, of course.”

“I can’t go back to M-G-M,” I said. “Thalberg should know that.
I'm in no shape to go back.”

That wasn’t my real reason, of course. After being kicked out
that way I had made up my mind that I would never walk on that
lot again until Louis B. Mayer invited me to. It was also true
that I was in no shape to go back. In no mental shape, that is.

But I was a fool, and I admit it. For Irving Thalberg, with the
chips down, was willing to fight for me. Aside from Norma
Shearer, his wife, I think I was his favorite M-G-M star. He appre-
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ciated my work more than that of any of the Barrymores, Garbos,
Crawfords, and Mickey Rooneys there.

Everything might have been different if I had gone back. Doing
a picture I was so eager to do might have enabled me to stop
drinking and re-establish myself as a man whose only business
was making people laugh.

Eddie Sedgwick, like any successful director, was a master of
persuasion. Yet he could not talk me that day into doing the
sensible thing and eating humble pie.

So nothing ever came of that bright notion. If it had I think I
would have won the bet of anything from a Ford to a Cadillac
that our parody would have outgrossed the original, even though
Grand Hotel earned millions for M-G-M in 1932, a year when the
world was wondering if it could ever get back on its economic
feet.

Losing out at M-G-M made me poison at the other major Holly-
wood studios. None of them seemed to want or need me. I don't
know what wild rumors went around about my unreliability and
alcoholism. But in that tightly knit one-industry town there were
then seven major studios in a position to spend on a picture the
sort of money that my comedies cost. No offers came from the
other six: Paramount, Columbia, Warner Brothers, Universal, Fox,
or RKO.

I was jubilant when I got an offer from Florida where Mickey
Neilan had just made a picture called Chloe and wanted to make
another with me. Lew Lipton, a comedy writer who had worked
with me, was with Neilan, and this gave me added reassurance.
I was going to be paid $3,000 a week, my M-G-M salary. Financ-
ing was being supplied by a group of Coca-Cola distributors and
other businessmen. They had hopes of establishing Florida as a
film-making center.

I was in very high spirits as I flew to St. Petersburg where
Neilan and Lew Lipton met my plane. Getting 3,000 miles from
the scene of my worst defeats was exhilarating. I was determined
to stay off the booze, do a great job, and show everyone that I
was anything but a dead duck.

I arrived in Florida in the spring of 1933, just when the hot
weather was beginning to drive the tourists home. I had a story
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that seemed sound, and in no time we were ready to start shoot-
ing. But the weather made that impossible. I say this even after
having made pictures on the Arizona desert where the heat was
almost as oppressive. But in Arizona the air was dry. In soggy
Florida it was not enough to put ice on top of the camera to keep
the emulsion from melting off the film. We also had to keep
cold air blowers going all the time on both sides of the camera. It
was so hot down there that it was impossible for Molly O'Day,
the leading lady, to keep the make-up on her face.

Yet we might have managed somehow if it hadnt been for the
insects. They really finished us. Dragon flies, mosquitoes which
seemed to have teeth, kept zooming in swarms between the
actors and the camera. It was impossible for Neilan to get a clean
shot even with the blowers going.

None of this discouraged our optimistic backers. But I told them
the truth when I became convinced that they were only throwing
their money away in trying to establish a year-round movie
industry there. Among other things, I pointed out that for years
they would have the additional heavy expense of transporting
everything they needed, from costumes to actors, from New York.

They listened, paid off, and I was out of another job. The proj-
ect had been widely publicized, so what I got from it was a
couple of weeks’ pay and another failure on my record.

The two worst years of my life were from 1933 to 1935. I really
started to hit the bottle hard after returning from Florida, and in
a short while I had a bad case of the d.t.s. I do not know why
I say bad case, as I never have heard of a good case of delirium
tremens.

Louella Parsons’s husband, the late Dr. Harry Martin, who was
an old friend of mine, sent me to Arrowhead Springs for renewed
drying out and sulphur-cave treatments. I was accompanied by
a young physician, associated with him, and a nurse.

When we returned, Dr. Martin was not satisfied with my con-
dition and insisted that the nurse remain with me a couple of
weeks longer to make sure I completed the cure. She had her
orders of just the right amount of whiskey to give me so I
wouldn’t go nuts, also hypodermics to put me to sleep.

I was living in a little Culver City bungalow. It was a restful
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enough place with a rear porch facing the pleasant greens of the
California Country Club’s golf course, but it didn’t rest me. Some-
thing about being so close to the studio I'd been kicked out of
made me fret and brood.

I was able to endure just a week of living there. Then I told
the nurse I wanted to go to Mexico. When she protested that her
orders from Dr. Martin required her to stay close by me I told
her she could come along.

I ran away to Mexico, but it did not solve anything, of course.
About all that happened there was another marriage which got
world-wide publicity because a full year had not elapsed since
my interlocutory decree from my first wife became final. When
that came through there was another marriage ceremony at
Ventura, California. That second marriage of mine did not last
long, which is the nicest thing about it I remember.

During those two bad years I made feature movies in Mexico,
England, and France. None of them was any good, because in
none of those three countries did the producer have money
enough to finance a proper production. And the day had passed
when the public would come to see a movie with inferior props,
camera work, and generally poor production. In between these
professional mishaps I kept on drinking like a fish. Once I was
taken to a sanitarium in a strait jacket, and I twice was given
the Keeley cure, or a reasonable facsimile. I will describe this cure
briefly here, though with no great pleasure. It starts with three
days during which the nurses and doctors do nothing but pour
liquor into you, giving you a drink each half-hour on the half-hour.

I trust that any drunkards who happen to read this will not be
misguided enough to rush off to the nearest sanitarium to get all
of these free drinks. You get your favorite snort, all right, but never
twice in a row. Instead they start you off on whiskey and on suc-
ceeding rounds give you gin, rum, beer, brandy, wine—before
they get around to the whiskey again.

Needless to say, the Bacchus in you is revolted and rebellious
long before your three-day round-the-clock drinking marathon is
over. When you plead, “Oh, nol Take it away pleasel” all you get
from your bartenders and barmaids in the white coats is a
friendly smile.
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“Please take it away,” you repeat, “it hurts my stomach.”

“Just one more,” they say, for their purpose is to make the hurt
in your stomach grow until it becomes unforgettable. And, being
a weakling, you take that one more just as you did in a thousand
barrooms.

The Keeley cure may have worked wonders for some alcoholics,
but it did nothing for me that first time. When I got out I could
think of too many excuses for drinking—the grandson of my grocer
was having a birthday, or I had to celebrate good old St. Swithin’s
Day, the inauguration of Rutherford B. Hayes, or some other im-
portant occasion.

After taking that cure the second time, I was taken home and
immediately went for a walk on the golf course. I walked over
the entire eighteen holes, and, on reaching the clubhouse, I
walked to the bar and ordered two manhattans. I drank them
one after another. They not only tasted great, they stayed down.

That was in 1935 and, after proving to myself I could drink if
I felt like it, stop if I felt like it, I did not touch a drop of whiskey
or any other alcoholic drink for five years.
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Early in 1934, when I was flat broke, I received an offer of $15,-
ooo from a French producer to make a picture in Paris. The pro-
ducer sent me nothing for traveling expenses, and to get there
with my second wife I had to sell $350 worth of War Savings
Bonds which I had been hanging onto ever since my Army days.
It proved barely enough to get us to Europe in the cheapest way
I could find: on a freighter traveling from Los Angeles to Glasgow,
Scotland, via the Panama Canal.

After landing in Scotland we traveled to London and stopped
overnight at the Grand Palace Hotel. There was a wonderful sur-
prise waiting there for me, a letter from Joe Schenck with a
$1,000 check in it. He wrote that this covered my share of the sale
of some leftover equipment at the Keaton studio.

I could not remember any leftover equipment and suspected
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‘this was Joe’s tactful way of extending a helping hand. I was in
no position to question this. It had come in the nick of time to
pay pressing bills in Hollywood.

Somehow I have always found it impossible to borrow money
from anyone. Perhaps the fact that I've paid my own way since
I was four has something to do with this. Some sort of crazy pride
even prevented me from asking friends to return money I had
loaned them back in my $3,000-a-week days.

When I went broke, I had $15,000 in personal debts outstand-
ing, not counting the tens, twenties, and fifties every star in show
business is expected to hand out to down-and-outers as a matter
of course. |

Some of the friends I had loaned solid amounts to never got
into a position where they could pay. It was that way with
Arbuckle, who died owing me $2,500, and with Lew Cody, who
died owing me $2,000.

But there were several others, including a cowboy star, a
prominent comedian, and a pal who inherited a fortune, who could
have paid me but never came near me.

One man who did pay up was Norman Kerry, whom Hollywood
had written off as an irresponsible actor who drank too much.
Kerry came to see me one day, and asked, “Do you remember the
time about four years ago when I borrowed a thousand dollars
from you?”

“I do, now that you mention it, Norman,” I told him.

“Well, I just did a little acting job,” he explained, “and got
$1,000 for it. But I cannot give it all to you. I need some of it to
live on. Would it be all right if I only gave you $goo and keep the
rest for myself?”

My old friend, Norman Kerry, died recently, but I'll never for-
get him or the day he gave me a nine-to-one split on the first
thousand dollars he had seen in many months.

I also am one man who can throw a sincere kiss to the Internal
Revenue Bureau for consideration in time of need. At the height
of my troubles the Bureau informed me I owed $18,000. But after
I showed them my books and convinced them that my current
income was only a shadow of what it had been they offered to
clean the slate for $4,000.
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Throughout all my troubles I was buoyed up by one thing: the
conviction that no matter what else happened I could always get
work in show business in some capacity. Another advantage I had
over other once-rich brokes was being able to live without luxuries.

I enjoy having expensive things, but it did not bother me when
I had to turn my Cadillac in for a Ford and wear ready-made
suits instead of custom-tailored jobs and live without servants in
a cheap bungalow court. After I made the picture in Paris I made
another in London. But these two pictures, as I said, were too
cheaply made to re-establish my reputation. After that I had to
take anything I could get. And what I got was a contract to make
comedy short subjects for Educational Films. When this expired
I was signed for a similar deal by Columbia Pictures. It meant a
living, for I was paid $2,500 each for them and made about six
a year.

These two-reelers, shot in three days each, were what pic-
ture people call “cheaters,” meaning movies thrown together as
quickly and cheaply as possible. All of the energy and ingenuity
of the director is concentrated on the saving of money. New props
and scenery were never used if old ones would do. The supporting
casts couldn’t support themselves, and the scripts were cooked up
as quickly and carelessly as a hobo’s mulligan stew. For they
brought in no revenue to the company, were just thrown in free
with Columbia’s features.

Several times I urged Harry Cohn, president of Columbia, to
let me spend a little more time and money. I explained that on a
larger budget I could turn out two-reelers that he could sell in-
stead of giving them away as part of a package.

Cohn, whose company was doing great without my suggestions,
was not interested. And making those “cheaters” was the way I
supported myself and my family from 1935 to 1940. Occasionally
I got a day’s work at some other major studio in a feature.

I did get one fascinating four-week assignment in 1939 when
Twentieth Century-Fox made Hollywood Cavalcade, a story
about making comedies in the old silent days. It starred Don
Ameche and Alice Faye, with Alice playing a Broadway show
girl who comes to Hollywood believing she has been hired to play
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in dignified dramas. Instead she finds herself playing leads in Key-
stone Komedies.

My deal called for me to act in this and also to work as the
director’s comedy consultant. Not surprisingly, there were some
pie-throwing episodes in the picture. “Alice Faye will catch one
from you,” Alan Dwan, the director, told me, “and you can also
teach her and the others the secrets of the art.”

I had not thrown a custard pie for years and lost no time in
getting in some practice when not busy on the set.

I started by drawing a circle on the wall in white chalk. This
was the approximate size of Alice Faye’s lovely blonde head. I
used a wooden plate as my practice “pie.” When this proved too
light I kept on driving nails into it until it weighed about as much
as the custard pies Roscoe, Al St. John, and I had so much fun
throwing at one another in the old days. I practiced throwing the
plate from various distances. I have always considered myself the
world’s champion custard-pie thrower, and slowly my old marks-
manship returned.

I had the studio’s bakers make the pie according to our original
1917 recipe. No custard is used, and, with a blonde the target,
the filling is a mixture of blackberries, flour, and water, garnished
with whipped cream. When a brunette is the one to be smeared,
a lemon-meringue filling is substituted for the blackberries, which
shows up better on the screen against a dark complexion.

Two crusts are cooked, one inside the other, until brittle. The
double crust prevents crumbling when your fingers slide across
the bottom in delivering the confectionary.

Tin plates are never used because of the danger of cutting
the recipient’s eye, something that could happen when the plate
slides sideways at the crucial moment of impact. The shortest
throw, across a distance of from three to six feet, is called a shot
putt, and this was the custard-pie surprise I was to heave at sweet-
faced Alice Faye.

I worried about her flinching. Besides spoiling the shot, this
would mean hours of delay while Alice took a shower, got a whole
new make-up job, a hairdo, and was fitted for a duplicate clothes
outfit.

I decided not to warn her when the great moment approached.
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After talking it over with Dwan, we placed George Givot, who
was playing the villain, between Alice and me. Givot faced me,
but Alice, standing right behind him, was faced in the opposite
direction. Givot was told that he should turn the girl around slowly
as I started to say my line, which was, “We will see who gets the
girll” He would hold her in front of him, using her as a shield.
After timing this, using another girl for Alice, I suggested that if
the word “Now” was added, it would give me time to deliver the
pie at just the right split second.

When we made the shot, Givot turned Alice around too quickly,
which forced me to speed up my throw. Consequently the pie
hit her harder in the face than should have been necessary.

You never saw a more stunned-looking girl in your life than
Alice Faye that day. We required no retake, but Alice did not
thank me for that. As the camera was being moved to the next
location I saw her go over to a table on which the pies for other
scenes were waiting to be used. Alice picked one up, weighed it
in her hand, then tried several others. When she found one she
liked she headed toward me on the run. I leaped up and ran, but
Alice chased me off the sound stage and clear out of the studio
holding all the while that menacing custard pie in her hand.

I think I proved I was still the champ custard-pie thrower dur-
ing that picture when I caught George Givot squarely in the face
with a pie from a distance of twenty-seven feet.

Only a few years ago I had another chance to demonstrate the
art of custard-pie throwing on Ed Wynn’s TV program. I had been
guest star several times on Ed’s show, but this was an impromptu
appearance. As everybody knows, Ed is a lifelong collector of
funny hats. One day I found one I thought he would like and
brought it to the CBS Playhouse where he was broadcasting. I
found him in his dressing room, being made up. After admiring
the hat and thanking me for it, Ed asked, “Where do you keep
your stage wardrobe?”

“Home,” I replied, “but why?”

“I have no finish for tonight’s show. I thought if you come on
you might think of something. How fast can you get home and
change into your stage clothes and get back?”

I told him, “It will take me ten minutes to drive there, ten to
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drive back, and five minutes more to dig up the stage outfit and
get into it.”

Ed looked at his watch, saw he had thirty-three minutes before
going on, and said, “You can just make it. That’s if you hurry.”
He quickly explained that he had lined up four of the old Key-
stone Cops to demonstrate custard-pie throwing.

“Why I never thought of getting the champ,” he added, “Tll
never understand. Even now I don’t know how to use the pie-
throwing for the finish. But hurry—and try to think of a finish for
me.

I raced home, hustled into my old outfit—pork-pie hat, slap
shoes, and baggy pants, and was back in time. But not in time,
of course, to write any dialogue or to explain to the cameraman
where I was going to move and what I was going to do next. And
without that—a camera rehearsal—everybody, particularly in the
control room, can get very confused on a TV show.

But there was no time to worry about that.

Everybody loved the finish I improvised—except Chester Conk-
lin, Hank Mann, his brother Heinie, and Snub Pollard, the four
Keystone Cops involved. They had been looking forward to throw-
ing the custard pies and did not like my taking over the job. They
had to be sweet-talked into accepting the change I had dreamed
up.

As many TV fans will recall, Ed Wynn always ended his show
by coming out in nightgown and nightcap, carrying a candle, and
getting into bed.

This night I followed him on, sat on the side of his bed, and
warned him, “Now, Ed, if you're going in for this style of comedy
and getting mixed up with characters like Keystone Cops, you've
got to learn to throw pies. I'm going to give you your first lesson
tonight.”

I went off stage, got Hank Mann, and stood him near the head
of the bed. Then I got a pie from the stack on a tea table.

“Now, anyone can do this one,” I explained to Ed Wynn, dem-
onstrating as I talked. “It is called the walking thrust. All you need
to do is walk up to him and push it in his face. But before you
start away, give it a slight twist. That’s in the interests of effi-
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ciency. The slight turn makes the dough portion of the pie cling
to the victim.”

“Just a second,” I said, “till I get a clean Cop.”

When I had the next Keystone Cop lined up I continued my
lecture to Wynn, saying, “Any time you have to throw one of these
things from three to six feet you shot putt it—like this. But, my
friend, the secret, when you have to throw the pie more than
eight feet, is to have exactly enough dough in the pie so it will re-
main perpendicular, that is, sail flat as it comes off your fingers.”

With the third Cop ready, I continued my explanation with,
“However, if you wish to be more artistic, you use the renowned
ancient Roman discus throw which is by far the most beautiful de-
livery of all.” In demonstrating this I spun halfway around, turning
the pie as I whirled, and let go hitting the Cop square in the face.

Now I paused for a moment, as though awed by the significance
of the final contribution I was to make to Ed’s education in slap-
stick. “The last one, of course, is the most difficult,” I told him.
“And, Ed, it will take you years to learn to throw like this/

“For this one is the custard-pie throw that everyone misses with
most often. It is really the same sort of overhand throw that the
catcher makes to second base from behind the plate.

“As you can observe, Ed, you pull back your arm just as far as
it will go, then bring the pie in all of the way from East St. Louis
—and let ’er go!”

Traveling all the way across the stage as that custard pie did,
you need luck to catch your target square. But luck was with me
that night, the fourth and final Cop catching it right in the face.

“I got the finish I wanted,” Ed Wynn whispered to me. “You
saved the show for me tonight.”

So many good things happened to me during 1940 that I see that
year now as the one in which my life started on the upgrade once
more. I also started drinking again—which wasn’t one of the good
things, of course.

For some time my friends had been assuring me that beer never
hurt anyone. That is very easy to believe if you enjoy drinking
beer as much as I do. The trouble with drinking beer is that it
is such a short step to drinking whiskey.
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And each time I started drinking whiskey, I again could always
find occasions to celebrate. It might be somebody’s birthday, any-
body’s, even the cat’s, or a holiday, St. Patrick’s Day, St. Swithin’s,
Arbor Day, Mother’s Day, Father’s Day. If not, somebody was
easily found who had just got out of the hospital, got married
or divorced, lost his mother-in-law and wanted you to drink with
him because he was happy or wanted to forget his sorrows. Re-
fusing seemed positively rude.

Even so, in my opinion, you are all right as long as you can
drink and wake up without a hang-over. You are still all right if
you can fight off the tearing desire for an eye opener.

That’s always been the killer in my life, that eye opener that
brings such relief but doesn’t last long enough, and leads you into
taking another and another until you find yourself waking up with
a hang-over all over again.

Keep it up awhile, and whenever a couple of little things go
wrong you find yourself saying the hell with it and getting drunk
to help you forget. And that’s the final step that brings you to the
police station or the psychopathic ward.

I was to go on many a bender in the next fifteen years though
without ever getting into as bad shape as back in 1932 and 1933
when the roof fell in on me.

Oddly enough, I never got drunk while I was working. Always
I was far too interested in what I was doing to take a chance on
missing out on any of it. When idle and with no work in prospect,
I could get as bagged as anyone else.

And now for the good things that happened to me during 194o.
I'll start with the best of them, my marriage to Eleanor Norris,
the dancer, on May 29 that year. I had been divorced five years.
She was twenty-one, I forty-four. On hearing of our plans, a couple
of my middle-aged friends took the liberty of advising Eleanor
against marrying a man more than twice her age. They said no
good could come of it. Their concern by the way was not for her,
but for me.

Having been brought up to respect her elders, Eleanor listened
to the two middle-aged wise men, and we continued our plans
for the wedding. I, myself, had one fairly good reason for hesitat-
ing about making that pretty young girl my bride. For a good

258



A PRATFALL CAN BE A BEAUTIFUL THING

many years I had been going steady, as they say, with a beautiful
woman who had been a star at M-G-M with me. We had been
sweethearts for quite a long time, and I doubted whether she
would take the news that I was marrying a younger girl in any
truly Christian spirit.

Well, I saw no point in either hurting her feelings or getting
my head broken. I spent a good deal of time trying to solve the
dilemma. Eventually I recalled that my long-time girl had always
shown a considerable interest in wrestlers. As an experiment I
took her to a couple of wrestling shows at the Hollywood Stadium.

To my great joy she appeared utterly fascinated by one curly-
haired young grappler. Getting his manager to one side I told
him that my companion was deeply interested in his boy and
slipped him her telephone number to pass along to the muscular
youth. Before Eleanor and I were married ourselves, my other
girl and the wrestler dated, fell in love, and eloped. Eleanor and I
have been married happily now for nineteen years, but you can
bet I've never become sappy enough to take her to any wrestling
matches.

Another big 1940 event in my life came on the day that I de-
cided to quit making cheaters at Columbia. I just got to the point
where I couldn’t stomach turning out even one more crummy two-
reeler.

The next morning I drove over to M-G-M and saw my old
friend, Eddie Mannix. I told him how I felt about what I'd been
doing and asked him if he could put me on the payroll as a gagman
and comedy constructionist.

“I can put you on at a $100 a week.”

“It’s a deal,” I told him.

I am always surprised when people ask me if I didn’t feel it
was a comedown to take a job like that at such a small salary at
the studio where I'd been a $3,000-a-week star. The answer is
“No.” I had not the slightest sense of humiliation. For one thing,
I'd had ten years to forget my old grievances. For another, I never
had the sort of pride many actors are afflicted with. Like me, many
of them had once been stars. They said they preferred to starve
to death rather than accept a small-paying job. I do not know
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whether any of them starved or not, but the Hollywood hills are
certainly always swarming with them.

When Eddie put me on at a $100 a week I thought it was darned
nice of him. We could live on that, and I was sure M-G-M would
raise my pay the moment I started giving them gags and comedy
ideas they could use. And that’s what happened: before long I
was getting $300 a week.

I also knew that whenever an acting job came my way the
company would give me time off for it. And I again got such
jobs occasionally, usually for a day’s work, at a $1,000 a day. I
had one of those one-day jobs that very fall in The Villain Still
Pursued Her. This was a screen version of The Drunkard, the old
stage melodrama which was revived in Los Angeles more than
fifteen years ago and is still running there. I played a waiter who
dropped a tray of dishes, something almost anyone will do for
nothing. But the producer wanted a familiar face in that little bit
and picked mine as the movie face hardest for fans to forget.

Though my principal job at M-G-M was as a trouble shooter
who rushed in with gags whenever needed, I got a bit to do once
in a while on the studio’s pictures. And the company, I must say,
was most generous with their bonuses for this work.

I did my best work on the Red Skelton pictures, though, gen-
erally speaking, my suggestions were far more graciously re-
ceived by M-G-M’s dramatic performers than by my fellow
comedians. Perhaps this is not surprising, but it sure surprised me.
I cannot imagine Chaplin, Lloyd, Harry Langdon, or myself re-
jecting or resenting a first-rate gag just because another comic sug-
gested it. But then, as I've mentioned, our approach to our work
was quite different from theirs.

I now discovered that they never saw a script until it was com-
pleted. It was almost routine for them to return the first version
to the studio with the notation, “This stinks.” The studio would
then assign a couple of new writers whose effort, more often than
not, would be returned as “Not up to par!” or with some similar
comment. When an acceptable script was whipped up, the come-
dian asked, “When do we start and what do I wear?”

I have been told that Phil Silvers, Jerry Lewis, and Jackie
Gleason are among the comedians now popular who work from
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the beginning on their stories, and I hope it is true. But I never
worked with any of the three. One of the equally famous comics
I did work with hardly could wait to finish a scene. He had a
big-stakes poker game going on in his dressing room which he was
much more interested in than his picture. The men he played with
dressed, acted, and talked like mobsters. Another great comic
would not even watch the scenes in his pictures that he did not
appear in. He was more interested in getting back to his dressing
room so he could write jokes for his radio show. And so it went.

To say that any of these enormously popular comics was not a
really funny man would be ridiculous. Writers, directors, advisers,
and material can help you get to the top. What no outsider can
supply is the rare talent to make people laugh. This the comic was
born with and developed himself, or he would never have gained
recognition in the first place. It just seems to me that for a man
with such a rare and irreplaceable talent not to use it fully is like
throwing away your birthright.

Among the M-G-M star comics I failed to click with were Ab-
bott and Costello. I also got nowhere with the Marx Brothers. But
I still think that an opening gag I devised for the Marxes’ A Day
at the Circus was as sure-fire and amusing as anything I ever
dreamed up for my own pictures. In this shot, Harpo was selling
gas-filled balloons. Standing next to him is a midget on a side-
show platform. When a customer buys a balloon and hands Harpo
a ten-dollar bill, he hands over the other balloons to the midget to
hold for him while he fishes in his pockets for change. But the
midget is not heavy enough to hold onto the balloons which rise
in the air, carrying him off his feet. Harpo, who has given the cus-
tomer his change, grabs the midget’s ankle just as he is flying
beyond reach, takes back the balloons. Then, without looking at
the midget, he makes a slapping gesture as though he blamed the
midget for not weighing enough.

After this shot Harpo walks past a camel. It has two baskets
hanging on its back. A man with a pitchfork is filling these with
straw. Harpo can see this but not the keeper on the other side of
the camel who holds the reins attached to the animal’s halter.

Some of the straw falls out of the basket nearest Harpo. He
picks the straw up and throws it back into the basket. Meanwhile
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the keeper he cannot see is looking in his pockets for a match.
Harpo finds a single straw on the ground and throws this into the
basket just as the keeper bends over to strike the match on his
trousers, accidentally pulling on the halter and causing the camel
to sink to his knees.

Amazed at this apparent proof that there is a last straw that
breaks the camel’s back, Harpo takes back the single straw just as
the keeper straightens up, loosening the rein on the camel who
rises to his feet. Now Harpo is delighted: the ancient aphorism is
based on truth.

When 1 acted this out for the Marx Brothers, Groucho asked
with a sneer, “Do you think that’s funny?” Harpo and Chico just
stared at me in disgust. :

Perhaps the reason I worked so much more effectively with Red
Skelton is because he is the contemporary comedian whose work-
ing methods are closest to what ours were in the silent days. The
first Skelton movie I worked on was the one in which Esther Wil-
liams made her screen debut. The picture was called Swimming
Beauty but without my consent. I suggested that a more effective
box-office title would be The Fatal Breast Stroke, but Mr. Mayer
was stuffy about it and said Swimming Beauty was as far as he
cared to go in summoning up carnal images in our customers’ lively
imaginations. Another Esther Williams picture that I wanted to
retitle was one in which she did a great deal of riding. I tried to
get M-G-M to call that one The Bride Wore Spurs, but failed
again to win over the brass.

I can hardly think of one star on the M-G-M lot whom I did
not work with during my years as a trouble shooter there, or one
top director or producer.

In various pictures I showed Lana Tummer how to get a laugh
spilling a cup of coffee on Mickey Rooney, tutored Van Johnson
how to get his bicycle’s sprockets tangled up in Judy Garland’s
dress, and helped Clark Gable work himself into a state of be-
wildered frustration.

The Gable picture was a whale of a yarn called Too Hot to
Handle. In this Clark, one of the best-liked and easiest-to-work-
with stars in Hollywood, was playing a lazy, cynical newsreel
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cameraman. Though assigned to cover the Japanese-Chinese war,
this character had no intention of risking his neck at the front.

One scene I worked on produced as natural a gag as I ever saw.
In this Gable was faking a scene showing the horrors of war. He
had a four-year-old boy sitting on the ground, playing with gravel.
Gable made a paper airplane and was trying to photograph this
in such a way that its shadow—the supreme symbol of destruc-
tiveness in war—would cross the little boy’s face.

To heighten the effect of a helpless little victim caught in a
bombing attack, he had placed some dirt and debris on the limbs
of the tree under which the child was at play. When he shook the
tree—at the right moment—the debris would fall on the tiny vic-
tim. For an additional effect he had a bucket full of dirt on the
end of a wooden board. That end rested on the ground; the middle
of the board was propped on a rock, which left the other end a
foot or so above ground. This was close to Gable’s foot, and by
stepping on it he could send the bucket of dirt flying into the air
and make it come down all over the little boy under the tree. If
this worked, he could ship the film home as an incident during a
bombing attack and stall off going to the front.

In the scene a slightly older boy was watching Gable’s elabo-
rate faking of the horrors of war with admiring smiles. He was
continually annoying Gable by getting in his way. Gable kept mov-
ing this second boy out of his way, finally perching him on a
nearby wall.

What was needed here was a laugh provoked by something
going wrong. I figured out that it would be funnier if this second
boy climbed on the tree over the smaller child so he could see
everything better. Then when the tree was shaken the branch
would break under the boy’s weight, causing him to fall on Gable
just as he was making his shot, and that’s the way it worked out.

M-G-M also remade my old picture The Cameraman as Watch
the Birdie, with Red in my part. But the great scene in the bath-
house got nothing like the laughs our version had. I believed this
was because they made a mistake I had avoided. This was using
Mike Mazurski, the huge, ex-wrestler as the other man in that

undressing scene. In my opinion, the audience just did not believe
that Mazurski would not have thrown Red Skelton out the mo-
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ment he got annoyed enough. I think that M-G-M made another
error in that picture in having Red Skelton sneezing repeatedly
all over Mazurski which was a disgusting thing to watch.

In 1948 Jack Cummings, one of the great M-G-M directors,
called me in to look at Red Skelton’s The Southern Yankee, which
had received disappointing receptions when previewed. This is,
of course, a situation which makes a man feel like the Marines
coming to the rescue.

I told Cummings he had a whale of a story but, in my opinion,
they had made a couple of mistakes. One was having Red behave
like an imbecile in the opening scenes. As the comedian and lead-
ing man, Red lost the audience’s sympathy by behaving too
stupidly. If you act as screwy as he was doing, the people out front
would not care what happened to the character you were playing.
They reshot those scenes, toning down Red’s nutty behavior and
also eliminating some of the noise that marred the opening scene.

I also contributed the gag in which Red was shown walking be-
tween the Union Army and the Confederate Army, with both ar-
mies cheering him madly. The reason was that Red was wearing
half of a Union Army hat and uniform on the side facing the
Northern soldiers and a Southern hat and uniform on the other. In
addition he had sewed together the flags of the two opposing sides
so that the boys in blue saw a Union flag and the Southerners only
the flag of the Confederacy.

Both sides cheer him wildly until a sudden gust of wind re-
verses the flag, showing both sides the game he is playing. As Red
turns around to straighten the flag they discover his half-and-half
uniform.

During the nine or ten years I worked as a gagman at M-G-M I
discovered, among other things, how little faith some of the in-
dustry’s most-respected directors and producers had in their own
judgment.

One director who had brought in many fabulous successes can-
celed one of the Thin Man series, which he had been all ready to
shoot, after he got my opinion of the story.

“This is a very amusing script,” I told him, “but you have one
tricky problem. That is keeping your audience interested in your
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leading lady. This is because you show her as so frivolous and
screwloose that you will lose all sympathy for her.”

That was all I said. It should not have been too difficult for this
gifted director and a crack M-G-M screen writer to rewrite this
character. Instead he completely lost faith in the story, ordered it
taken off the schedule, and had an entirely different story written
for the Thin Man series. ‘

Some time later I had another revealing experience with an-
other experienced director at Twentieth Century-Fox. That stu-
dio had borrowed me to help work on the W. C. Fields sequence
in Tales of Manhattan. As this old director slipped me a script of
the picture he was shooting, he whispered, “Take this home and
read it, but don’t let anyone see you walking out with it under your
arm.” I was able to give him some advice next day that he ac-
cepted and used in the picture, but the studio never knew he had
let me read the script. And. it wasn’t that he wanted all of the
credit for himself. He was afraid that if the news got around that
he required an outside opinion from an old friend it would injure
his reputation. -

Making any sort of movie is tense, nerve-racking work. This was
particularly true in a big studio like M-G-M which was so be-
deviled by office politics and conflicts for power on all of its higher
levels. One of the top directors there once asked me to read the
script of the film he was shooting. When I suggested that in one
scene he move the camera to avoid having a shadow fall across,
he shouted in a rage, “Damn it! Don’t tell me where to put my
cameras.” |

I shut up and let him make the scene his own way. I mention it
here only as another instance of cracking nerves in the higher
ranks of the movie world.

Though TV revived my career as an actor, I take no satisfaction
in the way so many of these men were driven into involuntary
retirement by the coming of the same medium. Each of them, at
his peak, produced fine entertainment.
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Charlie Chaplin’s mind is so frisky and intuitive that it is difficult
to surprise him. Yet I have caught him off guard at least twice.

The first time was on a night away back in 1920 when Charlie
and I were drinking beer in my kitchen. He was going on at a
great rate about something new called communism which he had
just heard about. He said that communism was going to change
everything, abolish poverty. The well would help the sick, the
rich would help the poor.

“What I want,” he said, banging the table, “is that every child
should have enough to eat, shoes on his feet, and a roof over his
head!”

Naturally, this amazed me, and I asked, after thinking about it
a minute or two, “But, Charlie, do you know anyone who doesn'’t
want that?”
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MY WONDERFUL WORLD OF SLAPSTICK

Charlie looked startled. Then his face broke into that wonderful
smile of his, and he began to laugh at himself. I myself have gone
through life almost unaware of politics, and I only wish my old
friend had done the same. He must know by now that commu-
nism, wherever it has been practiced, bears not the slightest re-
semblance to the benign system he described to me forty years
ago.

I do not really think Charlie knows much more about politics,
history, or economics than I do. Like myself he was hit by a
make-up towel almost before he was out of diapers. Neither of us
had time while growing up to study anything but show business.
But Charlie is a stubborn man, and when his right to talk favora-
bly about communism was challenged he simply got bullheaded
about it.

As this was written there were rumors that Charlie would like
to get back to America. I hope he makes it. Even more I hope he
keeps his promise to start making pictures again.

For nobody ever made so many people laugh as did Charlie
with his little tramp. And there never was a time in history when
more people needed something like Charlie’s tramp to help them
forget their fears and troubles.

Chaplin’s troubles began when he started to take himself seri-
ously. That was after he had produced A Woman of Paris. Most
people forget it now, but this was the first time suggestion was
used on the screen to convey an idea.

When Charlie wanted to tell his audience that his heroine,
played by Edna Purviance, was taking a train he did it with a
shadow of a cardboard train and a six-foot section of a first-class
railway coach. To tell the audience that she was the mistress of the
Paris man-about-town, whom Adolph Menjou portrayed, Charlie
merely had Menjou use his own key in entering her home and
then take a clean collar from a bureau.

That made motion-picture history. But the avalanche of praise
for Charlie’s brilliant directing also turned his head, I am afraid.
It was his misfortune to believe what the critics wrote about him.
They said he was a genius, something I would be the last to deny,
and from that time on Charlie Chaplin, the divine clown, tried to
behave, think, and talk like an intellectual.

The second time I took Charlie unawares was on the day in
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1951 when he sent for me to discuss doing a scene with him for
Limelight, the last picture he made in this country.

He seemed astonished at my appearance. Apparently he had
expected to see a physical and mental wreck. But I was in fine
fettle. I'd just been in New York for four months doing an average
of two TV guest shots a week. So I was prosperous and looked it.

“What have you been doing, Buster?” he asked. “You look in
such fine shape.”

“Do you look at television, Charlie?” I asked.

“Good heavens, no,” he exclaimed. “I hate it. I will not permit
it in my house. The idea of actors letting themselves be shown on
that lousy, stinking, little screen!”

“Don’t you even have it in the kids’ rooms, Charlie?”

“There last of all. Oona has enough trouble as it is with the lively
little bouncers. They are darlings, but mischievious. There would
be no controlling them at all if we let them see all that tripe on
television. Should be done away with. It is ruining the whole
country.” Then he said again, “But Buster, tell me, how do you
manage to stay in such good shape. What makes you so spry?”

“Television,” I said.

He gasped, choked, got red, then said, “Now about this se-
quence were going to do together.”

The subject of TV was not mentioned again during the three
days we did the sequence in Limelight in which I played the
near-blind pianist and he the fiddler.

TV had brought me back as an actor. By 1949, except for an
occasional day’s work—which seemed to me to be getting more
occasional all of the time—I had not put on grease paint for the
cameras in almost five years. The summer theatres had put in no
bids for my services since 1941 when I toured in The Gorilla. My
most important engagement had been a four-week date as star of
a famous Paris circus, back in 1g47.

So it was one of the thrills of my life when I got a chance in
December of 1949 to do my own weekly TV show on KH]J, the
Los Angeles Times broadcasting station.

By then I had almost given up hope of getting another real
chance as an actor. I emphasize the word almost, because no one
with actor’s blood in his veins ever really admits to himself he is
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through, no matter what he says to other people. No, I did not
really believe it in my heart, even after so many years of little
success, no home runs, and plenty of errors.

The Buster Keaton Show was a success, but only on the West
Coast where it gradually worked its way up to the position of
Number One Comedy Program. In those days the only way to sell
a Hollywood show to a national network was with kinetoscopes,
and these were dismal things to look at eight or nine years ago.
And my show was never sold to a sponsor as a coast-to-coast at-
traction. I think the story would have been different if I had
waited for just two more years. But I had never, of course, wanted
less to wait for anything.

The important thing, though, was how these appearances on
local television shows steamed up the interest of producers in
other fields. I did about twenty-three Buster Keaton TV shows in
1950 and seventeen more in 1951. The same day I turned in the
final 1951 show Eleanor and I left for Paris to play a return en-
gagement at the Paris circus. The date was so successful that I was
booked for another four-week engagement during the following
year.

European circuses do not play under canvas but in arenas
which are more like vast theatres in the round than anything else.
You perform in the center of the arena which you approach
through the same wide passages used by the elephants and other
animals. In 1947, two years after the war ended in Europe, there
had been no German acrobats, clowns, jugglers, or trapeze per-
formers in the show as the feeling in the French capital was still
too bitter against the recent enemy. But the Germans were back
in Paris by 1g50.

I found another great thrill in appearing in person before a Eu-
ropean audience. Many of those who came to see me seemed to
remember my pictures fondly. I did a dueling sketch which I had
originally performed in The Passionate Plumber.

My salary was $3,500 a week. However, a French law that we
ran into stopped foreigners from taking more than half of their
earnings out of the country. This restriction gave Eleanor and me
the excuse to live like regal personages at the George V Hotel—
without even feeling extravagant.
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For my return engagement in 1950 I used a sketch from my last
silent picture, Spite Wife, doing it with Eleanor. Previously she
had done no acting, had worked only as a dancer. But she did so
well in those first appearances that I have never needed another
woman partner.

The sketch is the one we have done many times since on TV.
Also in my appearances with summer-stock companies as Erwin,
the mystical-minded horse handicapper, in Three Men on a Horse.

The sketch shows us coming home on our wedding night, a little
drunk but far more exhausted from fatigue. Eleanor collapses and
falls on the floor. The rest of the sketch concerns my efforts to put
her in bed. Eleanor weighs 110 pounds, and she has never put on
an extra ounce. I thank heaven for that because that act, which
runs between sixteen and seventeen minutes, requires me to
stumble about carrying her in my arms. We also did this sketch
for twelve weeks that year in Italian theatres.

In 1951 I did a less strenuous sketch called “A Park Bench.”
But what developed during the engagement was far more strenu-
ous in its way than anything we had been through in quite a
while.

While we were on the high seas my agent’s European repre-
sentative, without informing me, had booked me for a two-week
engagement at the Cirque Royale in Brussels. This was to follow
immediately after the Paris booking. The salary was $600 less than
I was getting from the French showman.

In European circus circles they have not as yet heard about
Macy’s not telling Gimbels. In any event, when the French show-
man learned about the Brussels engagement at less money he hit
the roof. He seemed to think I was robbing him by letting him
pay our round-trip expenses from Hollywood and then working
for less money for a circus that had contributed nothing for our
expenses.

He suggested I get off the hook by reducing my salary to the
Brussels figure. When I refused, he offered to book me for two
weeks more on the condition that I cancel the Belgian engage-
ment. This, of course, I could not conscientiously do, and mon-
sieur’s next move was to go to the police.

When we returned to our hotel that night we found the
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gendarmes in our suite. They were itemizing everything we
owned, down to and including the toothbrushes and Eleanor’s hair
net.

I appealed to the American consul for help. He recommended
the services of a White Russian woman attorney. She spoke four
languages and may have talked to our French boss in all four but
could not convince him that he should release our personal belong-
ings. The fiasco ended only when I agreed to reduce my Paris
salary to the Brussels figure.

The incident brought me world-wide publicity. I imagine many
persons said, “Poor old Buster Keaton! After being such a great
star he is down to playing in European circuses.”

But they were a little too late with their sympathy. I was en-
joying my busiest and best-paid year since Louis B. Mayer fired
me from M-G-M. While we were in Brussels, Douglas Fairbanks,
Jr., came over to hire me to play a straight dramatic role in one
of the TV shows he films in London. It was a flattering offer, being
for a straight dramatic role. I was paid $1,500 for my five days’
work on it.

We toured the English and Scottish provinces after that in the
sketch in which I put Eleanor to bed.

On coming home I became, I think, the year’s No. 1 guest star.
I appeared on three Ed Sullivan shows in a row, five Ed Wynn
shows, three Arthur Murray shows. Conrad Nagel and Faye
Emerson, who had their own shows then, were others who used
me as guest star. That was the year we were kept in New York
for four months just doing guest shots. I averaged two shows a
week, with the lowest pay $750 a shot (when rehearsal was neces-
sary) and $2,000 per Sunday from Sullivan.

Summer theatre owners also got into the pleasant custom of
booking me in for star appearances in three old Broadway suc-
cesses: The Gorilla, Merton of the Movies, and Three Men on a
Horse.

Between one thing and another I was pretty much in business
as an actor once more. And Robert Smith, a screen writer, was
talking to Paramount about doing a screen biography of me. Doing
a one-day job in such a picture as Sunset Boulevard—in which
I worked with old pals like Erich von Stroheim—came to seem
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more of a lark than a happy opportunity to grab a fast thousand
bucks.

Late in November I was among the ten silent stars who were
presented with gold placques at the first annual George Eastman
Festival of Film Arts at Rochester, New York. Only six of us—
Mary Pickford, Lillian Gish, Mae Marsh, Harold Lloyd, Richard
Barthelmess, and myself—were able to attend. The other four old
stars who couldn’t come were Norma Talmadge, Gloria Swanson,
Ronald Colman, and Charlie Chaplin. Jesse Lasky made the pres-
entations, and similar placques were given to five famous direc-
tors and five cameramen whose work from 1915 to 1925 contrib-
uted much to the advancement of motion-picture entertainment.

Two weeks later I almost died.

One afternoon in December I started hemorrhaging. This was
the aftermath of coughing too much while suffering from a cold.
Medication did not ease the attack, and our physician, Dr. John
F. Fahey, instructed Eleanor to take me to the hospital if the
hemorrhages did not stop by eight o’clock. Because I am a World
War I veteran, he suggested the Veterans Administration Hospi-
tal at Sawtelle as it was superbly equipped to treat such an
emergency.

The hemorrhaging continued while Eleanor was driving me to
Sawtelle. Taken to the emergency room I was rushed straight to
the operating room where teams of from five to eight physicians
worked over me. They were unable to stop the bleeding for
twenty-seven hours. During that night I had to be given blood
transfusions continually to replace the blood I was losing.

The next morning Eleanor was advised to summon my boys,
my sister and brother. The doctors said it was impossible to tell
how long I had to live. However, Eleanor was also told that if I
could survive the next five or six days I possibly might pull
through.

I will spare my readers further harrowing details, except to say
that when Eleanor saw me during that critical period I had so
many tubes coming out of my nostrils and other parts of my body
I looked to her like an octopus.

But after two weeks in the hospital I was able to get up and
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stand on my feet. Dr. Avedon, the staff physician in charge of
my case, told me I had the constitution of an ox. |

“You can live to be a hundred years old,” he said, adding, “that
is if you never take another drink and cut out eating highly sea-
soned foods.”

I thought it over, decided that it was worth while sacrificing
liquor, light wines, and beer, chili con carne, and all of the rest
if it would prolong my life.

While I was in the hospital the deal with Paramount to make a
screen biography of my life was completed. The writer, Robert
Smith, came to the hospital one day and waved a check at me.
He said (according to what I read in the newspapers later on),
“Here is $50,000 of Paramount’s money. That’s for the screen rights
to your life story, Buster. Are you going to lie there and die, or
are you going to get up and spend it?” The idea of having my
biography filmed did not bring me out of the hospital, of course,
but it helped. |

And it was a strange and wonderful experience working with
Donald O’Connor who played Buster Keaton in Paramount’s The
Buster Keaton Story. Donald was first-rate in that movie, I
thought, though he kept confessing to newspaper people that he
could not do my teacup roll. That’s the one in which, while carry-
ing a tray with a teacup on it, I tumble and do a somersault with-
out upsetting the cup. One other thing Donald could not figure
out was that old trick of Pop’s, the one in which my father put
one leg up on a table, then the other, and seemed to be sitting on
nothing, hanging in the air, until he crashed to the floor.

After The Buster Keaton Story was made, Paramount sent me on
a tour of the country to exploit the picture. For years I'd heard
stories about the inefficiency of the major studios, and often I had
been in a position to observe examples of it. But they are not in-
efficient when they send you out on one of those trips: they work
you like the town pump. They keep you busy night and day,
plugging the picture in newspaper interviews, on the radio, and
TV.

When we returned from the tour Eleanor and I used Para-
mount’s money to buy the home of our dreams. This is far out
in the San Fernando Valley and stands on an acre and a quarter
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of ground. The house is a modern farmhouse with six spacious
rooms furnished in early American. Paramount bought the house,
but it was furnished by “Truth and Consequences,” “This Is Your
Life,” “It Could Be You,” and other TV programs on which I made
guest appearances. Eleanor’s endless books of S & H stamps also
helped furnish the place. Our swimming pool is of natural stone,
and we decorate its borders with colored stones collected in each
place we visit. The pool was paid for with some of the money I
got for the TV commercials I have been doing for the last couple
of years for Alka-Seltzer, Northwest Orient Airlines, and other
firms.

Today the most exciting moments of my life come when I step
out on my own property and walk around it, accompanied by
Elmer III, my amiable 180-pound St. Bernard. Sometimes Jenny,
our cat, also comes along. There were nine walnut trees in the
garden when we bought the house, and I since have put in all
sorts of fruit trees, including lemon, orange, tangerine, lime, plum,
peach, apple, crab apple, and apricot. We grow three kinds of
grapes—Tokay, Concord, and Thompson seedless—and also have
raspberry and boysenberry bushes, and an artichoke bed. Each
spring I grow radishes, cabbages, turnips, beefsteak tomatoes, and
lettuce. I built a chicken yard in the rear of our land and a minia-
ture railroad that carries peanuts, soda pop, sandwiches, popcorn
to guests seated around a small garden house near the pool. For
the accommodation of visiting grandchildren, nephews, movie
producers, and TV sponsors we installed a bunkhouse.

If there is a better place in the world to be—when I'm not in
front of an audience or a camera—someone else will have to name
it.

Now, in closing, I try to think of a few of the thrills of my life-
time which I have not mentioned here. One came the day my two
sons—then sixteen and fourteen years old—knocked on my door to
shake hands and say “Hello.” Jim, the older one, had just got his
driver’s license, and the first ride he took with his brother was to
my house. I had not seen them since they were in Black-Fox
Academy.

From that day on I had my own boys back again. And any
worry I had about the growing up spoiled was eased during
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World War II. They served in the Navy as frogmen and also did
demolition work in one-man submarines. Bob had the lobe of his
ear knocked off by a sniper.

These days when they come to see me they bring along their
wives and their children. Jim has four of them: Jimmy thirteen,
Mike eleven, Missy nine, and Marc three. Bob has two: Bobby
eight, and Tommy three.

Today my boy, Jimmy, is in charge of the still section of the
publicity department at Twentieth Century-Fox. Bob wanted no
part of the picture business. He and a war buddy ran a couple of
garages for some years. They were great fellows for devising spe-
cial bodies for custom-made cars and stuff like that. But Bob gave
that up a short while ago to go into business in Reno. As I men-
tioned all six of my sons’ children call me Grandpa Buster.

With one thing and another I seem to have missed very little
in not being a millionaire. I did miss it twice, now that I think
about it again after a couple of hundred-odd pages. Once, of
course, was because of my folly in not holdmg onto my screen
properties.

But even before that, Roscoe Arbuckle, Al St. John, and myself,
-all narrowly escaped becoming multi-millionaires over night—
thanks to a hardheaded businessman’s logical thinking and
shrewdness.

The business associate was our studio manager, Lou Anger.

When the Arbuckle Company moved to the Coast in 1918, we
worked at the Hockheimer Studios in Long Beach. We did some
of our wild chases back of the studio. There was a gravel pit there
on the side of a big hill. Before long Roscoe and I got very in-
terested in the man who was carting away gravel in his horse-
drawn dump truck.

We became friendly with this guy, and Roscoe asked him a lot of
questions about the business—how much the horse and wagon cost,
their maintenance, how much he paid the owner of the pit for the
gravel, and what he got per load from his customers.

I forget the figures on his profits that he gave us, but it sounded
like a potentially lucrative undertaking. Roscoe was so impressed
that he asked the owner how much he wanted for the property.
He was told he could buy twenty-four acres, including the site of
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the gravel pit, for $2,400. Roscoe discussed this deal with me and
St. John, and we agreed to put up $600 each for the property. We
planned to buy a good many horses and dump trucks of our
own and turn the one-man operation into a thriving large-scale
business.

We needed just one more investor with $600 to throw into this
sure thing. Somebody suggested Lou Anger, and we rushed to tell
him the good news. Lou went out with us, looked at the gravel
pit, and then asked a few shrewd questions of each of us in turn.
Questions like: “Do you know anything about gravel?”

Roscoe said, “No.” So did St. John and 1.

“Do you know anything about horses?”

“Why no, but—" Roscoe started to say, but Lou was already
asking Al and myself the same question and getting “No” from
both of us.

“Do you know anything about dump trucks?”

Each of us shook our heads.

“Now,” said Lou, “do you know anything about motion pic-
tures?”

“I think so,” replied Arbuckle. When Lou turned to each of us,
we ventured to say we thought we did too.

“0.K,, boys. Then if you have $600 apiece to invest, invest it
in movies, the one business you know something about.”

As he walked away, Roscoe said, “Isn’t it great to have a fellow
like Lou Anger around to save us from making foolish invest-
ments?”

Al and I agreed heartily.

Soon after that I was drafted.

After I came back to Hollywood, Roscoe and I were having din-
ner one evening when he told me he wanted to take me for a ride.

“Where are you going?” I asked him.

“Never mind, Buster, you'll find out when we get there.”

I could tell very soon, of course, where he was heading. As we
neared the site of the Hockheimer Studios, he said, “Do you recog-
nize that hill? That’s dear old Signal Hill.”

“Wasn't that the hill in back of the old Hockheimer lot?” I asked.

He said it was, indeed, and drove around it so I could count the
oil wells the Shell Oil Company had started drilling on the prop-
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erty on March 23, 1920, and the oil had since come in. By 1g21
there were some five hundred derricks going, two years later more
than 1,000. This makes the area, which is slightly more than two
miles square, one of the most intensively developed oil fields on
earth.

Roscoe shook his head that night and said, “And to think I
thanked Lou Anger for talking us out of buying twenty-four acres
of that oil-soaked real estatel”

Where I get a great feeling is that now, twenty-five years after
I've made my last important picture, I am still recognized and
given special privileges wherever I go. This is particularly true in
Europe. When I check in at the Ritz or the George V or the Savoy,
the clerk will give me the best room available just because I'm
Buster Keaton. I've never had to tip a headwaiter to get a good
table anywhere. I don’t have to be announced in the leading cafés
of Europe.

Now even a beloved businessman, a millionaire many times
over, like Joe Schenck gets no recognition. He has to tip the room
clerk and the headwaiter lavishly to get the best in the house.

I think the reason I never lost my humility before audiences is
because I have always felt it is the performer’s job to make every-
thing he is doing understandable. After all the audience’s duty
ended when they paid to get in.

I think I have had the happiest and luckiest of lives. Maybe this
is because I never expected as much as I got. What I expected
was hard knocks. I always expected to have to work hard. Maybe
harder than other people because of my lack of education. And
when the knocks came I felt it was no surprise. I had always
known life was like that, full of uppercuts for the deserving and
undeserving alike.

But it would be ridiculous of me to complain. I find it impossi-
ble to feel sorry for myself. I count the years of defeat and grief
and disappointment, and their percentage is so minute that it con-
tinually surprises and delights me.

When José Greco said my name in Spanish meant “A little bit of
nothing,” I said, “A little bit of nothing! Not even a little bit of
something?” He replied, “That’s the finest compliment my coun-

trymen could pay you.”
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And I do think he’s right.

To get back to that twelve-year-old mind nonsense, I sometimes
resent the whole idea that humor, for example, has more to do
with the human mind than with the emotions. If it were mental,
the most brilliant people would have the keenest sense of humor.
And this is not true.

All of us have our absurd side. The brighter people often cannot
see that. But the Irish gravedigger, the ward-heeling politician,
and the Jewish pants peddler often see it where the Einsteins
don’t.

Isn't it true that the geniuses of the world are those who channel
all of their energies in one specialty?

Not long ago a friend asked me what was the greatest pleasure
I got from spending my whole life as an actor. There have been
so many that I had to think about that for a moment. Then I said,
“Like everyone else, I like to be with a happy crowd.”

And that is the comedian’s greatest privilege and pleasure, I
think: to have been with so many happy crowds whom he has
made laugh with his pratfalls and other clowning antics.

Since 1920, when I was first starred in the movie The Saphead,
I've enjoyed another reward as a dividend. This comes whenever
people smile on seeing me and call out my name. I have told how
that happened in Spain. And it has happened almost everywhere
that I've traveled.

It happened in New York the night in 1922 that the Chauve-
Souris opened. It was a gala night, and the whole house literally
swarmed with celebrities. But I was the only one summoned back-
stage by Nikita Balieff, the Russian show’s master of ceremonies.
The women kissed me, and the men pumped my hand.

My wife and I were puzzled until I pointed out that none of
our big Hollywood stars were in the audience. But mentioning
this occasion now reminds me that when Douglas Fairbanks,
Sr., came back from one of his triumphal world tours he told
Joe Schenck, “Who do you think is the Number One movie star in
Russia? Buster Keaton, that’s who.”

There was just one discouraging thing about this. Russia would
never pay more than $5,000 for a print of any movie. And once
it got the print it duplicated it so it could be shown everywhere—
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Omsk and Tomsk, Yalta to Vladivostock. Which meant it might
have been more profitable for me and my employers to be Number
One star in Upper Monrovia or East Budapest.

This thrilling acclaim was given me in London, Paris, Mexico
City, and practically everywhere else I have traveled. I was recog-
nized and hailed when things were going great for me and also in
the years when I began to think I was forgotten. There was a day
in 1950 when we arrived in Genoa where Eleanor and I were to
start a twelve-week musical-comedy tour in Italian theatres.

I was standing on the deck looking down at a gang of stevedores
working on the dock thirty feet below. One of them recognized
me, nudged his neighbor, and pointed. All at once the whole gang
stopped working to yell, “Booster! Booster Keaton!” They waved
in wild excitement, and I waved back, marveling, because it was
fifteen years or more since they could have seen my last M-G-M
picture.

And if there is sweeter music this side of heaven I haven’t heard
it. Dr. Avedon said I could live to be a hundred years old. I in-
tend to do it. For who would not wish to live a hundred years in a
world where there are so many people who remember with
gratitude and affection a little man with a frozen face who made
them laugh a bit long years ago when they and I were both young?
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